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OPINION

On June 23, 2009, claimant, Mark Mytnik, filed an application for adjustment of claim
pursuant to the Tllinois Workers® Compensation Act (Act) (820 ILCS 305/1 to 30 (West
2008)), seeking benefits from the employer, Ford Motor Company, for injury to his back
caused by “fe]xcessive twisting and bending on job.” Following a hearing, the arbitrator found
claimant sustained a compensable injury and awarded him benefits under the Act. On review,
the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Commission (Commission) reversed the decision of the
arbitrator, finding that claimant failed to establish his injury arose out of and in the course of
his employment. On judicial review, the circuit court confirmed the Commission’s decision.
This appeal followed.

On appeal, claimant challenges the Commission’s finding that he failed to prove an
accident arising out of and in the course of his employment. We reverse the circuit court’s
judgment confirming the Commission’s decision, reverse the Commission’s decision, and
reinstate the decision of the arbitrator. ‘

I. BACKGROUND
The following evidence was elicited at the February 25, 2013, arbitration hearing.

Claimant testified that he had worked for the employer on the assembly line since October
1994. On May 21, 2009, he was working the “moon buggy” job, which involved installing rear
suspensions on vehicles as they moved along the assembly line. The moon buggy job required
the employee to stand on a platform that moved in a circular fashion, step on a foot pedal to
raise the rear suspension up to the vehicle, reach back and grab an articulating arm, load the
articulating arm with two bolts, and then raise the articulating arm up to the vehicle and press a
button on the arm that secured the rear suspension with bolts. According to claimant, the moon
buggy job required him to twist and turn to grab equipment like bolts and brackets and to reach
behind him to grab the articulating arm. Claimant stated that sometimes the bolts would fall out
of the articulating arm and had to be retrieved quickly to avoid the rotating platform from
running over the bolts and jamming, which would result in the assembly line shutting down.
When a bolt fell, claimant would have to “run down there, bend over, reach and *** pick it up
before the [rotating platform] runs it over.” According to claimant, if the assembly line
stopped, “you would usually get reamed out by the supervisor.”

Claimant testified the moon buggy job allowed approximately 48 to 52 seconds to install
the rear suspension on one vehicle before the assembly line moved. He estimated that he
installed rear suspensions on approximately 62 vehicles per hour. In addition, he had to lift
approximately 20 to 25 boxes of parts per day that weighed “anywhere from 30lbs, a lot
heavier if you’re doubling them up, 70 pounds per box.” Claimant worked on the assembly line
5 days per week, approximately 10 hours per day with two breaks.

Claimant further testified that he started his workday at 6 a.m. on May 21, 2009. At
approximately 10 a.m., he “noticed [his] back was starting to bother [him].” Claimant
explained that he had sustained a prior back injury at the employer’s plant in 2002 or 2003. He
continued to do his job that morning, but later, as he was reaching down to grab a bolt that had
fallen on the assembly line, he felt “a real sharp, almost like needle pains down [his] right side,
[he] knew something *** was just out of the ordinary.” Within 10 to 15 minutes of this,
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claimant flagged down his supervisor, Zack Bozanic, and informed him that his back was
hurting. After Bozanic found someone to take over claimant’s job, he sent claimant to the
employer’s medical department. Claimant testified that once at the medical depattment, he
reported sharp pains down the right side of his leg and that his back was bothering him. As he
was sitting on a table, he noticed his leg started getting “a little numb.” The report from the
medical department indicated claimant was seen at 12:17 p.m. and lists the time of onset of
pain as 8:30 a.m. The report noted that claimant was “working on the moon buggy and [his
right] leg stays on the foot paddle and as the moon buggy moves it twists [his] body and now
[he] has [pain] in [his right] hip.” Tn addition, claimant complained of “low back [pain]
radiating down the right hip and back of upper leg.” Claimant was diagnosed with a sprain and
strain of his lumbar spine and pelvis. He was given ibuprofen and returned to work. Later that
day, claimant filled out an accident report, in which he stated: “moonbuggy move[s] and you
have your [right] leg on foot [pedal,} your [left] leg does not move so your body [turns.] I [felt]

" it when I was picking up bolts off the floor. Twisting of body felt pain in [right] hip and leg.”

Claimant testified that he finished his shift, but when he woke up the next day, he was “in
excruciating pain.” He returned to work on May 26, 2009, and reported he was unable to bend,
twist, or stand. Claimant was sent back to the employer’s medical department, and from there,
he was sent to Ingalls Urgent Care (Urgent Care). Medical reports from Urgent Care indicated
that claimant noted “NO SPECIFIC TRAUMA,” but reported “that he was using a foot pedal
repetitively with his right foot and twisting and turning when he began with right lower back
pain that radiated down the posterior lateral aspect of his right thigh to his right foot.” A
magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan of claimant’s lumbar spine was performed that day
and compared with a previous MRI dated December 3, 2003. The new MRI revealed a broad
posterocentral and right paracentral disc herniation at L4-L5 that was not present on the 2003
MRI and a preexisting broad posterocentral disc herniation at L5-S1.

Claimant testified that he returned to work the following day and reported directly to the
medical department. According to claimant, he stayed in the medical department for
approximately six hours. At one point, Michelle Gregory, the employer’s workers®
compensation administrator, spoke with him. Claimant stated that he told her his back “was
bothering [him],” “there [was] twisting involved, picking up of stock,” and when he “pick[ed]
up that bolt[, he] felt that sharp pain.” Claimant testified that Gregory retumed a few hours
later and told him “there [was] no way [he] could have got hurt on this job” and that he needed
to find his own physician. The report from the medical department stated that, upon
observation of the moon buggy job, “[t]here [was] no bending, twisting or heavy lifting
involved” and “[t}he case is denied as occupational after the above observation.”

On May 27, 2009, claimant saw his primary care physician, Dr. William Luebbe, for his
back pain. Dr. Luebbe referred him to Dr. Mark Chang for a surgical consultation.

Claimant first saw Dr. Mark Chang at Midwest SpineCare on June 4, 2009. In a letter
addressed to Dr. Luebbe of the same date, Dr. Chang indicated claimant had reported pain in
his low back radiating down his right leg, which began two weeks prior after a work-related
accident “when he was picking up some bolts while working on an assembly line.” Dr. Chang
also noted claimant had a history of low back pain in 2003, but had completed physical therapy
and had experienced no further back problems prior to the recent injury. Dr. Chang diagnosed
claimant with an “Ja]cute right L5 radiculopathy secondary to a new L4-5 disc herniation
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causing significant nerve impingement, [and an] old L5-S1 disc herniation not causing
radiculopathy.” He recommended physical therapy and epidural injections for pain.

On June 8, 2009, claimant first saw Dr. Rajive Adlaka for management of his pain. At that
time, Dr. Adlaka noted claimant presented with complaints of low back pain with right
side-dominant radiculopathy, which began after he “ben[t] down to pick something up.” On
Tune 9 and June 30, 2009, Dr. Adlaka administered epidural steroid injections.

On June 16, 2009, claimant presented for an initial physical therapy evalua‘uon at
Accelerated Rehabilitation Centers. The office report from that date indicated claimant
reported, “he was lifting and pulling equipment at work [on May 21, 2009, when] he started
feeling a sharp pain in his [right] hip and [right] leg. *** [T]he following weekend, [he] started
experiencing more pain on the quadrates lumborum and his [right] buttock.”

On July 20, 2009, claimant saw Dr. Edward Goldberg for a second opinion. On that date,
Dr. Goldberg indicated that claimant reported developing right leg radicular pain on May 21,
2009. Dr. Goldberg’s records note that “[claimant] was working on the line at Ford Motor
Company. He twisted an arm of a machine and developed acute low back and right leg
radicular pain. *** [[}t became progressively severe over the weekend. He could not move.”

‘Dr. Goldberg’s records were later corrected to state claimant “twisted his waist to reach back

for the arm of a machine he uses to complete his job; then he developed acute low back right
leg radicular pain.” Dr. Goldberg reviewed an MRI of claimant’s spine and diagnosed a disc
herniation at 1.4-5 and a small herniation or annular bulging at 1.5-S1. Dr. Goldberg felt that
claimant’s pain was caused by the herniated disc at L4-5, and he recommended a
microdiscectomy at L.4-5. He also noted it would be reasonable to perform a hemilaminotomy
at L5-S1. Dr, Goldberg performed these procedures on August 4, 2009. Claimant continued to
treat with Di: Goldberg postoperatively. On February 1, 2010, Dr. Goldberg found claimant -
had reached maximum medical improvement (MMI) and released him to return on March 1,
2010, with a permanent restriction of lifting no more than 25 pounds.

Claimant returned to work on March 1, 2010. However, by March 2, 2010, claimant
testified he “ended up hurting [him]self again™ and, thereafter, he was unable to work due to
pain and an inability to stand, twist, or bend for very long.

On March 8, 2010, claimant saw Dr. Martin Luken, a board-certified neurologist. At his
deposition, Dr, Luken testified that claimant reported having developed right-sided low back
pain and sciatica while at work in May 2009 “as he engaged in his usual routine involving
repetitive bending and light lifting while attending to automobiles passing him on the assembly
line.” Dr. Luken testified that claimant continued to have pain in his right buttock and leg,
which persisted in spite of postoperative physical therapy. He further noted that claimant had
suffered a work-related low back injury “a decade or more earlier,” but that it had responded
well to conservative treatment. Following a physical examination and a review of prior
medical records, Dr. Luken diagnosed claimant with “persisting mechanical back pain and
right lumbar radiculopathy status post lumbar discectomy and foraminotomy for a
work-related disc herniation.” Dr. Luken prescribed pain medication and physical therapy, and
suggested a functional capacity evaluation. Dr. Luken felt claimant could return to work at that
time in a sedentary capacity involving no bending, stooping, twisting, or lifting more than 10
pounds.

Dr. Luken reviewed a video of claimant’s job, but based on information provided by
claimant, he did not feel the video accurately portrayed claimant’s job duties. For example, Dr.
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Luken testified that, based on information provided to him by claimant, he understood
claimant’s “usual work routine involved a repetitive bending and light lifting [as well as]
holding a pedal down with one foot while reaching behind him to grasp and deal with a power
tool of some sort.” Dr. Luken continued, “[claimant] had to keep one foot planted on a pedal
while twisting to retrieve this instrument that deal[s] with each passing car.” According to Dr.
Luken, the activitics described by claimant were not portrayed in the video. Based on the
history provided by claimant, Dr. Luken opined, “the repetitive mechanical stresses which
[claimant’s] work likely brought to bear to his lower back, in my opinion, very plausibly
accounted for lower lumbar injury and either precipitation or exacerbation of the demonstrated
disc herniation which we believe was responsible for [the] symptoms [claimant] reported as
baving developed in the course of his work™ in May 2009. Dr. Luken last saw claimant on May
17, 2010, at which time he continued to be of the opinion that claimant could return to
light-duty work while waiting for a functional capacity evaluation.

On June 2, 2010, claimant saw Dr. Jesse Butler, a board-certified orthopedic surgeon, at the
request of the employer. At his deposition, Dr. Butler testified that claimant provided a history
of being an assembly line worker who, “during the course of his occupation, *** has to pick up
stock for assembly and place bolts on an articulating computer arm.” In addition, “he’s
required to push a foot pedal during the course of this assembly operation, and that there’s a

" twisting motion involved in completing this job assignment. He states he injured his back.” Dr.

Butler acknowledged that claimant underwent a microdiscetomy surgery in August 2009,
which improved his overall pain. However, Dr. Butler testified that as of June 2, 2010,
defendant continued to complain of having low back pain “between a 5 and 6 out of 10” with
minimal activity, as well has numbness in his right calf into the foot, with occasional buckling

ofthe right leg.

In addition to conducting a physmal examination, Dr. Butler also reviewed claimant’s
medical records and a video of the moon buggy job. At the time of Dr. Butler’s examination of
claimant, claimant had already undergone a microdiscectomy and completed several months of
postoperative physical therapy. Dr. Butler reviewed claimant’s May 2009 and December 2003
MRIs. He noted that the May 2009 MRI revealed a disk herniation at L4-5, which was not
present on the December 2003 MRI, as well as a disk herniation at L5-S 1, which was present in
the December 2003 MRL Dr. Butler opined that claimant had reached MMI as he had
undergone surgery, completed “an appropriate amount of therapy,” and was able to work based
on “the physical therapist’s determination of his functional capacities.” According to Dr.
Butler, the degenerative changes noticeable on the MRI “most likely, preceded the accident,”
but “it’s difficult to know when Jthe disk herniation] may have occurred.” Further, Dr. Butler
testified that people with degenerative changes in the spine may become symptomatic by
merely bending over or lifting something.

Regarding the video, Dr. Butler testified the moon buggy job-did not appear to involve
“any twisting movement during this assembly operation, and the pace with which the bolts
were drilled seemed to be at a very comfortable pace for someone doing this job.” Dr. Butler
testified the activities depicted in the video were not sufficient to cause claimant’s injury
because “[t}here’s really no loading of the spine, *** no occupational exposure, if you will,
when you look at that job video.” In his opinion, claimant had reached MMI and could perform
the activities he had viewed in the video.
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On cross-examination, Dr. Butler testified it was a possible that a herniated disc could
result from bending over to pick up a bolt by someone with degenerative changes to their
spine.

On June 1, 2011, claimant saw Dr. Andrew Zelby, a board-certified neurosurgeon, at the
request of the employer. In addition to conducting a physical examination of claimant, Dr.
Zelby also reviewed claimant’s medical records. Dr. Zelby testified that claimant told him he
was performing his regular job duties on May 21, 2009, and “did not have any specific event or
injury but felt pain in the low back radiating into the right buttock and down the right leg.”
Claimant “notice[d] that when he bent to pick up a bolt the pain seemed sharper for a couple of
seconds.” Following his examination of claimant, Dr. Zelby was of the opinion that, other than
self-directed stretching and core-strengthening exercise, claimant needed no further treatment
and could return to work in the medium-physical-demand level without any increased risk for
injury.

On June 26, 2011, claimant saw Dr. Michael Treister, an orthopedic surgeon, on his own
accord. At his deposition, Dr. Treister testified that, in addition to performing a physical
examination of claimant and obtaining x-rays of his lumbar spine, he also reviewed claimant’s
medical records, including those from Dr. Luken, Dr. Chang, Dr. Adlaka, Dr. Luebbe, Dr.
Butler, and Dr. Goldberg; the depositions of Dr. Butler and Dr. Luken; and a report issued by
Dr. Zelby. Dr. Treister stated that at the time of the examination, claimant reported he was
injured while working on an assembly line. According to Dr. Treister, claimant explained that
his job required him to step on a pedal with one foot while simultaneously reaching back to
pull the articulating arm forward to secure the suspension with two bolts. Claimant told him
that sometimes a bolt would fall and he would have to retrieve it quickly. He also had to pick

up boxes of bolts, sometimes two at a time, weighing 20 to 30 pounds, so that he was -

frequently lifting and twisting with 40 to 60 pounds. Dr. Treister continued, claimant told him,
“on the day that he was injured, he began to have sharp low back pains, not while he was
standing on the job, but while he was eating lunch. Pain began in the center of his *** right
lower back and radiated down into his right buttock and then into the right posterior leg.” After
he reported to the employer’s medical clinic, he refurned to his job and his pain increased
throughout the day as he worked, and throughout the following days. Following his
examination of claimant, Dr. Treister diagnosed failed back syndrome and opined that
claimant’s condition was causally related to a May 21, 2009, work accident. Dr. Treister based
his causation opinion on the fact that claimant had preexisting degenerative disc disease, which
put him at risk of herniation, and that he then had a sudden onset of pain while working. In Dr.
Treister’s opinion, it did not matter how the injury came to be, whether from twisting, lifting,
or bending, because in any case, the injury was related to one of his job activities.

Terrance Purdy testified that he had worked for the employer for 19% years and, most
recently, had been working “general utility,” which required him to be able to perform all of
the jobs in the area. Purdy stated that he had worked the moon buggy job on and off for three or
four years, but he had been consistently working the moon buggy job since claimant was
injured. According to Purdy, the job requires twisting, bending, reaching, and lifting between
20 to 30 boxes of bolts per day. He further testified that sometimes a bolt will fall and when it
does, it must be retrieved before the moving platform runs over it in order to prevent the
assembly line from shutting down. In Purdy’s experience, a bolt would fall twice per hour.
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Hugh Ferguson III testified on behalf of the employer. He had worked for the employer for
44 years, most recently as the government regulation coordinator. Furguson stated he also
takes videos of certain jobs within the assembly plant when requested by the employer. While
he never knows the purpose of the videos, the workers’ compensation department shows him
exactly what to record. According to him, the employer asked him to take a video of the moon

. buggy job in this case, which he did during normal business hours. Prior to taking the video, he

was not provided with a description of the job, given any information pertaining to the
employee depicted on the video, or told how long to record for.

Claimant testified that the video did not accurately depict the moon buggy job. According
to claimant, the line was not going nearly as fast as it should have been, and the video showed
the line actually stopping. Further, he stated the person depicted in the video was not putting
nearly the number of parts on the vehicle as claimant did when he performed the job. (We note
that the video was not included in the record.)
Zachary Bozanic, testified last on behalf of the employer. He had worked for the employer
for 19 years, most recently as a senior process coach. In May of 2009, he was a production
supervisor who supervised the moon buggy job. Bozanic described the moon buggy job as a
preferred job because it is less complex and physically demanding than other jobs. He agreed
that if a bolt dropped in the middle of the track, it would stop the moon buggy and stall the line.
Claimant testified at arbitration that he continued to have pain in his lower back area, down
the hip area, and into the leg. In addition, his right knee sometimes buckled. Claimant stated
that Dr. Luken had recommended a fusion surgery, but claimant testified he did not want to
undergo another surgery at that time.
On June 13, 2013, the arbitrator issued his decision in the matter. He found that claimant
susiained an accident that arose out of and in the course of his employmént and that claimant’s
current condition of ill-being in his back was causally related to the work accident. The
arbitrator found the employer liable for claimant’s medical expenses and awarded him 79 Y
weeks temporary total disability (TTD) benefits and permanent partial disability (PPD)
benefits to the extent of 25% of the person as a whole.
On October 7, 2014, the Commission unanimously reversed the decision of the arbitrator,
finding that claimant failed to prove an injury arising out of and in the course of his
employment. Prior to stating it reasons, the Commission noted as follows:
“So that the record is clear, and there is no mistake as to the intentions or actions of this
Commission, we have considered the record in its entirety. We have reviewed the facts
of the matter, both from a legal and a medical/legal perspective. We have considered all
of the testimony, exhibits, pleadings and arguments submitted by [claimant] and the
[emplover]. And after a complete review of the record, the Commission finds that
[claimant’s] varied and inconsistent histories of the May 21, 2009[,] incident
undermine his claim that he suffered accidental injuries arising out of and in the course
of his employment with [the employer] on May 21, 2009.”

The Commission then recounted all of the histories claimant had provided to the various

medical providers and noted,
“despite all of the histories provided by [claimant] through this treatment, [he] testified
at hearing that his low back pain with radiation down the right lower extremity started
when he reached down to retrieve a bolt that had fatlen to the floor. [Claimant] chose to
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proceed to trial with this history. Accepting [claimant’s] chosen history of the accident,
despite the multiple accounts he had provided, the Commission finds that [claimant}
failed to prove that he suffered [a compensable injury].” ’
While the Commission acknowledged that claimant’s May 2009 MRI revealed a herniation at
L4-L5 that was not present on the December 2003 MRI, it found that claimant’s “degenerative
lJumbar discs gave -way with the simple act of bending- forward,” demonstrating that his
“lumbar condition was so deteriorated that any activity of normal life was sufficient to cause
[his] spine to break down further.” The Commission also found that claimant’s act of bending
down to retrieve a bolt did not expose him to a greater risk of injury than the general public.
On June 24, 2014, the circuit court of Cook County confirmed the Commission’s decision.

This appeal followed.

II. ANALYSIS

On appeal, claimant challenges the Commission’s finding that he failed to prove an
accident arising out of and in the course of his employment. In contrast, the employer
maintains that the Commission properly denied compensation for three different reasons, each
of which it claims was sufficient on its own to support the decision.

Initially, the employer contends that the Commission found claimant failed to establish a
work accident based on his inconsistent histories of the incident. However, we must reject the
employer’s suggestion that the Commission rejected the claim on this basis. Although the
Commission stated, claimant’s “varied and inconsistent histories of the May 21, 2009][,]
incident wndermine his claim that he suffered accidental injuries arising out of and in the

- course of his employment,” it did not deny claimant compensation on that basis. (Emphasis

added.) Rather, the Commission continued its analysis and ultimately denied the claim after
finding (1) claimant “was not engaged in an activity which presented a greater risk of injury to
him than to the general public” and (2) claimant had a preexisting lumbar condition that “was
so deteriorated that any activity of normal life was sufficient to cause [his] spine to break down
further.” Accordingly, we focus our analysis on the two bases determined by the Commission
to be dispositive. '

The purpose of the Act is to protect employees against risks and hazards that are peculiar to
the nature of the work they are employed to do. Orsini v. Industrial Comm’n, 117 111. 2d 38, 44,
509 N.E.2d 1005, 1008 (1987). “To obtain compensation under the Act, a claimant bears the
burden of showing, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he has suffered a disabling injury
which arose out of and in the course of his employment.” Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n,
207 Til. 2d 193, 203, 797 N.E.2d 665, 671 (2003). “Both elements must be present at the time
of the claimant’s injury in order to justify compensation.” Springfield Urban League v. Illinois
Workers' Compensation Comm'n, 2013 TL App (4th) 120219WC, 725, 990 N.E.2d 284. An
injury occurs “in the course of employment” when it “occur[s] within the time and space
boundaries of the employment.” Sishro, 207 Ill. 2d at 203, 797 N.E.2d at 671. An injury “arises
out of” employment when “the injury had its origin in some risk connected with, or incidental
to, the employment so as to create a causal connection between the employment and the
accidental injury.” Id.

Whether an injury arose out of and in the course of one’s employment is generally a
question of fact and the Commission’s determination on this issue will not be disturbed unless
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it is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Brais v. lllinois Workers’ Compensation
Comm’n, 2014 IL App (3d) 120820WC, § 19, 10 N.E.3d 403. In resolving questions of fact, it
is within the province of the Commission to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve
conflicts in the evidence, assign weight to be accorded the evidence, and draw reasonable
inferences from the evidence. “The test is whether the evidence is sufficient to support the
Commission’s finding, not whether this. court.or any other tribunal might reach an opposite
conclusion.” Land & Lakes Co. v. Indusirial Comm’n, 359 Ill. App. 3d 582, 592, 834 N.E.2d
583, 592 (2005). “For the Commission’s decision to be against the manifest weight of the
evidence, the record must disclose that an opposite conclusion clearly was the proper result.”
Id

Because we reject the employer’s contention that the Commission found claimant did not
suffer a work accident, we turn our focus to whether claimant’s injury “arose out of” his
employment. To determine whether a claimant’s injury arose out of his employment, we must
first determine the type of risk to which he was exposed. Baldwin v. Illlinois Workers’
Compensation Comm’n, 409 Tll. App. 3d 472, 478, 949 N.E.2d 1151, 1156 (2011). This court
has recognized three categories of risk to which an employee may be exposed: (1) risks that are
distinctly associated with one’s employment; (2) neutral risks that have no particular
employment or personal characteristics, such as those that the general public is commonly
exposed; and (3) risks that are personal to the employee. Springfield, 2013 IL. App (4th)
120219WC, §27, 990 N.E.2d 284.

In analyzing risk, the first step is to determine whether a claimant’s injuries arose out of an
employment-related risk. A risk is distinctly associated with employment “if, at the time of the
occurrence, the employee was performing acts he was instructed to perform by his employer,

gots which he had a common law or statutory duty to perform, or acts which the employee -

might reasonably be expected to perform incident to his assigned duties.” Caterpillar Tractor
Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 129 111. 2d 52, 58, 541 N.E.2d 665, 667 (1989). “A risk is incidental
to the employment where it belongs to or is connected with what an employee has to do in
fulfilling his duties.” Id. If a claimant’s injury is determined not to have resulted from an
employment-related risk, we must then consider whether it was a result of a neutral risk or a
personal risk. See, e.g., Young v. Illinois Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 2014 IL App (4th)
130392WC, 123, 13 N.E.3d 1252 (“when a claimant is injured due to an employment-related
risk *** jt is unnecessary to perform a neutral-risk analysis™.

Injuries arising out of neutral risks, which have no particular employment or personal
characteristics, are generally not compensable. Springfield, 2013 IL App (4th) 120219WC,
927, 990 N.E.2d 284. Neutral risks include stray bullets, dog bites, lunatic attacks, lighting
strikes, bombings, hurricanes, and falls while traversing stairs, public sidewalks, and
commercial driveways. Hlinois Institute of Technology Research Institute v. Industrial
Comm 'n, 314 1Il. App. 3d 149, 163, 731 N.E.2d 795, 807 (2000); Village of Villa Park v.
Hlinois Workers' Compensation Comm’n, 2013 IL App (2d) 130038WC, 4 20, 3 N.E.3d 885;
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago v. Illinois Workers’
Compensation Comm’n, 407 11l. App. 3d 1010, 1014, 944 N.E.2d 800, 804 (2011). However,
injuries arising out of neutral risks may be compensable if the claimant can show he was
exposed to a risk to a greater degree, either qualitatively or quantitatively, from that of the
general public. Id.
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Finally, injuries arising out of personal risks—which “include exposure to elements that
cause nonoccupational diseases, personal defects or weakness, and confrontations with -
personal enemies”—are generally not compensable. llinois Consolidated Telephone Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 314 1ll. App. 3d 347, 352, 732 N.E.2d 49, 53-54 (2000). An exception to
this general rule of noncompensability concerns injuries caused by idiopathic falls where
“work place conditions significantly contribute[d]} to the injury by increasing the risk of falling
or the effecis of a fall.” Id at 352-53, 732 N.E.2d at 54.

In this case, the Commission found that claimant failed to prove a work accident because
his act of bending down to pick up a bolt did not expose him to a greater risk of injury than the
general public. In other words, the Commission determined claimant’s injury was the result of
a noncompensable neutral risk. Implicit in its decision is a determination that claimant’s injury
did not result from an employment-related risk. On review, claimant contends that the
Commission’s decision on this issue was against the manifest weight of the evidence.
According to claimant, his injury arose out of a risk distinctly associated with his employment
and, therefore, a neutral-risk analysis was unnecessary.

In support of his contention, claimant relies on Young, 2014 1L App (4th) 130392WC, 13
N.E.3d 1252. In Young, the claimant was a parts inspector whose job, in relevant part, was to
examine parts to ensure they were made according to specifications. Id. 4, 13 N.E.3d 1252.
On the day of his work accident, the claimant was inspecting parts contained in a deep, narrow
box. Id. § 5, 13 N.E.3d 1252. As he was reaching for the last item in the box, he felt a “snap or
pop” in his shoulder. /d. The Commission denied benefits on the basis * ‘that the mere act of
reaching down for an item did not increase [the claimant’s] risk of injury beyond what he
would experience as 4 normal activity of daily living.” * Id. § 14, 13 N.E.3d 1252. On review,

Liowever, this cowt found, “a]lthough the act of ‘reaching’ is-one performed by the general - -

public on a daily basis, the evidence in this case established the risk to which claimant was

exposed was necessary to the performance of his job duties at the time of his injury.” Id. 9 28,
13 N.E.3d 1252.

Similar to the risk involved in Young, in this case we find that the risk associated with the
act of bending down to pick up a fallen bolt was an employment-related risk. Specifically, the
evidence showed that claimant’s job required him to load bolts into an articulating arm, raise
the arm up to the vehicle, and press a button on the arm to secure the rear suspension with the
bolts. Witness testimony established that during this process, it was not uncommon for bolts to
fall out of the articulating arm and onto the floor. Claimant, along with Purdy and Bozanic,
testified that if the bolts were not retrieved from the floor before the rotating platform ran them
over, the rotating platform would jam which would then result in the entire assembly line
shutting down. According to claimant, in the event that the assembly line stopped, he would be
subject to discipline.

Here, we find the manifest weight of the evidence establishes claimant’s injuries occurred
as a result of a risk distinctly associated with his employment. While the act of “bending” may
be an act performed by the general public on a daily basis, the evidence established that bolts
would regularly falt out of the articulating arm during the assembly process. When a bolt
would fall, claimant had to “run down there, bend over, reach and *** pick it up before the
[rotating platform] r[an] it over.” In other words, picking up fallen bolts was an integral part of
claimant’s job. Because the risk associated with claimant’s act of bending to pick up the bolt
was a risk distinctly associated with his employment, he established that his injury “arose out.
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€46

T 47

148

of” his employment. The Commission’s failure to find an employment-related risk is against
the manifest weight of the evidence.

We also find that the record does not support the Commission’s determination that
claimant’s injury was not compensable because his “preexisting back condition was so
deteriorated that his back simply gave out during a basic daily activity.” In reaching its
decision, the Commission relied on County of Cook v. Industrial Comm’n, 69 Il1. 2d.10, 370.
N.E.2d 520 (1977). The Cook court recognized a limitation to the general rule that “the
employee need only prove that some act or phase of the employment was a causative factor of
the resulting injury” to be compensable under the Act. Id at 17, 370 N.E.2d at 523.
Specifically, the court noted, “[t]he sole limitation to the above general rule is that where it is
shown the employee’s health has so deteriorated that any normal daily activity is an
overexertion, or where it is shown that the activity engaged in presented risks no greater than
those to which the general public is exposed, compensation will be denied.” /d. at 18, 370
N.E.2d at 523. In this case, the Commission, citing the above limitation, concluded that
claimant’s injuries were not compensable because his “degenerated lumbar discs gave way
with the simple act of bending forward,” which “demonstrate[d] that his lumbar condition was
so deteriorated that any activity of normal life was sufficient to cause [his] spine to break down
further.”

Based on our review of the record, we find the manifest weight of the evidence shows that
claimant’s health was not so deteriorated that any normal daily activity would constitute “an
overexertion.” Initially, we note that the employer presented no evidence which established
claimant’s back condition was so deteriorated that any normal daily activity would have
caused the disc herniation at L4-5. The lack of evidence on this matter is understandable

~because the employer-did not advance this theory before the Commission. During arbiivation;

the closest ¢vidence provided that would support the Commission’s finding on this issue was
during Dr. Butler’s deposition when he testitied, hypothetically, that a herniated disc could
result from bending over to pick up a bolt in a person whose “spine [was] in the condition that
[claimant’s] spine was in.” On cross-examination, Dr. Butler testified that a herniated disc
could result under the above described circumstances. However, he stated, “[i]t depends on
how he bent over, how often that happened. I mean, anything is possible, sure. But I don’t
know. Tt’s hard to say.” Dr. Butler did not specifically testify as to the type or extent of the
degenerative changes in the hypothetical patient’s lumbar spine or suggest that claimant’s back
was similarly degenerated prior to his work injury in May 2009. On the other hand, the
evidence established that while claimant had suffered a previous back injury in 2003, that
injury had been successfully treated using conservative modalities. Until the time of the injury
at issue here, claimant worked on the assembly line 5 days per week, 10 hours per day, and he
had not missed any significant amount of time from work between his 2003 injury and the May
2009 injury. Further, there is no evidence in the record that claimant sought treatment for any
low back or right hip issues between his 2003 injury and the May 2009 injury or that he
suffered any low back or right hip discomfort whatsoever in that timeframe.

Although we are reluctant to set aside the Commission’s decision on a factual question, we
will not hesitate to do so when the clearly evident, plain, and indisputable weight of the

evidence compels an opposite conclusion. Potenzo v. Illinois Workers’ Compensation
Comm’n, 378 Tll. App. 3d 113, 119, 881 N.E.2d 523, 529 (2007). Here, the Commission’s

finding that ¢laimant’s lumbar spine had deteriorated to the point of collapse prior to his May =
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2009 accident is against the manifest weight of the evidence.

HI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, we reverse the circuit court’s judgment confirming the
Commission’s decision, reverse the Commission’s decision, and reinstate the decision of the
arbitrator. : '

Judgment reversed, and arbitrator’s decision reinstated,

-12 -
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B | | PTD/Faial denied
: D Meodify ' Nene of the above
BEFORE THE JLLINOIS WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION
Matk Mytnik,
Petitionier,
V.. NO: 09 WC 26257

Ford Motor Company, : E @:ﬁ

' Ress’pﬂndemk

WD G rmw} OGN va’zm»

Txmeiy Petition- for Revxew having been filed by Res;:onden{ herein and notice given to

- all parties; the Commission, -after considering the issues of accident; medical - ‘expenses,

temporary total- disablilty benefits; and permancm disability, hereby reverses the Arbitrator's

- Decision and finds that: Petitioner failed to prove that he sustained accidenlal injurics arising out
of and in the cotirse-of his e,mplaym&nt on Mav 21, 2009..

‘B that 'the record is clear, and there i3 no mistake as tcs the intentions or.actions: of this

Comirission, we have considered the record in its entirety. “We have reviewed lhe facts of the'

matter, both from a legal and a medicat / Tegal perspective, We have ‘considered all of  the
te:sﬁmcmy, exhibits, plaadmgs and arguments submitted by the Petitioner and the Rcspondent

And after a complete review of the record; the Commission finds that Petitioner’s varied and

inconsistent histories of the " May 2], 2009 incident undermine his claim that he “suffered

accidental injuries a.mmg out-of and in the course of has ‘employment. wzth Respandent o May

21,2009,

- The Cammmsmn notes that at hearmgﬁ Pemfoner lesm:ed that he first noted that h]S back
:had started to’ bot_hcp _hlm at 10 GO a.m, on May '?1 009 (T } Peml&ner festified that some.
“real sharp patn in his nght snde (T. ?2 24) Peutmne:r festifi ed that later- that day hg sought
freatment at Raspondent’s medicdl departmem (RX6) The rf:e:crds from the medical department
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indieate that ?ezltmner explained that while dmng his )ab his’ nght teg slays on 'thié loot paddle on
-~ the asscmbiy {ine -and “as the moon bugg}r ‘moves it twists my body.” (RX6) Petitioner then
compiamed of nghi hlp pain.. Foiiowmg his visit to (he medical department, Petitioner compieted
an accident report in which-he. stated that he felt pain in. his. right h:p and leg when he was
: “pxckmg up bolts off the floor twisting his body.™ (RXTy :

- On May 26, 2009, ‘Respondent-sent Petitiorier 10 Urgem Care far freatmicoi, (FX11) At

Urgent Care, Petitioner reporied that ke developed low back pain-with radmuﬁn down: the right

' ieg while twisting and turningin the “completion of his _;ob assignments,” Y (PX11) The trispe

rurse at Urgent Care noted that Petitioner reporied thai he was; “usmg a foot pedal repetitively

with his right foot and twisting and turning” when hc felt low, back pain with radiation down the
right leg. (PXT1)

Whe Petitioner saw Dr. Chang on Jusie 4, 2009, he reported that while working on May
21, 20(}9 he bent down to pick | up a balt that had fallen while holding on to equipment, causing
him to *twist forcefully.™ (PX9) Peuu-::mef réported 1hat after this twist, he felt Immediate low
back. pam that “gradual!y radmled tn:o the right leg.” (PKQ}

On June 8, 2009, Petitianer told Dr, Adlaka that he Was “bending down {o pick up
somethmg when he mjured his baek.” (BX12)

On July 20, 2009, Petitioner lﬂld Dr. Galdbcrg that. he had “Hwisted an arm of 2 machine -

dnd’ developed acute low back and. right ie;, radicular pam » {PXS) Dr. Goldb&rg later‘issued an.
addandﬁm 1) hzs report, prlammg that ‘Petitioner had “twisted his waist to. reach back For zhg

a ﬁ*’ nrmashingl e dy »L,,;f% e loy Back gight leg radicular pain; e By

On March 8, 2010, Peimcner lcid D, Luken that hc: devel capui righi-sided low back
symptoms “as he engaged in hzs usual mulme mvolvmg repzuuve bending and light lifting.”
{(PX2}

On June 2, 2010, Petitioner saw Dr. Butler, Respondent's first Section 12 exammer who
took. down the. foilowmg history from Petitioner: “Diiring the course of his octupation he has 10
pick up’ stock, for assembly-and place bolts on an articufating arm.. He states that he is required {o
push a foot pedal during the course of this assembly operation. [Penimnf:r] stated that there isa
twisting motion involved in‘completion of his job- ass&gnmem." {RX3-ERX) '

On June 1,°2011; Pf:ltimner saw D Zelby, Respondent’s ‘second: Section 12 examiner,
(RX2-ERX2)Dr. Zelby indicated in his report that Petitioner explamcd that he “was doing his
regular job dulies, and did not have any specific incident or injury, and felt pain‘in the low back,
radiating. into. ihe nght buttock and -down the right leg, although he cannot remember. the
distribution” into the leg: He did notice: that' when: he bent fo pick up a ball, the pain seemed
sharpar for a couple of seconds.” (RX- -ERX2) Al his evidence deposition on’ ‘October 13, 2011,
Dr: Zelby testified that Pcnuoner reported that he bent (o pick up a “bolt” net'a “ball.” (RJ\E)

~ On June 16,2011, P‘eﬁtidncr"s"Sectiqn._iz'_ examiner, Dr: Treisler, noted that Petitioner
reported. that he started to “have sharp.low back pains while fe was eating. his lunch.” (PX3-
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As expldinéd above {he Cammxssmﬂ notes ﬂmt Petitioner’s Histories. of !he May 21, ?8{29
incident are varied. Howevere despite. all of the histories pmvsdeé by Petitioner (hmughout his
treatment, Petitioner testified a1 hearing that his low back pain. with radiation down the right
lower extremity started when he reached down to rétricve a bolt that haci fatlen ' to the floer,
Pelitioner chose to proceéd to tiial with this history, Accepting Tetitioner’s chosen history of the
_acmdem dcspne 1he mu!tspte accounls hf: had prowdcd thc Commgssmn f nds 1hai Pemmr;er has-

Aci (hercmaﬁcr “Act”}

, The C.ommrssmn noles that Petttmner testified that he had suffered 2 work mwry to his
back in 2003. (T.22-23) This was confirmed by the records of Petitioner’s primary - care
physician, Dr. Luebbeg who noted on May 27, 2009 that Petitioner had a history of back pain,
{PX13) The lumbar MRI taken on May 26, 2009, was compared to a Jumbar MRI taken on
December 3, 2003, It showed that Petitioner had * {p}ostemcmira? and- right paracentral disc
‘hemiation at L4-L5, which appedrs ¢ be new since the previous exam. Posterocentral and right
paracentml disc hermatwn at L5-81, which was desc¢ribed on the previous. examination.” {PXQ)
Petitioner clearly had pre-c:xlsimg fow back abnormalitics, bul the MRI also showed a new
herniation at L4-L5,

Dcsp:te this diagnosiic mdlcauon of a new herniation,  the Camm:ssmn finds that
Petitioner has failed to establish that hisirj ury arose out.of his empioymem As'explained by the
liinois Supreme Courl in Coun!y of Cook v. Indus. C‘omm n (%‘pwgei) 69 I!} ’«’d 10, 17-18 (I[l

qw-"\ ———

An accidental injury can be found to have oceurred, even
though the result would net have obtained had the
employee been in normal health: (Republic Steel Comp. v.

' industrial Com. (1962), 26 Il 2d 32, 43—44} If an
empiovee s existing’ physical structure gives way under the
stress of his usuat labor, his death is'an accident which
arises out of his employment, To come within the statute
thic employee rieed only: prove ‘that some act or phase of the
empioymem was @ causative factor. of the resulting injury.
Wirth v. Industrial Com. (1974), 57 11, 2d 475, 481....The
sole limitation to thie above general mfﬂ is that where it iy
shown the empiovees health has so deteriorated that any
normal daily activity - is ‘an- overexertion; ‘or where it is-
_'shcwn that the ‘activity engaged in prasented risks no
greater than those to which the general publi¢ is exposed,
compensation will be denied. (County of Cook v. Industrial
Com. {1977), 68 1L 2d 24, 32-33; M;
‘Co. v. Industrial Com: (1967),. 3? HE 2d 123, 127; iilinois.
Bell Telephone Co. v. Industrial Com. (1966) 35 1 2d.

474, 477 Wheiher however, the above faczors are present:




RO WC 26257 O-Dex On-Line

www.gdex.com

Pape 4

is a question of fact for the: Commission. Okaw Homes,
Inc: v, Industrial Cam (1968), 40 1}, 2d 81 R4,

~lIn the case al bar, Petitioner was not enga&,ed i an aciwuy whichi presenited a grealer risk of
injury to him than tothe genera[ public. Petitioner; by his oW testimony, was s;mp!y bendmg
dawn,

Tbe record demonstrates that Pelitioner suffered. from long: standmg, pre-existing, lumbar
degenerative disc disease. Petitioner testified that he experienced pain whilé he was bending to.
relrieve a falien bolt,

Petitioner’s ‘degenerated: lumbar dsscs ‘gave way with the s:mpie: act of beﬂd:ng farward
The failure of the Petitioner’s spine oecurred while he was simply  bending over, This
demonstrates that his jumbar condition was 'so deteriorated thai any activity of normal life was
sufficient to cause Pelitioner’s spine to break down F‘urther

- The Commission notes that both Petitioner and Terrence Purdy, a co-worker, tesiified
that balts tend to fall often: and they would have to pick them up to avoid jams in ihe machinery.
The Commission also notes that when desciibing their work activities, both men focused on the
twisting and irning involved in maoving the articulating arm and gmbbmg bolts from the iable or
stock area. Their testimony -and the ewd;:nce presented shows that the }ob rcqmred that they
stand for long periods of time and move an articulating ami. The: Commission finds that bendmg
down for a fatlen bolt is an mlermrttenl acl dependent saiely on a bolt fajlmg '

Th‘_ SEMTY mISSQOQ f’ﬂdﬂ ﬁi\:ﬁz P’?!@ﬁjl 1‘!’ Wiq— sﬂﬂﬁ\'}’ }f}f ﬁf,}ﬁnjnx i#}r‘ Eetin *r uu t dx‘ﬂr-gfi-{‘.f— @f‘ff—:--"—!‘-*«--' L

bendmg down. The Commission further finds that Petitioner was not exposed 1o a greater risk of
injury than the general public; due to his work activities. The Commission also fi nds: that
Petitioner’s pre-existing back candmmn was 50 detenorﬂted that his back simply gave out during
a basic daily activity. Based on County of Cook and the requirements nnder the Act, Petitioner
failed to establish that hzs injuries arose out of and in the course ot his employment.

Therefore, for the reasons set forih above, the Commission finds that Petitioner has failed
to establish thal he sustained accidental injuries arising out of and in the course of his
employment w:th Rcspondent on May. ?] 2009. Accordingly, we reverse the’ Decgsson of the
Arbitrator and deny cempensanon .

Fmaliy, one should not and cannot presume that we have failed to review any of the
record made below: Though our view of the record may or:-may not be different than the
arbitrator’s, it should not be presumed that we have failéd 1o consider any evidence taken below.
Our review of this material is §tatutorily mandated and we assert that this has been completed:

IT 1S THEREFORE GRDERED BY THE COMMiSSIDN that that ‘the Decision of the
Arbitrator is reversed as Patitioner failed fo prove he sustained an accidental i m; ury arising out. of
his empioymcnt with Respondcm and, therefore, his claim for campensatmn is hiereby denied.

ITi8 EURTHERIGRDEREDBY THE—COMMESS@N that Respondent si1aii'hjavé credit
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for all amounts paid, i any, to or un bebalf of Petitioner.on account of said accidental injury,

No bond is requ:red for femoval of this cause to the Circuit Court by Respondent. The
party commencirig the proceedings for review in.the Circuit Court shall file with the Commission
a Notice ef Inlcnt iﬁ th: for Revaew in Cireuit Cau, 4

DATED:

a-08/19/14
052

me W, Lambnm
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MYTNIK, MARK Casé#  09WC026257
Emg?tqyéef?eﬂlipner
FORD MOTOR COMPANY | T '
Employ@riﬁeapmdem

On 6/14/2013, ax arbitration decision on this case was filed Wxth the Mlinois Workers’ Cﬂmpensanon
- Commission in Chmaacr, a copy of which'is mck;sed

11" the Comssscn reviews this award, mia.rest of 0. 08% shall accrue from the date listed above to the day
before the date of payment; howevez ifan %:mplczyae s appeal results in either no change or' & decrease in this
award, intérest shaﬂ not accrue.

A copy of this deciston | is. mailed 10 the following parties:

0505 NEWMAN BOYER & STATHAM LTD

JAMES $ HAMMAN

18400 MAPLE CREEK DR SUITE 500
NL_K‘( PARK, IL BOATT

0550 WIEDNER & MCAUUFFE [N gs]
-R‘WDALL BLADEK

DN;: N FRANKLIN 5T SUETE 1900
CHICAGO, L 60505
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] Injured- Wbrierﬁ Benefit Fund (§4(5)§
|| Rate Adjustruent Fusd (§8(z))
D Second Injury Fund (§5(e)I8)

. None of the above

_w-rgom;méms }1 I ﬁCS 0 ._ % '

COUNTY OF GOOK y

| [LLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

ARBITRATION DECISION
Mark Mytnik, Case # 09 WC 26257
EmployeesPetitioner ’ ' '
V.

Consolidated cases: none
Ford Motor Company. '
Empmycrfmspﬂndmf

An .e{pphcaiwﬂ for 4 af,fustmenr of Claint was ﬁled in this matter, and a Notice of Hearing was mailed to each.
party. The matier was heard by the Honorable Peter M. B’Mai ey, Arbitrator of the Commission, in the city of
Chicago, on 2125113, After reviewing al] of the evidence p?esemcd the Arbitrator hereby muakes findings on
the dxspuie,d issues checked below, and atiaches those findmgs to this document.

‘ {?ISPUTEﬁ iSSUES

A, ' Was Respondent operating tnder and subject to-the. Ii}mms Warkers' Compernsation ar f}ccupauonaj
' Diseases Act?

E D Wes ihiere an mekjyﬁaampinwr relaban:.hip'? e
B Did an agcident occur that arose.out of and in the’ course Df Petmonez‘s ampinyment by Rez‘:pondent?
1] What was the date of {he accident?

- Was timely notice of the accident given to Respcndem?

E Is Petitioner's current condition of ill-being causallv related to the injury?

] What were Petitioner's eamnings?

D What 'was: Peﬂhonﬁrs age at the time of the accident?

[:] What was Petitionet's mamal status at the time of the accidemt?

E Were the medical scrvices that swere prov:df:d 0 Pemmner reasonable and necessary? Has Respondent
~ paidall appmpnale charges for all reasonable and necessary ‘medical services? -

K‘_ @ What terpporary bepefits are in dispute?

L.

- = g}. m p’r 5::1__("}

ClTPD - [] Maintenance BTID
L. [X) What is the nature and extent of the mjury‘?
M, . Should penaﬁh&s or fees be imposed upon Respcmdenf’?
N, D Is Respc}ndent due any credit?
o, l:] Other

;L,g,-bm,_‘ EL ;g fagw Rgna’m‘ph S:reu RE-300 Phscago L6601 3% SH 66“ To!lﬁcc 86613533033 Webaite www. pwce oy -
Downﬂma cffices: Caﬂmsve‘f!e GI8/346-34500 Peoria 304671 3019 Ra-‘lj'ﬂrd BIS987.F297 - Springfield ')IE?‘M 2084
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On Sf2‘il(39 Respnndent was operating under and. sn‘ngect 1o thz: prcws:om af the Act

F‘iNDENG$

Onthis date; an emp‘iayee~emp]eyer reianonship did exist bemreen Patitioner and. Respcndent
On this date, Petitioner did sustain an accident that arose Qut,af and.in the couse, of amplﬁym_eni;
Tinely notice of this aceident was given to Respondent. . .

 Petitioner's current condition of ill-being is causally related o the accident.

In the year pmceciiﬁg the injury, Petitioner eamned SS_Q;_Z_&#G.GG; the average weekly wage was §1,120,00,
On the date of accident, Petitiongr was 41 yaars-af'ag:; married with 2 dependent children.

._Petiﬁoner has received all reasonable and necessary medi(:a_l SEIvices.

Respondent feas #of paid all appropriate chargaé for all reasonable and necessary .médicai services.

Respondent shall be given a credit of $0,00 for TTD, 50. 00 for YPD %0.00 for maintenance, and $60,084.51
 for other benefits, including short term disability (§51,832. 6) and PPD advance. {$8 262,25), fora toial credit
of $6@,084.51. (See ArbExAD).

Respondent is entitled to 2 credit of $Q.Dﬂ_'undgr'5scti0ﬁ 8(}) of the Act.

-_QRDER
Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary’ total disability benefitsof §$745.67 per week for 79-177 weeks

~commencing 5/23/09 mrough 2/28/10 and from 3/3/10 through’ l%/’PE?fIO i prm’}de in §8(hy cvfthe: Act. -

Respondent shall pay Peuucmer the: mm?nraw total disability benefits that have accrved from 5/22/09 through:
2/25/13, and shall pay the rt:mamdﬁs of the award, if any, in weekly paymenis.

Respun{!em shall pay reasonable and necessary medical expenses relating 10 said accident as provxdeé in §8(a)
and the fee schedule provisions of §8.2 of the Act.

Respondent shall pay Petitioner permanent partial disability benefits of $664.72 per week for 125 weeks,

because the injuries sustained. caused the 25% loss of the person as a. who}e ‘as pravided in Section S{d)‘j of the
Act. :

Respondent shall pay to Petitioner penalties of $0. 00, as provided in Section 16 of the Acy; fh{} 00, as prowded in
 Section 19(%{) ai‘ the Act; and 50, {kE} as pmwded in-Section 19(3} nf the Act..

RULES Rﬁcmmhc APPEALS Unless a party files a Petition for Review within 30 days aftcz: receipt of this:

decision, and perfects a review in acwrdance with 1he Act: and Rules, then this dacxs;on shall be entered as ﬂae
decision cf the Cemmiss:on

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE [T the Commission re\news this award, interest at the rate set forth on the Noface
of Decision of - Arbitrator shall accrue from the date listed below 1o the day before the date of paymem ‘however,
if an employee's appaal rasults m mthar no-change or a decrease in this award; interest shall not accrue.

_ Signalore of Atbiator | 7 A ' Date
NCAmDer g 2 B
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Penuoner a4l }iaar old assambiy Tine worker, testified that he had worked far Respandent since October 1994,
He indicated that he worked in the rear 5uspansmn ares, using different types of machines, He noted that on
May 21, 2009 he was doing & rear suspension “moon buggy™ job. -He noted that the job zequ:rz:d that he siand
GO AN assambiy line up 10 nine () hours per day working on cars, with two (2) breaks, while twisting his bczdy
o puli and-position-an am::ulaﬁng arm (ool used to drive boils i mio the rear suspension of automobiles; In
addition, he was required fo Jift packages of bolts and other items to be assembled on the vehicles weighirp
thirty {3{3) to saventy (70), sometimes lifting two at'a time in setting up his work station. He noted that the

assembly line ran at a rate of speed that allowed 48-32 seconds to work on each vchmiﬁ ar apprammattiy 62
vehicles per hour.

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

Petitianer testified that on May 21, 2009 he started work at 6:00 am and that around: 10:00 am he noticed that
his back hutt. 'On cross examination, he noted that he feit “okay” when he armived at work and that he had.
-noticed pain thronghout the day. He also noted that sometimes bolts would fall out and he would have 1o reach
down and remaove it before it jammed the carousel. He testified that he did just that on thedate tn question and
that when he did so he felt sharp pain like needles on the right side. He'indicated that he then flagged downa
supervisdr, Zack Bozanie, and asked 1o go 16 medical. Petitioner testified that be told Mr. Bozanie what had
happened about ten (107 10 ffieen {13) minutes after it occurred. He also notedithat he went 10 the medical
department at-aboul noon. He indicated that he fold medical department persa;me:l that he had pain‘in his-back
and down his leg. On cross: he tater agreed. that he may have told personiel al that time that be had pain in his
right hip and that it had ‘begun at about 8:30 am. He alsonoted that although he had previously hurt his back in
2003 he had not had pain down his right leg before Petitioner testified that the medical department gave him
ibuprofen and iced his back. ‘He noted that he sat ardund for'a couple hours untii he was sent back 1g the'line.

. He indicated that there were a few hours left Uiy the day sdthat. he did not re:aimt:ﬁm extentd lu uundmun and -
that the group leader helped him out.

Petitioner testified that the f‘oIimeg day was “the wéekend,” Tﬁe Atbitrator takes judicial notice of the fact

that the date of the alleged accldent, May 21, 2009, was a Thursday.. Petitioner indicated that he could not g&t
up from bed that day and was in e‘mmsfaﬂng pain.

Petitioner testified that he retumed to work after the: weekend but was unable to move, bend, twist or even siand,
He retumed to the medical deparimeﬁi and was eventually sént to Ingalls Urgeny Care. He mdmaidci that he told
the doctor what had happened and how he was doing the moan buggy job, twisting and. picking up stock; and

how he had to hurry up to pick up'a bolt; Petitioner noted that given-an injectionat that tirhe and sent for an
MR,

The Ingalls medical record for May 26, 2009, indicated that ih& patient described “twisting motion of the torso
in completion of job.” (P'Xli) It also stated: “Ln;uryiauczciem 1o right hip and back™ and it was also noted in the
Work Status Discharge Sheet; “Off Duty (Due to. Work Related Conditions).” The record also indicates “right’
buttock pain radiates to posterior upper leg” and below thal it states: “cumulative. imjury.” In 1he Emergeacy
Record under Doctor Notes, the record for that date also states: “Mechanism of Injury: The pt. states that he was
using a foot pedal repetitionsly with His right foot and twisting y and turning when be began with right lower batk
pain thet radiated down the posterior Iateral aspect of his nght thigh to his foot.” The dlagnos!s was Jumbar

radiculopathy. The Ford Motor Ccvmpany Referral Form included with those records states; “eval for compldint
af continued right lower back pain..



_Ford Motor Company, 08 WC 26257

Petitioner testified that {oi}awmg the MR] he was instructed to-retiun to Respondent’s med:ca} deparﬁnent,
which he did. He noted that he - spent ahout six (6) hours in the medlca] dcpartmenL He indicated. that during.
that time he spoke to Michelle Greaox}, Respondent’s workers® ‘compensation-administrator, Petitioner noted-
tha he tald Ms. Gregory that his back was bothering him and about the twisting involved in his job. He also
-mciscated that he informed her how he really felt it after picking up-a bolt.. Petitioner noted that after a few hours
Ms, Gregory retiimed and fold him that they had fooked at the job and that there was no way he could have
_potien hurt. He also nmz:d that he was 101d to see his-own doctor af that time.

Petitioner visited his primary care ghysxctan, Dr. William Lubbe on:May 27; 7009 He indijcated that. he
informed Dr, Lubbe about his job and the twisting involved, On that date Dr Lubbe recorded ... _
radiculopathy-pt had prevmus report in 2003 with apparently same results however pt. has never been seenin’
this office for back pain for years-no back complaints in-multiple visits in‘recent years.”™ (PX13). Dr. Lubbe
then referred Petitioner 10 Dr. Mark Chang.

fPet}Unner was examined by Dr. Chang on June 4,2009. Petitioner mdxcafcd that he told Dr. Chang the same.
thing with respect to the twisting involved in his job, I a report dated June 4, 2009 Dr, Chang noted that *

the pain started afier & work related injury on May 21, 2009, when he was picmg up some bohs while warhng
on an assembly fine ... be had 1o bend down to pick u'p a bolt that had dropped... reach down, he had to twist
Toreefullv.” (PX9). In addition, Dr. Chang noted that Petitioner “reports that in 2003 be had an ¢pisode of lower
back pain. He had an MRI done at that time and went for physical therapy which helped and ke has'not had any
trouble since that time.” Later in the report, regarding an MR of the lumbar spine, dated May 26, 2009, he
states © [a}ccordmg to the MRI teport, those films are compared to MRI images dated December 3, 2003.
Accarding to the radiologist, the L4-5 disc herniation is pew since the previous MRI, while the L5-51 disc
Herniation femains the same.” Dr. Chang 5 ampressmn was: “Acute’ ngh‘t L5 radiculopathy seccandary 1o new
L4~3 dlS{; hermanun causmg Sigmﬁcam m:rve mapmgameng nld L:: 51 disc hé:mtatmn nm causmg

'ccmsrder lh& new. hennanon as deﬁmtely bﬁzmg wark mlated sinee - it would be conszsiem with the mechanisin of
mjury as he desc:nbed on May 21, 2009, " {PX?)

Dr. Chang’s records also mclude a #5166- Medma Certification Form, prepared by Dr. Lubbe which mdmates

that the condition was a’ *‘raaogravatson of preexisting problem which had not caused any problems for multiple
years-this is'a work comp injury.”

Petitioner iestified that Dr. Chang referred Petitioner to Dr, Adlaka for an injection. Petitioner ngted that D
Chang also referred him to a pain specialist, and eventually recommendcd surgery.

- Petitioner subsequently sought a second opinion,’ vmmng Dr. Edward Goldberg on July 20, 2009, Once agam

- Petitioner noted that he gave the same h.astczry regarding the twisting associated with his job that he had given

the other providers. However, Petitioner noted that his description of the useé of an articulating arm may have

caused some confusion. He indicated that as a result Dr. Goldberg’s record was wrong and he had to have Dr.

Goldberg's office fix the deseription of the aceident. Petitioner continted (6 treat with Gr Goldberg from: July.
of 2009 through February of 201Q:

In his record of July 20, 2009, Dr. Goldberg reported the history.of the petitioner’s present illness as follaws:
““He twisted an artn of 2 machine and developed acute low back and right leg radicular pam " PX5 A
clarification was added to the record that stated: “We are correcting that by saying the patient twisted his Waist.
to-reach back for the arm of a-maching he usesto compietc his job; ihen he develﬂpad acute low back right leg

radmuiar pain.” The record for-December 4, 2009, indicates: “He has been. in therapy and they recommend
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additiogal therapy, but unfartunataiy this has been denied. The therapy notes do indicate he is miaking .
progress.” Later in that record, Dr. Goldberg notes: *“My recommendation is that he have work gondxhonmg for
4 weeks: He does bea'vy assembly line work. 1fwork conditioning cannat be. performed due to insurance issues,

‘he will let us know.”

Ford Form 5166, pre:pared by Dr. Goidberg on-July 20, 2009, indicates that the petitioner’s copdition was &ie 1

* the employee’s ecupation and siates “work velated incident caused injuryto Jow back.™ A follow upF u"rm

5166, dated January &, 2(}10 stated “work injury May ’?1, 2009.7

At the February 10, ’?I}Ii} appmmtmcnt Dr. Goldberg released the petitioner {o return 1o work as of Ma_rch 1,

20110, finding that he had reached maximum ‘medical improvement, He preseribed an additional four sessions of -

'physzca! therapy. He was released at light duty with maximum lifting limited to twenty-five pounds. It was

noted that the restrictions were permanent “due 1o the chronic nature of his right L5-81 newropathic pain.”

Dr. Galdberg performed surgery on Atigust 4, 2009. The records from Rush University Medical Center include
the report of the surgery that Dr. Edward Goidberg performed on the pettioner.on August 4, 2009, (PX06), That

surgery was described as a nght L4-L3 hemilaminotomy and discectomy and nght L3-81 hemslammammy and”
pamal facetectomy.

‘Following surgery, Petitioner began a prc_gréxn of physical therapy. However, Petitioner noted that Dr.

Goldberg subsequently siopped physical therapy in February of 2010 and released him 1o retum to work with a

25 pound lifting restriction. Petitioner thereupon returned 16 work on March:1, 2010, He indicated that he

worked In several different ty pes of jobs that allowed him to wotk an eight hour day, but that the 3obs were not.
light duty. Petitioner testified that he worked on March 1 and Mamh 2, 2010 and then went off work again due

- o rediating pai as o s us arr mahlhty o stand; twist or-bend for very long, Petzi;ma: indicated thatFord; had- -
.sa,xd they v«odd tryto acsammudaie him but ﬂ)a{ they never did.

Petitioner testified thaf after p visit o the’ 5. Margaret emergency room he visited Dr. 'Ma;rijzi; Luken on Mareh

8, 2010, On that date Dr. Luken noted that Petitioner “developed hgh’tésxded low back pain and sciatice at work
‘one day in May 2009, while involved in regular work involving repetitive bending and light lifting while

working o1 an assemhly line. He recoromended that Petitioner be off work and he prescribed sutiabifz work

conditioning culrsinating in & functiopal capacity ev a!uauoa

Dir. Luken testified that Pcﬁncner s'work “involved holding a ‘pedal down with one fot}t while reaching behind:

him to grasp and. deal with a power 100l of some sort.™ He went on to describe that the pcmnaner “haci 0 kt:ap

one foot planted on a pedal while twisting lo retrieve this instrument fo deal with each passing car,’ (?Xl A7)
Dr. Liiken further testified that “the repetitive mechanical stress which his work hkc!y brought to bear on his
lower back, in my opinion, very plausably accounted for lower lumbar injury and with precipitation’or
exacerbahan of the demonstrated disc herniation which we believe was responsible for the symploms Mr.

‘Mytnik reported as having developed in-the course of his work in May of 20097 (PXT, pp. 18~19} Dr. Luken
“agreed that Petitioner’s bending over 1o pick up a bolf and m:stmg in the manner described was possible to

heriiate a lumbar disc. (PX1, p.22). He was also of the ‘opinion that “those hours, thase years involved with
repetitive bending like lifting and twisting, those would seem 16 me to be the very competent causes of the
anatomical and tlinical prab]am observed,” (PX1{; p.23). Dr. Luken iestified that “someihmg happened during -
that workday with those repetitive mechanical stresses to his back to-either preeipitate or critically exacerbate
the longstanding dcganeratwa changés in his spine.” (?Xl pA40)L
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Peuncmer noted that Ford would not authorize the FCE and that he ended having the: FCE on November 9, 2011
and paying it himself. The FCE demonstrated physical capabilities and toleranices 10 function at the light-
medium categery of work, indicative of two-hand occasional 1ifi camy of thirty-five pounds. fmm twelve inches.
‘10-waist Jevel and a two-hand frequent lift of fifteen paunds from ‘iwelve inches 1o waist’ iew&l

Petitioner rioted that Dr. Luken kept hlm off work until his sabsmu&ni return to work- with restrictions on
N{}vember 30, 2010, He indicated that he returned to work for Respondem on that date dmng different “made
o up” gc:bs damg diﬁereﬂt mks WhlL}l were within the’ {estrmtlons lmposed bv Dr, Lukan Eaumoner lestzﬁﬁd thal "~

dcf:part_men{ that there was no work avaﬂab

Petitioner testified that prior ta date of the alleged accident he had had pmb]ems with his back while working
for Ford. He noted thaf he had been working on the rear brake system usmg an articulating arm and which
required averhe:ad work, Petitioner indicated that he,no other back i injuries prior to workmg for Respanéﬁnt

At the request of Respandsnt, Petitioner visited Dr. Jesse Builer on Jupe 2, 2010 for purposes of 2 §12
evaluation. Afier examination and review of the medical records, Dr, Butler diagnosed lumbar degenerative

-~ disc disease and herniation at L4-5. He found thal Petitioner was at MMI with restrictions, if any, to be
determined by a functional capacity ev aluation. Dr. Butler testified that the video be reviewed of the assembly
line job didn'f seem to show any twisting movement and he stated that the pace with which the bolts were
drifled seemed 10 be a very comforiable pace for someone doing the job. (RX3; p.11). He was also asked to.
assume that there was no lifting requirement for {hie job since it was not. depicted in the video. Dr. Butler
admitted that people with degenerative changes in their spines similar 10 the petitioner’s prior 1o his accident at
work could bend over to pick something up or reach for something and become symptomatic. (RX3, p. 16) He
also tesﬁﬁad that it was possible that Pe:tmaner couid have hermated 2 dnsc 1E he had bani over o p;cic up a.bolt,

=i‘§.‘.ﬁ 3}{ } e ; St T e T T T —— — - -—— - ———— S .-v e

In addmm& Petztmner visited Dr. Andrew Zelby at the request of Résptmdent on June 1,201 1 for purposes of a
§12 éxamination. Dr. Zelby testified that Petitioner told him that he noticed a sharp pain in his low back
mdtauug, to his right buttock and down the right leg. wher he bent over to pick up a bolt. (RX2, p. 7y He also
testified that an FCE was unnecessary. Dr. Zelby testified that he was never asked by Respondent fo-review the
vxdea that had been reviewed by the other evaluating physician. (RX2, p, 16}

Atlthe request of his attorney, Petitioner visited Dr. Michae] Tra:ster for an evaluation on Jupe 16,2011, Dr
Treister testified that Petitioner explained to him that he had-to step on a pedal with one foot to lift the
suspension-while simultaneousty reaching back to pull the articulating arm forward. (PX3, p.9). Healso
testified that Petitioner said sametimes.4 balt would fall down and he'd bave to. gratby it real qumkjy to prevent it
from gefing into the mechanism of the inaching. He told him that he had 48.to 50 seconds 1o work on each
vehicle anfi he. {yplca.l}y did. 6? 070 vehicles per honr and he wc}rk,ﬂd 1en—h0ur days. He also told him that he

o pcunds, Dra Treister. tf:snﬁed that petitmner lified am:i tuwsled with 40 to 60 paunds (PX3 p.10).

Dr. Treister further testified Petitioner had an MRI on April 9,2010,a leng time after his surgery, and the MRI
- showed postoperative changes at L4/LS with some scar tissue that was causing central and bilateral foraminal
stenosis, which was a basis for the'angoing discomfort on an objectve basis. (PX3,p.16). Dr. Tredster
dlag,ncseci Petitioner's condition as failed back svndmme noting persisient back pain and radicuiopathy. (PX3,
,21). Dr. Treister explained that Petitioner's condition is causally related to the accident that he had at work.
DD May 21, 2009, He noted that Petitioner had preexisting degenerative dise disease in the Jower lumbar. area

6
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which puts those d1s<:s at nsk for hermatian Penuoner has sudden ohset of pain while working, Dr: Treister
testified 1o his opinien that whether from twisting, lifting or bending, the pmblem with Petitioner’s back started

Whil& he was wc;rkmg (PXB p.2 ) He furﬂ}er testified that Petitioner was d-candidate for further surgery,

......

Mark Mvinik v, Ford Motor Company, 09 WC 26257 i

‘Petitioner testified that he was aware of the job video sentto Drs, Butiar and Zelby. Petitioner indicated that he
~viewed the tape and that it did not accurately depict his job. Specifically, he noted that the assembly line did-not

moveas fast @ it normally ran, that he saw the line actually stop at one point and that the worker shown in the
video was not putting on nearly as many parts as he did.

- Petitioner temﬁed that he currently takes something for the pain, and that he was f@ahng it in his back & litte bit
while sitting and-testifying. He indicated that the pain is-in his back and goes down his leg, and that sometimes

- the numbness will increase and his knee will buckle. Petmcn{:r also stated that Dr; Luken had recommended a
fusion but that he did not want. anymore surgery at that time.

Petitioner. mdxcaied that he was not paid workers’ compensation b&ﬁaﬁts while he was off work but that he did
receive short term disability payments of around $200.00 per week for a gross amount of $675.00, or §547.00

- net. He also noted that His medical bills were not paid othér than what was picked up. by Blue Cmss Blue
Shield.

_Terrance Purdy testified on behalf of the Petitioner. M, P‘urdy indicated that he had worked for Ford for 19-1/2
years.  Mr. Purdy nuted that o the date of the incident, May 21, 2009, he was dmng geaeral wutility worl in the:
area. ‘He testified that he was familiar with the “rmmoon buggy™ job that the. petitioper-was doing on the date of
the accident because he worked on that job at the same time as the petitioner and took over his }Ob after he was

“hurt He furlisrtesiGedhat the job réquired lifting and fwisting to-ublize an artculsting « m—aﬁd midded that e

twisting and bendmg qmcbdy was tequired to pick up dmpped holts. Ht: noted that bolts were droppad fairly
regularly.. He testified that he was injured after he bent down to pzck up-a dropped bolt, He said that dropped
bolis had to be qmckly retrieved to avoid assembly linejams. The witniess testified that the assembly line did
1ot stop ofien.  He sald that while workinig on that job, he worked ten-hous days and worked 63 fo 68 cars per
~hour, In histestimony, the witness explained that the job requlrf:d mftstmg quickly to get the articulating arm
and he noted that the arm neéded to be pulled into position 1 16 work on the vehicles:

Hugh Ferguson IIL the videographer for Ford, testified that he was asked by Ford's workers compensation
department to take & video of Petitioner’s job. He testified that he’s worked for Ford for 44 years and is
currently its Government Regulations Coordination Assistant, He lestified that the workers’ cotnpensation
departmient showed him what they warited videoed and he didn’t know why the video was needed. The vidéo
was shown and he stated that six minutes of the video was the petitioner’s job. He testified that hie was given na
written jnstructions and made ho gotes reégarding the video. He further testified that he did not know the date
that he took: the video and ke was not told how Jong to nun the video. He testified that he was not provided with
ajob descnptmu nor was he given any information concerming the petmoz;er He said that'he did not knowif
the petrtloner 5 job was explained to him and he testified that he didn’t know what he knew-about the person
who was in the video he {ook. He also testified thathe recalled seeing someone drop a bolt while doing the job,

but he didn’t remember se¢ing anyone bending over ‘while doing the job. He said that he had taken ) video of
that }ob just that one time.

Zack Bozanic appaamd and iesﬁﬁed al the request of Respondent He testified that he was a supervisor for Fcrd
on May 21,2009, and had worked for Ford tivelve years prior to that at its Michigan truck: piant. He knew the
p&utaoner and knew that the petitioner had reporied the. acmdem He said that ihe petitioner was a good:
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empicyss‘ The witness lesnﬁed that sixty-three vehicles were done in an hour. He said that the line stopped,

* -but he did not have any training on the petitioner's )ah ‘He said that he-had ro information regarding any
significant time the petitioner had off from work prior to the date of this accident, The witness testified that he.
didn’t know how the petitioner had been injured. He didn't know anything about the petitioner’s injurizs or that
‘e had surgery. Hé testified that he is a0t told anything about emplc:ryees working with restrictions.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUES (C). DID AN ACC IDENT GCCUR THAT AROSE OUT OF AND IN

“"THE COURSE OF THE PETITIONER’S EMPLOYMENT BY THE RESPONDENT ANDTFL IS TBE
PETITIONER'S PRESENT CONDITION OF ILL-?BEING CAL SALLY RELATED TO THE INJUR&’
THE ARBITRATGR FINDS AS FOLLOWS:

The évidence introduced at hearing established that Petitioner workeﬁ for Rﬂsp@ndem since October of 1994
and that his work onthe assembly line required him to stand for upwards of nine hours per day, perfarmmg

: repemwa labor involving llﬁzng, twisting, reaching and accasmna} bending. Although there was some variation.
1n the medical récords cancerning the details of exactly what work was being done on the date of the accidént,
the overwhelming medical evidence sstablished that Petitioner was performing repetitive duties for the
ﬂmployﬂ{ on the date and he bent over Lo p:ck up a bolt that ke had dropped while performing those duties.

The facts f:stabhshed al hearmg, ﬂurough Petitioner’s testimiony, the testimony of the witnesses; the medical
records, the medical opinions, and the other documents admited into evidence, Petitioner had been working for
years with a less than healthy spine. He had lost no significant time from work since the time he previously had
troubje with his back in 2003, Petitioner testified that the problem with his back in 2003 came from the
re_pentwc work that he had done for the respondent. On the date of the accident; Petitioner reporied to his -
supervisor ‘whiat had happened. He was sent'to the emplay&r s medical de,partment where'it was documented on -

that date that he was complaining of his low back pain that was radiating inta his right hxp and upperleg. Those.

- —duciarents indicate “twisting™and also I Rep-iot™, ~which presumably meansdre-Slness™relajes to the v e

“repetitive motion” refated to'the. petitioner’s pcasxzscm of empio},ment The subsequent medical records.
indicate, that in addition to the peritioner's repetitive duties, the petitioner more likely than notaggravaled his

preexisting degenerative disc digease when he bent over to refrisve a bolt that ke had dmpptd on the assembly
line.

The Arbitrator is not persuaded by the opinions of the Section 12 examiners for the respondent given the facts of
the accident, the course of the treatment and the overall medical evidence introduced at hearing.. The Arbitrator
finds the opinions of the petitioner’s treating and evaluating ;::hys;icxans more persuasive than those of Drs.

Butler and Zelby. Likewise, the Arbitrator is not persuaded by a sbx minute video of an assembly live job that -
runs at Jeast ten hours per day and which petitioner testified did not accurately depict the entirety of his duties
on the assembly line, including mose instances wherein he would nave to bend down in order to pick up bolis
from aff the line.

The Arbitrator finds that the evxéence taken as a whole, supports his decision that the peuuoner has estabhshed
that an accident occurred that arose out of and in the course of his employment and that his curreat condition of

ill being is related to the accident that occurred on May 21, 0()9 including the need for the surgery that was
performed on August 4, 2009.

WYTH RESPECT TO ISSUE (J); WERE THE MEDICAL SERVECES THAT W’ERE PROVIDED TO
PETITIONER REASONABLE AND NECESSARY AND HAS RESPONDENT PAID ALL
. APPROPRIATE CHARGES FORALL REAS{)NABLE AND NECESSARY MEDICAL SERV ICES,
JHE ARB?TRATGR FINDS AS FOLLOWS:
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The Arhitrator finds, based upon the evidence introdiced at he:armg, Ihat the medlca] services provided fo. tha

petitioner for treatment of his back injury, as ‘indicated in the medical records admitted into evidence and as
delinedted in pemmner s group éxhibit (PX15), were reasonable and necessary o cure o relieve the petitioner
“from the condition caused by the work accident. The Arbitrator ﬁnds respondent liable for the medical bills
refated to the foregoing related treatment contained in petitidner’s Exhibit 15 and supporied by the

~cotTesponding: medical records; “Fayiment-of the bills by the respandant ist0 be-consistent with the prov IsiOns O e

‘Section 8.2 of the Workers® Compensation Act or the Workers® Compensaltion Commission Medical %ea
Schedule.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE (K), WHAT AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION IS DUE FOR
- TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY, THE ARBITRATOR FINDS AS FOLLOWS:

The Arbifrator finds, based upon the evidence tniroduced at hearmg, including the testimony of the
pﬁt:tmner, the medical records, and the festimony of Dr. Martin Luken and Dr. Michae! Treister, that the
petitioner did not return to work and was unabléto return to work, except for two. (2) days, March. 1 and
March 2, 2010,. Along these lines, Petitioner testified that he worked on March 1 and March 2, 2010 and
thers went off work again due to radiating pain as well as an inability to stand, twist or bend for very }ong

Based on the ahove, and the record taken as a whole, the &rbliratm finds that the respondent 15 liable for
temporary total disability baneﬁts from May 23, 2009 through February 28, 2010 and from March 3,
2016 thraug,h November 29, 2010, fora pemed af 7’9 1/7 weeks.

WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE (L), WHAT IS THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF THE INJURY, THE
- ARBITRATOR FINDS A8 FOLLOWS: - oo e e o e

As aresull: {)f the acmdent., Petitioner underwer:t Surgéry on August 4, 2009 CQBS!SHIIG’ ofa hemxlammommy and
discectomy at 1.4-L5 on the right, necessitated bya herniated disk at the Jevel, and a “generous™
hemilaminctomy and partial faceteatomy at 1.5-81 on-the right, which was nece;sxtaied by annuiar bulgmg at the
level, The Arbitrator also notes'that both Dr. Martin Luken and Dr, Michael Treister have recommended further
surgery, including fusion and arthrodesis. The Arbitrator further finds it noteworthy that the petitioner is no
longer working in a recopnized regular position of employment for the respondent 2nd is now working within
significant physical restrictions ordered by Dr. Luken and pursuant to the FCE that was dore.

‘Rased on the above, and the record taken as a whole, the Arbitrator finds that Petitiongr sustained permanent
parual dasabxilty 1o the extent Gf 75% person-as-a-whole pursuanr. to §8(d)2 of the Act.

‘WITH RESPECT TO ISSUE (M), SHOULD PENALTIES BE IMP{)SEE} UPDN THE RL‘SP()NDENT
THE ARBIT RATOR FINDS AS ¥ GLLGWS

' The Arbitrator finds that penalties and attorneys fees should not be imposed upon the respondent, Although the
evidence admitied at heanng indicates that the respondent had sufﬁc;ent information on the accident date
regarding the details of the accident and the condition of the petitioner that would suggest benefits should have
been provided pursuant to the Act, the respondent was entitled to rely on the opinfons of its evaluating

physicians to deny compétisability. ‘Therefore, penalties are not appropriaie in this case and are thefefore
denied,
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OPINION

Claimant, Joan Anderson, filed an application for adjustment of claim pursuant to the
Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) (820 ILCS 305/1 to 30 (West 2008)), alleging she
sustained injuries to her right hand and thumb and seeking benefits from the employer, Steak
‘11 Shake. Following a hearing, the arbitrator found that claimant sustained accidental injuries
to her right hand that were causally related to her employment on May 30, 2008. The
arbitrator awarded claimant (1) 152 weeks’ temporary total disability (TTD) benefits (June
11, 2008, through January 18, 2010, and February 15, 2010, through fune 9, 2011); (2)
reasonabie and necessary medical expenses excluding a single billing which was denied
based upon evidentiary issues; and (3) 11274 weeks’ permanent partial disability (PPD)
benefits, representing a 55% loss of use of claimant’s right hand. : _

On review, the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Commission (Commission) modified the
arb1t1:at0r s decision by reducing her TTD award and ordering the employer to pay claimant
128% weeks’ TTD benefits (June 11, 2008, through January 18, 2010, and February 15,
2010, through December 24, 2010). It otherwise affirmed and adopted the arbitrator’s
decision. On judicial review, the circuit court of Peoria County confirmed the Commission’s
decision. The employer appeals.

1. BACKGROUND

The following factual recitation is taken from the evidence presented at the arbitration
hearing conducted on October 24 and 29, 2013.

The employer operates a chain of casual fast-food restaurants., In March 2004, claimant
began working for the employer as a waitress. On the date of her alleged accident, May 30,
2008, her position with the employer was best described as waitress/trainer/manager.
Claimant testified that, on that date, the restaurant was very busy and she was trying to keep
the dining room cleaned up to keep the flow of customers moving as quickly as possible.
Although she was a manager of that shift, she started bussing tables and carrying tubs of dirty
dishes out of the dining room to help keep the customer flow moving. Claimant testified they

were “busy as all get out.” Further, she testified that she was moving very swiftly, and, as she

was wiping down a table, she felt and heard a loud “pop” in her right hand. Claimant testified
she immediately felt an excruciating pain (like she had never felt before) that began in her
thumb.and shot all the way across her hand. She stated, prior to that moment, she had never
experienced any pain in her right hand and had never treated for pain to her right hand or any
joints in her body.

Claimant testified she immediately informed one of the other managers on duty about the
accident. The next day, she informed the appropriate district manager, This testimony was
unrebutted.

After going home, claimant sought an appointment with her primary care physician.
However, -because she could not be seen that day, she obtained an appointment with her
husband’s physician, Dr. Daniel Hoffman.

Dr. Hoffman’s treatment notes establish that claimant presented with symptoms of right
hand swelling. He noted tenderness and swelling over the dorsal aspect of the right hand.
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Dr. Hoffiman diagnosed a soft tissue injury, prescribed pain mediéation, and referred claimant
to Dr. Jeffrey Traina, an orthopedic specialist.

On June 11, 2008, claimant was examined by Dr. Traina. She gave a history of cleaning a
table while at work and experiencing sudden and intense pain in her right hand. A physical
examination revealed tenderness at the base of the second metacarpal, localized swelling in
the same arca, and otherwise normal symptoms. Dr. Traina_gave an initial impression of
edema with pain over the second metacarpal suggestive of overuse. He ordered claimant off
work, prescribed a wrist brace and anti-inflammatory medication, and ordered her to return in
10 days.

On June 23, 2008, claimant followed up with Dr, Traina, who observed that claimant’s
symptoms had improved, but still remained. He continued his order that claimant remain off
work and ordered her to follow up with him in three weeks.

On July 24, 2008, Dr. Traina ordered a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scan, the
results of which he read to show a mild chronic injury to the base of the first metacarpal joint
(i.e., the thumb), with some evidence of degenerative changes in the same area. Following
the MRI, Dr. Traina allowed claimant to return to work with a restriction of not using her
right hand, prescribed physical therapy, and continued anti-inflammatory medication and the
use of a hand brace.

On August 12, 2008, claimant was again examined by Dr. Traina. She reported continued
symptoms of right hand and thumb pain. Dr. Traina ordered continued physical therapy,
continued use of a hand brace, and anti-inflammatories.

From August until October 13, 2008, Dr. Traina ordered a series of treatments, including
a special thumb brace and cortisone injections, all of which were reported to be unsuccessful
in relieving claimant’s symptoms. At that point, Dr. Traina referred claimant to a hand
surgeon.

The next recorded treatment for claimant occurred on June 29, 2609, approximately eight
months after her last appointment with Dr. Traina, when claimant returned to Dr. Hoffman.
Claimant reported continuing pain in her right hand and thumb. Dr. Hoffman observed
swelling and tenderness. He diagnosed possible tendonitis and advised claimant to remain off
work and to follow up with Dr. Traina.

The record contains a treatment report indicating that, on August 31, 2009, claimant
sought treatment from her primary care provider, nurse practitioner Debbie Hayes. The
record also established that nurse Hayes referred claimant to Dr. James Williams, an
orthopedic hand surgeon at Midwest Orthopedic Center.

On October 22, 2009, claimant was examined by Dr. Williams. She gave a history of pain
after wiping tables at work in May 2008. After reviewing all medical treatment records,
Dr. Williams recommended a right thumb joint arthroplasty. The surgical procedure was
performed on November 13, 2009,

A few days after the surgery, claimant injured her thumb when it was caught in a door at
her house. She sought treatment at the emergency department of the local hospital. She was
treated and released. Claimant testified that, after the door incident, her postoperative pain
increased for a short period of time. She further testified that her pain did not significantly
lessen after her surgery.
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On February 25, 2010, claimant underwent a surgical procedure to remove one of the
pins that had been implanted in the previous surgery. On March 4, 2010, she underwent a
second procedure, performed by Dr. Traina, to remove the remaining pins and secure a
surgical implant near the base of her thumb. Follow up surgical procedures were performed
on June 18, 2010, and June 24, 2010. On July 19, 2010, claimant began a regimen of
postoperative physical therapy and reported some relief from her pain. On December 14,
2000, she was discharged from therapy.

Claimant testified that Dr. Traina relocated out of the area. She then attempted to find
another orthopedic specialist, but for various reasons was unable to find one in the Peoria
area. Ultimately, she began treatment with Dr. James Rhodes, an orthopedic specialist
associated with Rush Hospital in Chicago.

On April 6, 2011, Dr. Rhodes first examined claimant. His impression was that
claimant’s continuing symptoms were the result of her surgical procedures. He recommended
further surgery to alleviate her symptoms. Several attempts to schedule an appomtment with
a surglcal specialist were unsuccessful.

On October 19, 2011, claimant was examined by Dr. Robert Wysocki, a board certified
orthopedic specialist, at the employer’s request. Dr. Wysocki attributed the onset of
claimant’s symptomology to the table wiping incident on May 30, 2008. However, he opined
that, while the symptoms manifested as a result of claimant’s table wiping, her current
condition of ill-being was not causally related to her work activities on May 30, 2008. He
reasoned that he would not expect the wiping motions claimant engaged in on that date
would be significant enough to alter the natural progression of a likely degenerative arthritic
condition in her thumb. As to whether claimant’s activities on May 30, 2008, aggravated
clalinaint’s existing arthritic condition, Dr. Wysocki opined that he did not view the wiping
motion as “significant enough trauma” to aggravate a preexisting condition. Dr. Wysocki
placed claimant at maximum medical improvement (MMI) and believed an appropriate
permanent restriction would be no lifting, pushing, or pulling of more than five pounds with
the right hand, and no fine motor use of the right hand. He suggested a functional capacity
evaluation (FCE) to more accurately set claimant’s permanent restrictions.

At the time of the hearing, claimant testified she continued to suffer near constant pain in
the thumb area of her right hand. When told that the only surgical procedure that might
alleviate her condition involved the amputation of the thumb, she elected to forego further
surgical treatment. '

Regarding her daily activities, claimant festified that her employment with the employer
was terminated on September 30, 2008. She received short and long term disability income
through the employer from June 2008 through July 2009. In June 2011, she began working as
a supervisor of a commercial/residential cleaning service where she remained until,
December 2011, when that company relocated. In January 2012, she started her own cleaning
business, supervising the work of two employees. Her employment activities included
scheduling appointments, handling bookkeeping and banking activities, client relations, and
occasionally traveling with her employees to supervise their activities.

Regarding her current physical limitations, claimant testified that her right thumb was
useless, she experienced a constant dull aching sensation, and any bumping of her thumb
caused sharp pain. She further testified that she could “sometimes™ use her right hand,
occasionally carrying a book or a tool. She took daily pain medication prescribed by Hayes.

4.
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The employer introduced video of claimant engaged in utilizing her right hand in
activities such as putting a key in a car door, opening a bottle, carrying small objects,
mopping a floor, and carrying garbage bags and paper towel rolls. The employer also
introduced business logs from cleaning business customers purporting to establish that
claimant herself engaged in cleaning activities rather than merely supervising others. On
rebuttal, claimant testified. that she' could, occasionally, lift and carry small objects by
avoiding the use of her thumb and utilizing her index finger as a replacement for her thumb.
Additionally, a local television news reporter testified for claimant that, in her opinion, the
employer’s video tape had gaps and other signs of possible editing.

The arbitrator found that claimant established she suffered an industrial accident on May
30, 2008, which aggravated the preexisting arthritic condition of her thumb. The arbitrator
noted that the action of wiping down tables so as to keep the flow of customers moving in a
busy restaurant exposed the claimant to a risk of injury greater than that of the general public.
In finding claimant’s injuries were causally related to her employment, the arbitrator noted
that “injuries resulting from a neutral risk are not generally compensable and do not arise out
of the employment, unless the employee was exposed to the risk to a greater degree than the
general public.” The arbitrator noted that, given claimant’s role in supervising the dining
room operation, it would be reasonable to expect that she would perform the task of cleaning
off tables in an expeditious manner to facilitate the efficient flow of customers. Thus,
claimant’s job duties required her to “hurriedly” wipe down multiple tables. The arbitrator
further found that claimant had established she suffered from a preexisting arthritic
condition, which was asymptomatic prior to her activities on May 30, 2008. Additionally, she
found claimant’s work activities on that date were clearly a causative factor in her current

_condition of ill-being. In doing so, the arbitrator referred to Dr. Wysocki’s observation that .

claimant’s work activities on May 30, 2008, cansed “a manifestation of symptoms” while
acknowledging that Dr. Wysocki did not believe that claimant’s current condition was
causally related to. her movements on that date. Despite Dr. Wysocki’s ultimate opinion
regarding causation, the arbitrator determined that the sequence of events established a
sufficient causal link between the May 30, 2008, accident and claimant’s subsequent
condition of ill-being.

Regarding the nature and extent of claimant’s permanent injuries, the arbitrator made
note of claimant’s work restrictions last imposed by Dr. Traina, as well as Dr. Wysocki’s
recommendations regarding the limited use of her right hand. Additionally, the arbitrator
made note of her own observations of claimant at the hearing, pointing out that it was
obvious claimant “suffered significant atrophy and deformity in her right thumb and hand as
a result of the treatment for her right thumb condition that would reasonably inhibit the
functionality of her right hand.” Based upon all the evidence, the arbitrator awarded claimant
a PPD award for a 55% loss of use of her right hand. .

The employer sought review by the Commission, which modified the arbitrator’s award
of TTD benefits, but otherwise affirmed and adopted the arbitrator’s decision. Regarding
causation, the Commission adopted the arbitrator’s neutral-risk analysis. It further noted that
the absence of symptoms prior to May 30, 2008, and the extensive testimony of symptoms
and medical treatment manifesting after that accident date, was sufficient to support a finding
of causation. The Commission further noted that, while there was no express medical opinion
testimony that the May 30, 2008, accident aggravated claimant’s preexisting condition, Dr.

-5-
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Wysocki’s opinion that the incident was not causative of claimant’s condition was
contradicted by all the medical evidence reflecting an ongoing condition that began on the
date of the accident. Regarding the arbitrator’s permanency award, the Commission noted
that the award was supported by the evidence, particularly in view of claimant’s multiple
surgeries and postoperative complications.

+The employer sought judicial review in the circuit court of Peoria County, .which
confirmed the Commission’s decision. This appeal followed.

II. ANALYSIS
A. Arising out of Employment

On appeal, the employer challenges the Commission’s finding that claimant’s injuries
were causally related to her employment. It argues that wiping tables was not within the
purview of claimant’s job duties as a manger and that such an activity did not create an
increased risk of injury for claimant over that experienced by the general public.

To recover benefits under the Act, a claimant bears the burden of proving by a
preponderance of the evidence that his or her injury “arose out of” and “in the course of” the
employment. First Cash Financial Services v. Industrial Comm'n; 367 . App. 3d 102, 105
(2006). Whether a claimant’s injury arose out of and in the course of her employment is a
question of fact for the Commission, and its determination will not be disturbed on review
unless it is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Nascote Indusiries v. Industrial
Comm’n, 353 1ll. App. 3d 1056, 1059-60 (2004). “A finding of fact is contrary to the
manifest weight of the evidence only where an opposite conclusion is clearly apparent.”
Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chzcago V. Illmozs Workem

" Compensation Comm’n, 407 111, App. 3d 1010, 1013 (2011).

A claimant’s injury “arises out of” employment if it “had its origin in some risk
connected with, or incidental to, the employment so as to create a causal connection between
the employment and the accidental injury.” Sisbro, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 207 1. 2d
193, 203 (2003). This court has held there are three types of risks to which an employee
might be exposed: (1) risks distinctly associated with the employment; (2) risks that are
personal to the employee; and (3) ncutral risks that have no particular employment or
personal characteristics. First Cash Financial Services, 367 Tl App. 3d at 105.

Injuries resulting from a risk distinctly associated with employment, ie., an
employment-related risk, are compensable under the Act. Risks are distinctly associated with
employment when, at the time of injury, “the employee was performing acts he was
instructed to perform by his employer, acts which he had a common law or statutory duty to
perform, or acts which the employee might reasonably be expected to perform incident to his
assigned duties.” Caterpillar Tractor Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 129 111. 2d 52, 58 (1989). “A
risk is incidental to the employment where it belongs to or is connected with what an
employee has to do in fulfilling his duties.” Id.

Conversely, “[i]njuries resulting from a neutral risk generally do not arise out of the
employment and are compensable under the Act only where the employee was exposed to the
risk to a greater degree than the general public.” Mefropolitan Water, 407 Ill. App. 3d at
1014. “Such an increased risk may be either qualitative, such as some aspect of the
employment which contributes to the risk, or quantitative, such as when the employee is

-6 -
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~exposed to a common risk more frequently than the general public.” Id. “Neutral risks

include stray bullets, dog bites, lunatic attacks, lightning strikes, bombing, and hurricanes.”
Hlinois Institute of Technology Research Institute v. Industrial Comm’n, 314 1ll. App. 3d 149,
163 (2000). As stated, neutral risks have no particular employment-related characteristics.
First Cash Financial Services, 367 lll. App. 3d at 105.

In this case, the Commission employed a neutral-risk analysis-and determined claimant’s
injury was compensable because she was exposed to a risk to a greater degree than the
general public. As indicated, the employer challenges the Commission’s decision, arguing
that merely wiping a table at work does not create an increased risk of an accident greater
than that to which the general public might be exposed while wiping a table in their own
home. After reviewing the record, we agree with the Commission’s ultimate conclusion that
claimant sustained a compensable injury; however, we find it was unnecessary for the
Commission to reach a neutral-risk analysis as claimant’s injury stemmed from a risk
distinctly associated with her work for the employer. '

Our first step in analyzing risk is to determine whether the claimant’s injuries resulted
from an employment-related risk. See Young v. lllinois Workers' Compensation Comm’'n,

2014 1L App (4th) 130392WC, 23 (stating “when a claimant is injured due to an

employment-related risk *** it is unnecessary to perform a neutral-risk analysis to determine
whether the claimant was exposed to a risk of injury to a greater degree than the general
public™). In this case, claimant was injured while wiping down a table at work. Her
unrebutted testimony established that her duties as a manager were to keep the flow of
customers moving in an efficient manner. She credibly testified that, to that end, she would
on occasion clean and bus tables if necessary to keep the customer flow moving. The
eraployel provided-no evidence to rebut claimant’s cradible testimony. Thus, the-record:
establishes that claimant was injured while engaged in an activity that the employer might
reasonably have expected her to perform in the fulfillment of her job duties. Claimant’s
injury, therefore, resulted from a risk distinctly associated with her employment, and the
manifest weight of the evidence supports the Commission’s ultimate finding of a
compensable injury.

B. Causation—Preexisting Condition

The employer next argues that the Commission’s finding that claimant’s current
condition of ill-being was causally related to her employment was against the manifest
weight of the evidence. Tt maintains that claimant’s condition was solely related to her
preexisting degenerative arthritis and not her employment.

To obtain compensation under-the Act, a claimant must prove that some act or phase of
her employment was a causative factor in her ensuing injuries. Land & Lakes Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 359 111 App. 3d 582, 592 (2005). A work-related injury need not be the
sole or principal causative factor, as long as it was a causative factor in the resulting
condition of ill-being. Sishro, 207 1ll. 2d at 205. A finding by the Commission that a
claimant’s injuries are causally related to employment activities is a question of fact, and the
Commission’s finding will not be overturned unless it is against the manifest weight of the
evidence. Id. : '

Here, the Commission found claimant’s asymptomatic condition prior to May 30, 2008,
followed by the immedtate onset of symptoms after the work accident was sufficient to

-7-
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establish a causal relationship between her subsequent condition. of ill-being and her work
accident. The Commission further noted that the medical evidence established that claimant
suffered from a degenerative arthritic condition with symptoms manifesting only after the
May 30, 2008, accident. It is well-settled that the Commission may infer causation from a
sequence of lack of symptoms prior to an industrial accident, with symptom manifestation
immediately following the accident. Id at 207-08; Freeman United Coal Mining Co. v.
Industrial Comm’n, 318 1. App. 3d 170, 175 (2000). That particular sequence of events
occurred in the instant matter and it was within the Commission’s purview to find that the
sequence cstablished the causative link necessary for awarding compensation.

The employer argues that Dr. Wysocki’s causation opinion that claimant’s condition was
not causally related to her employment was the only evidence regarding causation that the
Commission should have considered. We disagree. It is within the Commission’s purview to
weigh medical testimony and its decision will not be overturned unless it is against the
manifest weight of the evidence. Roper Contracting v. Industrial Comm’n, 349 1ll. App. 3d
500, 506 (2004). Moreover, as the Commission noted, even Dr. Wysocki acknowledged that
claimant was symptom free prior to the alleged accident, and the table wiping caused
“symptom manifestation.” Given the undisputed record regarding the sequence of events, it
cannot be said that the Commission’s finding that claimant’s current condition of ill-being
was causally related to the May 30, 2008, accident was against the manifest weight of the
evidence.

C. Medical Expenses
The employer further contends that the Commission’s award of medical expenses was

- 4gainst'the manifest weight of the-evidence: However, since this argument is-based -solely = oo -

upon the premise that the Commission’s finding on causation was erroneous, a premise
which we have rejected, we also reject this contention without the need for further analysis.
Tower Automotive v. Hlinois Workers® Compensation Comm’n, 407 1ll. App. 3d 427, 436
(2011).

Additionally, the employer points out that the Commission awarded a double recovery
for a bill submitted by Comprehensive Solutions, which was included in a Medicaid lien
previously paid. Claimant agrees that the medical benefit award should be modified to reflect
the prior payment to Comprehensive Solutions.

D. TTD Benefits .
The employer also maintains that the Commission’s award of TTD benefits was against

‘the manifest weight of the evidence. In this regard, the employer alleges claimant failed to

establish causation between her condition of ill-being and her employment. Having
previously rejected the employer’s contention that the Commission’s finding on causation
was erroneous, we decline to overturn the Commission’s award of TTD benefits on this
basis. /d.

Alternatively, the employer maintains that the Commission etred in awarding TTD
benefits for periods where the claimant failed to establish that she was unable to work. TTD
benefits are available from the time an injury incapacitates an employee from work until such
time as the employee is as far recovered or restored as the permanent character of the injury
will permit. Westin Hotel v. Industrial Comm’n, 372 I1l. App. 3d 527, 542 (2007). Our review
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of the record establishes that the Commission’s award of TTD benefits corresponded to time
periods when claimant was under a work restriction that prevented her from returning to
work. The Commission’s TTD award was not against the manifest weight of the evidence.

E. PPD Benefits

Finally, the employer argues-that-the Commission’s award of PPD benefits was against
the manifest weight of the evidence. The determination of permanent partial loss of use of a
member is not capable of a mathematically precise determination, and estimation of partial
loss is peculiarly the function of the Commission. Pemble v. Industrial Comm’n, 181 il
App. 3d 409, 417 (1989). Because of the Commission’s expertise i the area of workers’
compensation, its finding on the question of the nature and extent of disability should be
given substantial deference. /d It is for the Commission to assess the credibility of the
witnesses, resolve conflicts in the evidence, assign weight to be accorded the evidence, and
draw reasonable inferences from the evidence. Hosteny v. Illinois Workers' Compensation
Comm’n, 397 1I. App. 3d 665, 674 (2009). As such, the Commission’s decision regarding
the nature and extent of a claimant’s disability will not be set aside on review unless it is
contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Pemble, 181 Ill. App. 3d at 417.

Here, in reaching its permanency determination, the Commission relied upon the credible
testimony of claimant regarding the restrictions to her work and daily activities; the medical
opinions as to claimant’s permanent restrictions; and to a significant degree, the arbitrator’s
observation of claimant’s “significant atrophy and deformity in fclaimant’s] right thumb and
hand.” Based upon the totality of the record, we cannot say that the Commission’s finding on
permanency was against the manifest weight of the evidence.

1. CONCLUSION

The judgment of the circuit court of Peoria County, confirming the decision of the
Commission, is modified by agreement to reflect that the medical expense incurred for
services rendered by Comprehensive Solutions was paid. The judgment as modified is
affirmed.

Affirmed as modified.

PRESIDING JUSTICE HOLDRIDGE, specially concurring.

I join in the majority’s judgment. I write separately to clarify what I consider to be the
proper analysis governing claims like those presented in this case. The majority concludes
that the claimant’s injury was compensable because the act of wiping tables was “distinctly
associated with [her] employment.” I disagree. T would uphold the Commission’s analysis of
the claim under neutral risk principles. In my view, a neutral risk analysis is required by our
recent decision in Adcock v. Workers’ Compensation Comm’n, 2015 1. App (2d)
130884 WC, 1 38-44 and other precedents. :

As we noted in Adcock, our supreme court has ruled that the purpose of the Act is to
protect the employee against risks and hazards which are “peculiar to the nature of the work
he is employed to do.” Orsini v. Industrial Comm’n, 117 111, 2d 38, 44 (1987). Accordingly,
“[flor an injury to have arisen out of the employment, the risk of injury must be a risk
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peculiar to the work or a risk to which the employee is exposed to a greater degree than the
general public by reason of his employment.” Id at 45; see also Karastamatis v. Industrial
Comm 'n, 306 1. App. 3d 206, 209 (1999) (ruling that “in order for an injury to arise out of
one’s employment, the risk must be: (1) a risk to which the public is generally not exposed
but that is peculiar to the employee’s work, or (2) a risk to which the general public is

exposed but.the.employee is exposed to a greater degree™). If neither of these factors apply, .

i.e., if the injury is caused by an activity of daily life to which all members of the public are
equally exposed (or by a risk personal to the employee), then there can be no recovery under
the Act, even if the employee was required to perform that activity by virtue of his
employment. Adcock, 2015 IL App (2d) 130884WC, 9 38. In such cases, the risk leading to
the infury is not “connected with” or “incidental to” the employment; rather, it is merely a
personal risk or a risk of everyday living, /d.

Applying these principles in Adcock, we held that, where an employee is injured on the
job while performing an activity of everyday living (such as bending, stooping, walking, or
reaching), a neutral risk analysis governs the employee’s claim, even if he was required to
perform the act at issue as part of his employment duties. /d. | 38-44. We have applied a
neutral risk analysis to similar claims in other cases. See id qY40-42 (citing Kemp v.
Industrial Comm’n, 264 1. App. 3d 1108 (1994); Komatsu Dresser Co. v. Industrial
Comm’n, 235 TIl. App. 3d 779 (1992); Nabisco Brands, Inc. v. Industrial Comm’n, 266 Ill.
App. 3d 1103 (1994)).

Moreover, as we noted in ddcock, our supreme court’s decision in Caterpillar Tractor
Co. v. Industrial Comm'n, 129 1ll. 2d 52, 58 (1989) does not require a different conclusion.
See Adcock, 2015 1L App (2d) 130884 WC, § 39. In Caterpillar, our supreme court ruled that

“Itfypically, an injury arises out of one’s employment if, at the time of the occurrence,-the- -«

employee was performing acts he was instructed to perform by his employer, acts which he
had a common law or statutory duty to perform, or acts which the employee might
reasonably be expected to perform incident to his assigned duties.” Caterpillar Tractor Co.,
129 111. 2d at 58. Although we agreed that injuries caused by such acts “typically” arise out of
the employment, we noted in Adcock that this is not always the case. We ruled that “[t]he
Commission should not award benefits for injuries caused by everyday activities like
walking, bending, or turning, even if an employee was ordered or instructed to perform those
activities as part of his job duties, unless the employee’s job required him to perform those
activities more frequently than members of the general public or in a manner that increased
the risk.” Adcock, 2015 1L App (2d) 130884 WC, ] 39. In other words, we held that a neutral
risk analysis should govern such claims. /d.

In the instant case, the claimant was injured while performing an activity of everyday
living (wiping a table). Thus, pursuant to Adcock, Orsini, and other precedents, she may
recover benefits under the Act only if she can show that she faced the risk of injury posed by
wiping tables more frequently or in a qualitatively greater manner than do members of the
general public. We may not award benefits merely because wiping tables was part of her job
duties. In other words, we must apply a neutral risk analysis to her claims.

Applying a neutral risk analysis, the Commission correctly found that the claimant was
exposed to a risk greater than that encountered by the general public. The Commission
adopted the arbitrator’s finding that the claimant had established both a quantitative and
qualitative degree of increased risk. As to the quantitative degree of increased risk, the
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claimant’s unrebutted testimony was that she engaged in wiping down “tables” on May 30,
2008. That distinguishes the claimant from a typical member of the general public, who
might wipe down a single table in his or her own kitchen or dining room. As to the
qualitative degree of increased risk, the record clearly supports the Commission’s finding.
The record established that, at the time of her injury, the claimant was working at a hurried

...pace “because the restaurant was “busy as all get out.” It was the..claimant’s unrebutted

testimony that the injury occurred while she was in a hurried state, attempting to clean the
tables as quickly as possible in order to keep the flow of customers moving. Accordingly, the
Commission reasonably concluded that the hurried nature of the claimant’s activities might
increase the risk that an injury would occur while she was performing her job duties.

In my view, the Commission applied the proper analysis (/.e., a neutral risk analysis) and
reached the proper conclusion. The Commission’s findings were not against the manifest
weight of the evidence. [ would therefore affirm the Commission’s decision in all respects.

JUSTICE HUDSON joins in this special concurrence.
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DECISION A‘ND OPINIDN QN'R‘EVIEW

Tlmely Pamion for Review having been filed by the Respondﬁnt herein and notice given
to all parties, the Commission, after: considering the issues of accident, causal connection, -
tempotary total disability, medical expenses, prospective medical care, and permanent. partial
disabifity and being. advised of the facts and law, modifies temporary total disability and
otherwise, affirms and adopts the Decision of the A:bzh'aior which is attached hereto and made a
part. her¢of.,

FINDINGS OF FACTS AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

= Petitioner was a 45 year -old emplnyee of Respondent, who described. her job as
_waztri:ssz’tramerfmanagcr Petitioner began ‘working for Respondent as a waitress in-
March 2004 and was promoted to trainér before she became manager. Petitioner testified
she had worked since she was 15, always in the food industry. She had gone to beauty
-schael and became & licensed beautxcmn, bui she always did’ somethmg with ber hands.
On the date of accident, May 30, 2008, Petitioner testified that they were busy and she
was trymg to keep the dining room cleaned up. Petitioner stated she was bussing tables
and carrying back bus tubs, Petitiorier testified she was wiping off the table and she was
“in & hurry and she had wxped off the table and felt and heard a pop ip her right hand.
Pemmm:r stated that it was really loud and the pain was excruciating like she had never
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feit-before; u just shot up ali the way across her hand. Petitioner testzﬁed that she had

never experienced any type of pain tn her right hand prior fo that and she had never
before then received any treatment with a doctor for that. Petitioner testified of no ;mor
treatment for pain in any ;ornts in her body prior o this accident.

l”emxﬁner tesufied she told me managers on tiuly (either Matt Buyer m‘ P&nl .‘:.haf"fer sha

'mld Brooke Tucker (thf: generaj mmager) and other managﬁ:s She ‘believed that Ms.
“Tucker was off until that Monday and she stated that she had also advised Dan Roark the
district manager, of the incident. Petitioner again indicated that she felt the pop in her.

right hand when she was wiping off = table (indicating:some movement),. Petitioner
testified that she was in a hurry that day because Lhey were busy. Petitioner stated that as
she was. wiping the table she feit and heard the pop in her hand around the thumb joint
around her wrist and she felt excruciating pain. She again indicated they were- busy “as all
get. out,” Petitioner subsequently did seek. medical treatment that afiernoon, May 30,

- 2008, Pefitioner went to Dr. Hoffman; she could not get in to see her dodtor so she saw

her spouse’s doctor. Dr. Hoffman examined Petitioner and- referred her to Dr. Trzana, an

- orthopedic surgeon, abou{ June 10-11, 2008, Petitioner saw Dr. Triana who ordered an

MR and examined Petitioner. Petitioner had the MRI and returned for a follow up with

g Dr. Triana; in the interim Petitioner had seen her family doctor, Debbie Hayes; whom
~Petitioner had been seeing for 20 years Petitioner testified her doctor referred her to D,

‘Williams, another  orthopedic: surgeot, Petitioner indicated she went to the other

orthopedic doctor because Dr. Triana said the condition was out of his realm, out of h;Sj_

specialty and he was kgt m}mﬂ}mt}! “with it Petitioner testified that Dr. Triana stated

that the condition was ‘more complicated than what he felt comfortable- with ‘and he

:wanted Petitioner to see a hand specialist. Petitioner had first seen Dr. Williams in

October 2009 and subsequently had surgery to the thumb area of her hand on November

13, 2009. Petitioner understood the surgery was to- replace the thumb joint: Post surgery,
Petitioner was' p?aced in an Ace bandage and then into ma cast. She had treated with him
until January 2010 and was. released. Petitioner sinled then the pain had increased and
was a litile' bit worse, the surgery had not helped; it was bad, Petitioner indicated in.
November (Nuvember 2009, shorily after the surgery) she had gone to the emergency
room, Petitiorier indicated she had been letting the dog out {big black lab) and was not
going fast-enough for the dog. The dog hit the door and the door hit her hand. Petitioner

stated that she was worried that she bad messed it up and that was. why she had gone to

- the emergency room; to get her hand che:ked out to be sure it was okay. Petitioner had

been emmmed at the ER and released. Petitioner testified that the incident did i ingrease |
the pain in her thumb for a litde while. She indicated that the dog incident had made it &

Jittle-bit worse but then it went back to her normal level of pain. ‘Petitioner testified she

s:hd ‘not go back for treatment. for that particular mcxdent

zPetmener festified in February 2010 she had & subsequent surgery. Petitioner stated at
that time her body started to reject the joint and the pin that was holdmg the joint in

actually came out. through her hand. Petitioner testified she Had gone back to Dr. Triana -

and the doctor said he had to take the joint back out because Petitioner’s body ‘was

- rejecting it. The replacement of the thumb joint had been done by Dr. Williams but she
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had gone back. tn Dr. Trigna to bave him Took at it when the pins were coming out..
Petitioner indicated Dr. Triana went in and took the joint out and the hardware and put a
spacer in. Petitioner indicated there was an absaess amuﬁd the bone sa the doctor wanted
to test it to smake sure it was okay and he went in again about a week later and put in

' ﬂmrapy at Atrium at Methodist, and she went and had complated that. Petitioner testified

“her pain had gotten no better at all post surgery-and. the more she moved it, the more it

hurt. Petitioner. stated. that it would cramp and she noted that it shrank, the muscle was
pone, and it was disfigured. Petitioner had another surgery with Dr. Triana in Jate June -
2010. Petitioner indicated that she understood that the scar was too wide and had deep

tissue growing out of it and they:had to go in and cut that off that tissue. Petitioner had

fu.rther therapy after that surgery at Atrium at Methodist.

Petitioner testified after that, Dr. Triana [eft town 50 she did not haVe a dogtor and she
had tried calling other arthopedic doctors. Petitioner stated that she had called Dr.
Mlmelfeit‘ however, when he found out about the surgery Dr, Triana had performed, he -
refused to see her. Petitioner testified she iried to return to Dr. Williams but he also
refused to see Petitioner as she had gone to Dr. Triana: She indicated she had tred every
doctor in Peoria. Petitioner {estified that she evenmally found Dr. Rhode, from Rush in

-another jeint (around March 5-6, 2010), Post surgery, Petitioner was referred for physical. .

Chicago. Petitioner stated that Dr, Rhode would come down there every ‘other ‘week so

she went 10 see him April 6, 2011 (Dr Rhode depasatmn was noted). Petitioner believed
she had seen Dr, Rhode aboul 10 times;

ndaer fesified b she ww’iaﬂ i padn-and-that-was when the susele atrophied e
more and became more disfgured. Dr. Rhode wanted Petitioner to see Dr. Frederick at
Rush as he is a hand specialist who deals with more comphcatad cases; Petitioner
indicated they had been trying to fake an appointment and’ get. it approved threugh Wwe,

‘but she did not see him as Respondent sent: Petitioner to see Dr. Wysacki (for a §12

examination [IME], October 19, 2011} who was in: the same group. After the IME she

~received a call from Dr. Frederick’s nurse saying they could not see Petitioner. She

indicated that was kind of the end of things. Petitioner had not seen any other doctors
since. Pefitioner testified that she understood her opuuns for treatmient was either leave it

as'is and deal with the pain, or have her thimb cut off and have her index fi inger' moved
{here, but that did not guarantee the pain would go away. She indieated the Dr, could not

say if it would.be any better wﬂh that surgery. The other option was getting the joint
fused so it looked normal, but -again, that would not take the pain away. Petilicner
indicated at her age (51) she did not care how her hand losked, She had been through 4
surgeries and had enough and ihiey could not say “further care waould make it any better,
Petitioner testified that it hurts all of the time; i is a dull ache all the time. Petitioner

“stated that. if she bumps:it ar strains it, it will hurt and now her wholé hand is startmg to

cramp up: Petitioner testified the dottor said her thumb was of no useful consequence and
she agreed prei‘ty much with that

Petitioner stated that she was taken off work when she initially saw Dr.. Hoffmzm, May
30, 2008 and then Dr. Triana kKind of went back and forth. Dr. Triana would sometimes
say she could do one handed work. {work lef] handed only) but that was about it.

G e e

e
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- Petitioner indicated that if she would be in more pain he would take her back off of work.'
Petifionér was terminated by Respondent on September 30, 2008, Petitioner did not work
“again until June 2011 because she had to. She indicated her teen son: had committed
suicide in their backyard and she needad money, Petitioner testified she had a neighbor
who had a cleaning business and she offered Petitioper some thwgs to take dp
Petitioner’s time to get out of the house. Felitioner testified at that point Dr, Rhode had
released Petitioner to one handed work and Petitioner worked for her ne;ghher (Linders
Cleaners). Petitioner testified she worked one handed 4 more of a supervisor, she would
dust occasionally with her left hand, but it was more supervisory. Petitioner no longer
worked for them as the Linder’s had moved tg lawa. Petitioner currently does work as
~she owns hér own cleaning business with two employees. Petitioner sets the-
appointiesnts dnd takes the checks- and goes wilh the employees to make sure they are
doing the job, and she talks to the: customers to make: sure they are happy. She is still
released to only one hand work, Petitioner testified she does try sometimes 1o use her
right band; she had learned to adapt, Petitioner indicated you cannot get dressed with one
hand and you caninot do a lot of things; yow cannot te your shoes with one hand; with no:
right thumb use she indicated she had learned to mampuiste with getting dressed and
cooking. She can use her flngertips but that is cavses pain; she can lift with her fingertips
as she does not have a choice, Petitioner stated that she does garden as her spouse will till
- and she tries to use her l¢ft hand. She may have to balance with her right ham:l, but
nothing heavy. She: mdxcated she can steady '3 pan with' her hand when cooking an egg,
‘but she cannot pick up the pan and move it. Petitioner testified her hand was atrophymg,
fading away from non-use. Petitioner stated that she takes Norco occasiopally for the pam

SR I ( et ates I her. prmary.doctor); howevgr she. tries  not-fi alie it bacausa it s e

-addxctwe Pemmncr md;cated li’:at if she isina iat of pam and ca.nnat sleep it w:H dull the

long that it oniy dulls the pain a fittle; Other thaﬂ her pnmary dc:clcrr shc was not seemg
any other doctors. Petitioner stated  (hat she had been on short’ term. ﬁﬁd long term
disability. Petitiorier agrcf:d there is an ltemzzat:on of outstanding medical bills (PX17)
and she indicated it was accurafe and up to date. Petitioner had no plans of seeking
additional med:ca! care as there was nothing else they could do.

The Commission finds that there is no évidence Petitioner had any problems of significance with
her right hand or thumb pnor to this reported incident. The medical records support her.ongoing
complaints and sympfomis since ihe date of accident throughout her treatment and ' is consistent
with Petitioher’s testimony, The surveillance video does not reveal -anything to be confrary fo
Petitioner’s testimony. Petitioner had ‘some apparent pre-existing mild arthritic condition, but
again there was no evidence of symploms pror to this incident. The evidence and. testimony
3appears gonsistent and suppartlve that Petitioner had sustained an accidént May 30, 2008 and
there is evidence in support of a causal relationship thh the medical records noting her history
of injury on the job similar to her testimony. There was a penad from Gctabcr 13,-2008 through
June 29, 2009 where there is no evidenced treatment, which raises the issue of an ongoing causal
connection-given the appmxzmaie & month gap in treatment. Petitioner’s complaints, ‘symploms
and. findings thereaffer are still consisient’ with the 2008 treatment and then throughout the
rernainder of her treatment (ihrough znjechons and the multiple surgenes) up to her testimony’ at _
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* hearing. Pem:ener clearly evidenced and the Arbitrator had the oppartunity to view Petitioner’s -
tight hand and :humb 16 'see the end result While there is no expianaﬂon for the break in
treativient, everything is still consistént and supportive ‘of an ongoing causal connecnun tor
Petitioner’s current condirion of ill-being, despite Respondent’s IME’s (Dr. Wysocki} opinion
that the incident did not cause or aggravate a pre-existing eondition, ¢ given the treating medical
records cieaﬂy reflecting -the ongoing condition ‘since the date of this incident. Petitioner’s.
testimony is really unrebutted and the evidence and testimony does supporl a finding  that
Pétitioner sustained an accident thai arcse out of and in the course of her employment with the
evidence further supporting- a causal connection (cause or aggravation of a pre-existing
‘condition) to her current condition of ill-being.. The Commission finds. the decision of the
A.rb;tramr as net cantmry tn the wexght. of the evndenee and he:reme affums and aclopts the.

ca_usal wnne:cnon

The Comumnission notes; regarding the issue of Eempc&rary total d:sabxl:ty (TTD) that the
Ashitrator found that Petitioner was entitled 10 an award of 152-3/7 weeks of temporary. total
disability benefits (6/11/08-1/18/10 & 2/15/10-6/9/11) at a rate of $442.31 per week under §8(b)
of the Act ($67,420.68 total TTD). Respondent paid $-0- in TTD benefits and received a credit
of $19,083.60 for Long & Short term diszbility paid (o Petitioner. The Commission finds the first
awarded period of TTD fully supported by the evidence presented by Petitioner. Afier the initial
surgery. and some recovery tiume, Petitioner ‘was- released fromi the care of Dr. Williams:
Petitioner. did remain symptomatic and Petitioner ‘had ewdem:ed postvoperanvc complications

e SotgRE -Farther-eare-which- faquired- sdditionnl—rgloat - wrosedutey - andy unfortimately e iy

_ compiic:auons, the final surgery being irrigation and debndﬁmcm and wound closure June 24,
2010. The medical records indicated a three o six month recovery period post. surgery Given.
Petitioner’s apparently poor recovery ate the Commission considers her recovery at six montls,
December 24, 2010 (as the ‘assumed MM] date) At that point Petitioner’s condition appeared to
have stabllazecifplaseaued Medical récords ‘are rather silent as to si&tmg spﬁmf ically her work -
status, but thére is no evidence Petiticner. had reached maximum miedical improvement or that
her condition had in any way stabilized prior {o that point. It is also clear that Petitioner did not -
first 'see Dr. Rhode until Apnl 6, 2011, when ke then took Petitioner off of work, and it is not -
ciearly evidenced what went-on during that interim périod. The appomnnenis with Dr. Rhiode
give no indication: of any real treatment which further supports the position that Petitioner’s
condition had by then stabilized. Given the documentation of the expected recovery period, and
the gap in documented treatment, it is diffiéult to find Petitioner entitled to any lost time benefits
with the start of seeing Dr. Rhode in April 2011 when then there was. no clear treatment
provided. Additionally; Dr. Rbode was also Petitioner’s third choice of ‘treaters’. The
Commission, therefore, modifies-the TTD award 10 find Petitioner proved entitiement to benefits -
June 11, 2008 thmugh January 18, 2010 and February 15, 2010 through December 24, 2010
(128-6/7 weeks at $442.31 per. week [total TTD=856,994, 80} with Respondent entitled to the
disability credits totaling $19,083.60). The Commission finds the decision of the Arbitrator not
totally ¢ontrary to the weight of the evidence and herem modifies the Arhztmtar s finding as to-
total temporary dnsabzhty as noled: above,
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The Commission-furthier finds, wnh the above fi inding -of accident and causai cnnnectmn 1o

- Petitioner’s condition ‘of tlinbamg, thiat the medical records of her treatment consistent. with the
lestimony. . Accordingly the Commission finds. that Petitioner et the burden of proving
entitlement to the awarded benefiis and affirms the award as is regarding medical expenses. The
Commission. finds Dr. Rhode as a third choice of medical providers and that there had been a
significant gap in treatment before Petitioner even sought out his care. “The Commission can find

the decision of the Arbitrator as not contiary to the weight of the evidence, end, herein, aﬂ’xfms
and adopts the Arbitrator's finding as to medical expenses/prospective medical care.

The Commtssmn wuh the above ﬁndmg of acmdent and causai cﬂnmcnon ta her condition ﬁf
treatment consistent with testmmnv and affirms the awaré as is io ﬁnd Petrtxcmer met the: burden
of proving entitlement to the awarded PPD benefits.. The awarded PPD benefils: are weil
supported with the gvidence, especially given the multipleé surperies and post-operative
-complications. The Comnmission finds the decision of the Asbitrator as not contrary 1o the weight -
-of the evidence, and, harcxm aﬁimls and adopis the. Ari:rltrator & ﬁndmg as-lo Petmanent partial
disability.:

s THEREFGRE O’RDERED BY THE COMMISSIGN that the Decision of the
Arbitrator filed January 3, 2014, {other than the below noted TTD madlﬁcatmm’) is: hereby'
. afﬁﬂned and adoptcd

1T 18 THER.EFORE ORDERED BY THE: COWISSION that Respﬁndant pay to
Pefitioner the sum of $442.31 per week for a period of 128-6/7 weeks, that being the period of
temporary {otal incapacity for work under §8(b) of the. Act: Respondent entitled to a credit of .
- $19,083.60 for short lerm and long term disability benefits paid to Petitioner.

IT IS FURTHER ORDER.EE} BY ’FHE COMMISSION that Rmpondent pay to Petitioner
the sum of $398.08 per week for a period of 112.75 weeks, as provided in §8(e)(9) of the Act, for
the reason that the i m;unes sustained caused the 55% loss of use of Petitioner’s right hand

AT I8 FURTHER ORDERE{) BY THE COMMISSION that- Resaond&nt shall pay. all
reasonable and necessary medical bills for services, with the exception of the medical bills from
Dr, Blair Rhode, as provided in §8(a) and §8.2 of the Act, subject to the fee scheditle.
Respondent is not liable for medical bills inciirred by Petitioner for the services of Dir. Rhode.

1T 1S FURTHER ORDERED BY THE CDMMISSK}N that the" I{Espundeﬁt pay 1o
Petitioner interest under §19(n) ﬁfihe Act, if any.
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T IS FURTHER ORDERED BY THE CC}MM'!SSION fhat the Respondent shall have

credil for all amounts paid, if any, to-or on beha!f of the' Petitionér on account of said accidental
injury.

Bond for removal af this cause fo the Circuit Court by Respandeut is hereby. ﬁxed at the
sum of $75,000.00, The party commencing the proceedings for review in the Circuit Court shall
file with the Commission a Notice of Intent to File for Revsew in Clrouit Court.

j’ o

ad L. Gare

DATED: OV 2 kzmg _

0-9/24/14
DLG/sf
45
Stephen Mathis
Mario Basurio-
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ILLiNGES WGRKERS‘ COMPENSATION GOMM!SS%QN
NOT!CE OF ARB!TRATOR ﬁEGiSiQﬁ

ANDERSON, JOAN Case#  11WC002786
Employse/Pefitioner. ' ﬁ 4 "l"? C C @ i 2
-STEAK?‘S SHAKE

Emplcyeriﬁespondem

On 1/3/2014, an arbitratmu decision on this case was ﬁied with the Nlinols Workers' Ccmpensanon
Commission in Chmago, a copy uf which is enclosed.

If the Commissich reviews this award, interest of 0.09% shall accrue from the ciate listed above to the day
‘before the date of payment; however, 1f an amplo}ec s appeal results i in either o change or a decrepse in this
award, interest shall not acerue.

A copy of ihis.'dec:isim is mailed to _the'ft}llo_whig parties:

e

0162 CUSACK GILFILLAN & Q'DAY
DANIEL P CUSACK

415 HAMILTON BLVD,

PEDRIA; IL 516021102

1832 ALHOLM MONAHAN KLAUKE 5T AL
GEORGE F KLAUKE JR

271K LASALLE ST BUITE 450

CHICAGO, WL 8060+
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STATE OF ILLINOIS ) [ injured workers' Benefit Fund (§4¢d)
7 _ }&:& D Rate de;usmwnt Fund (§R(2Y)
COUNTY OFPEORIA ) \ (] second 1njiry Fund (§8(6)18).
' - None of the ahove

ELLINGIS WGRKERS’ COMPENSAT?Q"E CQMTVIISSIGN

ssmmmossemos 14771012

JOAN ANDERSON | Cuse # i1 WC 02786
Empi@ye:e/?et:tmnar '

v. ' Consolidated cases;
STEAR N SHAKE

Employer/Respondent

Aw-dpplication for Adjustmeit of Claim was filed | in this matter, and 2 Nance of Hearmg was matled to each party,
The matter was heard by the Menorable Mally Dearing, Asbitrator of the Commiission, inthe city of Peoria, on
October 24, 2013 and Octbber 29, 2013, After reviewing all of the evidence presented, the Arbitrator hereby makes
findmgs on the disputed issues checked below, and attaches those findings to this document,

'D;sr_{umngissum

'A D Was Respondr:nt tr»pe,ratmof ur;der and subjec; to the i[iinms Workers Qempensauon or Qc;cupaisonal
' mssaaen Al ’ o

Was there an ampioyea—emplcyer relationship?
@ Did an accident oceur that grose out of and in the course 05 ?at;nonerg employment by Respomient‘?
D What was the date of the m:cxdent’?
. Was. timciy notice cf the accident ziven ta Respondent?
. Is Petitiopar's current condition of ill-being causally related to the injury?
D What were Petitioner's earnings?
. D What was Petitioner's age at the time of the sceident?
D What was Petitiones’s marital status at the time of the accident?
. Werg the medical services that were pmv:ded ta Petitioner reasonable and necessary? Has Rasmmdem
paid all appmpnate chargas for all reasonable and fecessary medical services?
What tgmpmary benefits are in dmpurc? .
L1TPD [ Maintenance X TTD
L - <} What is the nature and extent of the tnjury'7
M- D Stould penaltes or fees be imposed upon Responident?
N, [_]15 Respondent due any credit?
0. D Other

i -=‘_* beoy -,m o zﬂ-' o .f“i‘u'»"

?‘f

JCArbOve 210 !ﬂﬂ ¥, Rmdoipif bmn‘f ﬁé’ 200 Chicage, L 6950{ 3137214 651.’ Toil free 396/332- 033 Webane: www, m r:c 1 gnv
Doyl ofives: Cotfrizvillz 4153003450 Peoria SOUGINIGG - Rockford B15/987.7292  Springfield 21777837084
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On M4y3ﬂ, 2008, Respondent was bperéting.under and s:ubj'c'stfgq the provisions of the Act.

[

On -this date, an'ﬂrﬂ?iﬁyiﬂﬁ*ernpfoyet rtlaﬁbnﬁhip did exist beftwee:ﬂ?i:iitiqnef and':]"{ésgendé:n_t,

‘On this date; Petitioner did 'sl;;éiéin.an aceident that arose out of and in the course of employment.
Timely notice of this accident was given to Respondent.

Qgtitianef’s current condition of i"li—heing_ig causally related to the accident.

'i:*i. 'thé year preceding the: injury’,_ Petitioner earned $34,459.92; the average weekly wage was $663.46. -
On the date of asmdtmt, Petitioner was 45 years of age, sing glz with 1 dﬁpcndent ch;idren

Petitioner has received all reasonable and necessary mc:_dscal services.

Respondent kas naf paid all appropriate charges for all reasonable and necessary medical services.

' Respondent shall be given a credit of $0.00 for TTD, $0.00 for TPD, $0.00 for maintenance, and 319,683 60 for
- short term and long term disability benefits, for 2 total credit of $i9 083. 60.

-Respondent is entitled to a credit of $0.00 tnder Section 8{3) of the Act.
ORDER.

Respondent shall Day all reasonabie and necessary med:cﬂf services, wnth the: excennen of medieal bills from
* Ur, Blair Khode, as provided in Sections 8{a) and 8.2 of the Act, subject to the fee scheduie. Respanuent s not
- liable for medical bills incurred by Pehtmner for tha services of Dri Rhode.

‘The parties stipulated that Resxmudent is entitled to a credif of $19,083.60 for short term and long term
.dtsabzhty benefits paid to Petitioner. Respondent shall pay Petitioner temporary total disability henefits
of $442.31 per week for w total period of 152 3/7 weeks, representing June 11, 2008 through January 18,
2010, and February 15, 2010 through June 9, 2041, fexs Respandent’s credit of $19,083.60. Respondent
shall‘pay Petitioner the temporary total disability benelits that have accrued from May 30, 2008 through -
October 29, 2013, and shall pay the remainder of the: award, if any, in weekly paymc.nts

Respondant shall pay. Peh‘aoner permanent partml disability benefits of $398.08/week for 112.75 weeks,

because the injuries sustained caused the :::% toss of use of the right hand, a3 prﬁwaded in Section 8(c) of the
Act,

RULES REGARDING APPEALS Unléss a party files a Petition  for Review within 30 da}'s afier receipt of this decision,

.and perfects a review:in accordance with the Act and Rales, then this decision shall be entered as the ciemswn af the
‘Commission.

STATEMENT OF INTEREST RATE If the Ccmm{:an revizws this award, interest at the mts set forth an the NﬂHCE ef
Dec;smn csf Arbitraror shall acorue from th ate h ted baiow o ﬁm da}f befare the date of psymem however, if an
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COUNTY OF PEQRIA ¥
ILLINOIS WDRKERS’ CGM?ENSATEO‘V COMMISSION
a ARBITRATION DECISION.
- JOAN ANDERSON,
Employee/Petitioner
V.. .Cit;SE 11 s 02786
STEAK N SHAKE,
EmplayerfRﬁspﬂndani

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION OF ARBITRATOR
PINDINGS OF FACT

At thie time of her accident, Petitioner was forty five years. DE age. “She. begaa wcrkmg for
Respandent in M;uch 2004 as a waitress. Petiioner was then pmmoteé to a tratner before
‘becomning a manager. On May 30, 2008, Respcndenfs restaurant was busy.- Petitioner wis
aﬁemp‘cmg to keep the dining room clean by bussing and cleaning tables.. She was humedly

- wiping dows o table when she felt a poprin her'right thumbr [oilowed by ¢ Kernciating pain - e

shooting up through her hand. Petitioner immedialely. told the méanager on duty, who, accardmg
1o Petitioner, would have been Matt Boyer or Paul Shaffer. Petitioner testified that she also told
Brooke Tucker, the General. Manager, the following Manday, and Dan Roark, 2 district manager,
Petitioner had never experienced pain in her right hand prior to the.work incident, nor had she
beed treated by a physician Ear any right hand §ympioms.

Becatise she could not get in to see her pnmary care provider, Petitioner presented fa Dr.
Danie! Hoffman, on May 30, 2008, Petitioner preseated to Dr. Hoffman with symploms of nght
‘band swelling. Dr, Hoffroan noted tenderess and swdimg over the dotsal dspect of the right
hand; and assessed Petitioner's condition as a soft tissue injury versus ganglionic cyst. Dr.
Hoffmag presoribed medication and referred her to Dr, Jeffrey Traina. PX 1.

Petitionier presented t6 Dr. Traina on June 11, 2008 complaining of a problem in her wrist.
She reported that she was at work a week and a half prior when she was cleaning a'table and had
lmmediate pain in her biand. Peﬁnc}ner reported fo Dr. Traina‘one ﬁpasede of previeus pain
before in her hand but it has never been as severe as it was ten days ago” A physical examination
revealed tendemess aver the base of the second inetacarpal, some localized swelling in the area
_reianvely little pain. it her wrxsi 0o swelimg it the carpal joint, and a normal carpumetamrpal
joint. Dr.Trainds impression was edema with pain overthe second meztacarpal secondary to
overuse. He ordered her off work, prescribed a wrist brace and anti- inflammatory medication,
and ordered her to retum inten days. PX 2.
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- Petitioner returned 10 Dr. Trains on June 21, 2008, at which fime she. repoﬁed domg bette::,
but still sympiematm‘ He ordered her to retum in three weeks, and conrinued her off work status
unti} that time. PX 2. Subsequcnﬂy, Petitioner continued to treat with Dr. Traina, wherein
Petitioneér continied to experience symplomatology at the base of the second metacarpal of her
right hand with httle mpmvement utilizing the brace, Dr. Traina or&ered an MRl PX 2,

Tha MRIof ] uly 24, 2008 xevaajeci ao aciis abngﬁnalzty within the base of the right.
second digit, mild thickening and findings suggestive of chronic injury to the first metacarpal
joint, and mild degenerative changes of the first CMC and MTP. Following her MRI, Petitioner
followed-up with Dr. Traina on July 28, at which time he ordered her to. one-handed wark only,
prescribed. therapy and anti-inflammatory medication.

Petitioper again saw:Dr. Traina on Atgust 12,2008 with continued symptomatology and
reported that she was unable to attend therapy as of yei due to a family emergency, He ordered
her to continue use ofthe brace, and indicated if there was no improvement with same, then he
would try a cortisone injection. PX. 2. Continued modalities of treatrment were attempted,

' including a thumb spica brace and a rortisone injection in the CMUC joint with Celestone, all of

which were unsuccessﬁil in relieving her pain. Dr, Traina referred Petitioner {o a hand surgeon.
PX 2.

On June 15, ZOGS Pe‘ﬂtiou&r compleied a Short Term Dlsablhty Claim Form, whezein shc
*alleged that her disability was due td an illness, Dr, Trairia completed the physiciads portion of

the disability form on Jure 20,2008.. [n.response to the questz:m, ‘15 condition Work reiatcd'?’be
_checked the bax'Ng. RX 3,

. The Arbxtratnr ﬁnds 0o ireatment records m- ewdence between Pehhonex’s t:eatment with
Dr. Traina on Qctober 13, ?;008 -and treatrnent with Dr Haiﬁnan on June 29 2009, an
approximately eight month gdp in treatment,

Petitioner returned to Dr. Hoffman on. June 29, 2009 with coritinued complaints ﬂfpmn on
the dorsal aspeet of her right hand, which showed Eendemesa and swelling upon examinatiot,
Dr, Hoffmans impression was tendonitis or possible RSD.. He'ordered her to remain off work
and advised her returp to Dr, Traina for addmonal studies. PXL.

Petitioner tesnﬁed that in the'meantime; she sgught treatment with her primary care

* pravider, Debbie Hays a nurse practitioner, who referred her to Dr. James Williams. A singular
. treatment record from Debbie Hayes with a date of service of August 31, 2009 appears amongst -
the records of Dr, Wiihams

On October 7, 2009, Petitioner presented to Dr. ‘Williams at the Midwest Orthopaedic
Cen,ter with complamts of right thumb basilar joint pain, which reporiedly began in May while’
wiping up a table as a manger at Steak N Shake, - After reviewing her MRI and mdmgraphs and -
performing a physical examination of her showing tendémess over the joint, Dr. Williams
recommended a right thumb CMC joint. arthroplasty as an outpatient procedure. Pefitioner
underwent that procedure on November 13, ’2009 at Methodist Medical Center of linois. PX 4.

2
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Seven days aﬁﬁr suigery, on I\Eov&mbe: 10, 2009, Petitioner presentr:d to the Emergency
Depurtrment at Methodist Medical Center of Niinels with a history of catching her thumbina:
door, fesling a pop, and experiencing pain. Radiographs were taken, which showed surgical
placement of K-wire across the carpometacarpal junction of the right wrist at the level of the
tapezium and base of the sscand metacarpal, Petitioner was given pain medzcamn and :

discharged. FX 3.

Posbaparauvely, Patztmner ﬁ’{pmem:ed pam w:th ﬁnger muvament, which rasolvad Dr
, therapy, and was released to work mtheut restnctzaus on Def:ernber i 26(}9 At he: final visit
with Dr. Williams on January 18, 2010, Petitioner was e:«.penencmg some residual tenderness,
which Dr. Williatns thought would résolve, and she reported an inability o fully lay her thumb
flat or hyperextend her thumb. Dr. Williams believed both imitations were due to the increased -
laxity at Petitioners memarpapha]angca} joint, He indicated that both limitations could only be -
prevented by a complete fusion {o that joint, but he did not recommend that px‘ocedmc Dr.
Williams refeased her from his eare on that date, PX 4.

On February 15,2010, Peuticmer returned to Dr. Tz‘ama, and reported rio relief from the.
surpery performed. by. Dr. Williams. A physzca! exarnination revealed tendemness over the CMC
joint with motion of the thumb, some swelling, no redness, heat or warmth; diffuse tendemess
without apparent abnormality, and a well-healed incision. Dr. Traind's assessment was a.
 questionable problem versus infection; for which heordered radiographs to ascertain

questionable fracture of the metacarpal and biood wark H& apphgd a Shaﬁ_m thumb spma an d .
adied uin 10 Ty OnE weekl K2 _

Radiagraphs of the right hand obtained on February 15, 2010 revealed postoperative
-changes and a vertical fracture line extending along the shaft of the proximate first d;gst
metacarpal. PX 8.

Petitioner returned to Dr Traina on Febmary 22 with complaints of feeling like the pinin
her hand was wrmng ot Dr. Traina noted that radiographs confirtmed showed the pin to be
migrating; and 2 bone scan obtained on February 18, 2010 was abnonmal and showed increased
uptake, but did not reveal any frachire, RX 2, 9. Petitioner was havmg, significant pain and

some tinting of the skin. Dr. Traina recomm&nded removing the pin and exploration of the CMC
joint RX 2,

On February 23, 2010, Pesitioner presented to the Emergency Department at Methadist
" Medical Center of Itlinais wxi.h complaints of & pm protmdmu out of herright wrist. She
repnrted that she had difficulties with one of the pins coming out of her wrist following her
surgery with Dr. Williams, and that Dr, Traind had scheduied her for surgery to remove the pm,
but she indicated the pin seerned to be protruding farther than normal on this date; . A physical -
‘gxaraination revealed that the pin was. not“fhmugh and through, but it is quite pronounced”’
Radiographs abtained showed a metallic pin tenting the skin, The Emergency Department

personnet spoke with Dr. Traina, who recommended her wrist be splinted with a dressmg and
thoner was discharged, PX 11.

bk
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On February 25, 3010, Dr, Traind pf:rmrmed | removai of carpomﬁtacarpal tmpiant af the
-right thumb with- imgatmn and debridement and insertion of antiblotic cement spacer and
removal of retsining pins, PX 2, PX 12. One week later, on March, 4, 2010, D Traina .
performed a carpometacarpal reconstruction of the right wrist at the ﬁrst metacarpa} with a grafl
jacket implant, PX 13, ?ost—uperatwaiyg she was placed in & thumb spica cast, but developed an
open area with deep tssue coming out. Dr, Tralna attempted to excise this in the office on June -
18, 2010 mthcwu‘; success secondary 1o discomfort, He scheduled her for sirgery to further
excise the tissue, On Juge 24,2010, Dr. Trina perfotmad a right thumb irrigation and
débﬂdemcnt Petmoner did weii post-aperatively with the aid af & thumb splint. PX 2.

‘ Peﬁﬁonsr-begaﬁ the—rap'y- on Ju};y;_l? and reported some reliel from freatment. She was
discharged from therapy on December 15,2010. PX 15.

On August 4, 2010, Petitioner returned with complaints of 2 burning sensation in her hand,
‘which Dr. Traina noted to be a relatively new ﬁndmg Petitioner had a significant contracture of
the MCP j joint, Petitioner was undergoing tharap}'; and Dr, Traina recormmended continued.
aggressive therapy. She thereafter failed to present to her office visit of August 25, 2010: Dr.
Traina noted on SEptember 17, 2010 that-physical therapy wanted to restart therapy, which Dr.
Traina could not otder until Petatmner re-presented to him, Dr, Traina was leaving the Peoria
area and mmcated she would need to find another orthopedic provider, FX 2.

Petitioner returnéd to Dr. Traina oft C!ctcber 23, 2010 and repcrted an inability to continue -
therapy dué to the recent suicide of her son. She complained of pain over the CMC joint:and
 wiakness bilaterally. T Traina cestarted physical therapy. o rdercrl pam rnf-dwﬂtmn avd
referved her to Great Piams Drtnopedms PX 2

After concluding: treatment with Dr Traina, Petitioner testified that she attempted 10 seek
{reatiment with other doctors, such as Dr. Mitzelfelt of Pekin, and attempted to' return for
treatment with Dr. Williams, but both phiysicians declined to ireat her because of her previous
~ treatment with Dr. Traina, She stated that she“tried every doctotin Peortd, but without suceess.
‘Eventually, she saw Dr. Rhode, who was referred to her by her attorey.

_ Petitioner presentedto Dr. Rhode on April 6, 2011. His impression was that she
suffered from a pamﬁﬂ, CMC graft jacket, Dr. Rhode believed this to be a‘tompl icated ondition
that 1 believe requires 2 subspe:ctahst in hand. surgf:ry” He tecommended Petitioner follow-up

~with Dr. Johr Fernandez at Ruish, and ordered her off work until she was evajuatcd by a hand
specialist. PX 16.

Before Petittoner could sectire an appoifitment with Dr. Femandez, she was: schedulaﬁ fur a
Section 12 examination with Dr. Wysocki at Rush Hospital. Due to the Secnan 12 examination,
Dr, Fernandez's office would not see Petitionier because she had already seen another physician
within the group, Dr. Rhode teferred Petitioner to Dr. Mark Cohen, who refused to see her for
stmilar reasons as Dr, Fernandez. Dr. Rhode then referred her 10 Dr Oakey. PX 16.

On March 7, 2012, Petitioner presented to Dr. Rhode with no reported changﬁ i
symptoms: Hebelieved that she had plateauned secondary to her mabxhty to gain access ta.
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medical reatment. Dr: Rhode opined that Petitioner's right wrist would not improve and-would -

- likely worsen without further medical treatment. : He stated that she had esseniially lost all -
-oppcs&t:on and key pinch strength, and continued to experience d,ebxmatmg pdin at the fizst CMC

joint. He recommendéd she take oral pain medication indefinitely and indicated she may benefit

'fmm steroid mjﬁcﬁcm: into the first CMC joint, PX16..

{On Apmi 18, 2012, Petitioner fs:zilawedmg wﬂh Dr. Rhodé, who indicated ihat Patitioner's

freatment options consisted of a revision fusion versus a foam amputation, Dr. Rhode ordered

Ly

permanem restrictions on Petitioner of no use of the n,,hz upper extremity, and p!a;,eci Petilioner
at maximum medma] improvement. PX 16.

Dr. Rhode testified by way of E:vuience deposmon Dr. Rhode: felt that because Petitioner’s
case was a complex hand case, he did not want 0o something that 1 felt was outsjde the scope:
of my practice, which I felt this was, 5o I felt most appropriate to refer her to a subspecialist? PX
19, Po. 10, He recommended Petitioner see Dr. John Fernandez at Rush Hosplial, a hand

specialist, but because Petitioner was scheduled for a Section {2 examination with one of Dr.

Fernandes partners, she was unable to see Dr. Fernandez, Even afier Petittoner was unable fo

treat with Dr Femandez, Dr. Rhode did not want to surgically treat Pétitioner because'{algain-

this is ot of the scope of practice for what [ da.?PX 19, Pg. 11. Dr. Rhode then referred her to
‘Drr, Mark Cohen, & hand specialist, who was unable to freat Pﬁtrtoner for a similar reasen. D

~ Rhode hoped that someone would do a fusion with bone graft on Petitioner; but stated T would
“hope-and ifs out'of the scope of my practice. Asl smd béfare I dor't feel comfcsrmbie tréating
thls patmnt surgmaliy” PX i9 Pu 13

, Dr Rhcda inidicated. that Petitioner has a pamﬁll 'ﬁoppy ﬁﬂgﬁr that could benefit Wlth a
I:ugher ievel of function and & lower impairment and disability if the thunb was linked back 0.
the-wrist., 1f she: ‘were to undergo an amputation of the thumb, Dr. Rhode indicated that it would

‘bé devastating to her functiofi in that wrist. Absent ary surgery, Dr. Rhode did not anticipate

Petitioner being able to resume using her right and for work. With regard to cansation; Dr.
Rhode opined that Petitioner aggravated her pre-existing arthritis, causing her thumb to become
symptomoatic and precipitated surgery. [n formulating his opinion, Dr. Rhode festified that he

. reviewed an MRI of July 24, 2008, a verbal history from Péfitioner, radiographs obtained in his

office, and a Section 12 examination report from Dr. Wysocki. He did not have the records of
Dr. Hoffman, Dr, Traina or-any other physicians. . Dr. Rhode scknowledged that he did not treat
Petitioner, other than having discussions with her regarding an injection and'ap assessment with
a hand specsah&t PX 19,

Petitioner was examined by Dr. Wysoeki at the request of Resporiderit on Octnbar 19,
2011 pursuant to Section' 12, Dr. Wysocki reviewed the treatment records of Dr. Hoffman, |
Deébiorah Hayes, Dr. Williams, and Dr. Traina as well &5 operative reports from Methodist
Hospital, -Dr, Wysackx also reviewed radac:rgaphs the MRI and 3 bone scan. He performed a.
physical examination, performed radiographs in his office, and took a hzstory from Petitioner,
Petitioner described wiping down a table with a relatively suc{den onset of painin the right
thumb. She did notrecall having any. problems i her hand prior to the May 30 incident, and at.
the time she saw Dr. Wysocki; she reported that her hand was essentially useless to her in that
she did not use her fight thirnb whatsoever. The. iny way she utilized her hand was to perform
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asmall dmount of pinching between any combination of the index thréugh small fingers wﬂh 10
use of the thumb. Dr. Wysockis assessment was right thumb gaim stiffriess, and dysfinction
stats postsurgical treatment of CMC arthritis. Based on his review of records, the history
obtained from Petitioner, and the physical examination, Dr. Wysac:kz opined that Petitioner's
current thumb condition was not casuany related 1o the work injury of May 30,2008, reasoning.

- that he would ot expect performing wiping mations over a table would be smmﬁcant enough - <

injury to alter the nataral history of undetlying thumb CMC arthritis or cause a'new onset af
thurnb CMC anthnitis;, Dr. Wyssckx stated that he would ré¢ommend a ﬂzumb MCF art}nﬁdesl,s‘
thumb MCP joint fusion, a ligament reconstruction suspensionplasty, or thumb amputation. Dr.
Wymck; placed her at maximum medical improvement i:arnng any further surgical intervention
to the fight hiand, and he believed an appropriate work resiriction.would be no lifing, pushing,
pulling greater than five pounds with the right hand for gross mator only, with no fine motor use.
Dr. Wysocki also sugpested a functional na.pacﬁy evaluation to more accurataly set her
perranent restrictions, RX 1.

Dr. Wysockl testified by way of evidence daposmcn on Febmary 1,2013 coucomjtantiy
with his report, Dr. Wysocki testified that with regard to causation, he did not expect a low
énergy activity and mechanism such as wiping down a able to be significarit ¢nough trauma toa
thumb CMC joint to either gznerate CMC arthritis or servé as a significant trauma to cause an
aggravation of a pre-existing conditon. He defined" wpoyavation' o be performing an actwﬁy or
sustaining trauma such that it alters the natural history of whatever the underying process is. “if’
someons m1dergces an activity or undergoes a tratima that is so intense that it aliers the natural
history of it and causes almost irreversibie damage to that under]ymg condition, that would be
considered  kind of permanent dnd an effective aggravation of that preexisting conchtu:sn,
somathmg more than Just somethmg that brings out mamfestatmns” RX 1 ?g 45.

Dr Wysc;cm attnbuted‘ the anset of sympwmamlngy foiimmng the Ma}/ 30,2008 accrdem
{o 2 manifestation of symptoms. He testified that the accident manifested a potentially mild
underlying CMC thumb arthritis, and that the pain Petitioner experienced following the accident
drove her to have the surgical procedures she underwent prior to presenting to him. He indicaled
‘that the symptoms she was currently experiencing could be to iggered by a reaction to the graft
jacket implant, symptomatic impingemient as the metacarpal approaches the scaphoid, or pain
upon substantial hyperextension at the MCP joint. Dr. Wysocki testified that the restrictions he-
recommended for Petitioper were not caused or aggravated by the events of May 30, 2008, Dr.
’Wysock: noted that Petitioner was primarily problematic in the radial side of the right band and
in the right thurnb, and testified that Petitioners right hand had significant restrictions with thumb
mavernent, Dr. Wysocki stated that even if Petitioner were to underge adchtmnal su:gery, she
stili bad a guarded prognosis. RX 1,

At Arbitratitm Petitioner testified that she has been given three opfions for treatrment,
She can leave her hand and thumb as they are, have the thumb amputated and move her index
. finger to the locdtion of her thumb, or kave the thumb joint fused, If her ph}smmn was confident
that ber thumb would work and be less pmﬁﬁ:ﬁ she indicated that she may undergo surgery.
- However, her physician has indicated that the thumb amputation may not alleviate her pain, and

the fision may not provide her additional functionality. As such she has elected to forego any
further irea‘iment
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During het treatment, Petitioner testified that Dr H.offman took her nff worh on May 30,
2008. .- Petitioner stated that Dy, Traina*went back and fortli*regarding her off work status, taluﬂg '
her off work when her hand became painfitl; and returning her to restricted worl of one-handed
work only at other imes. Although Petitioner initially testified Respondent could not-
 accominodate her restmcbox:;s, she later tesuﬁeﬁ that she does not remember If she rammed io
Respondeat after Rer accideni o rsquest employment within ber restrictions..”

Petitioner was temnnated from her ::mgioyment with Responident on September 30, 2008.
She received short term and long rerm disability from Respondent from June 2008 until July 10,
2009. She did not work again until June 10, 2011, when she began warkmg for Linders Cléaning
Service in a one-handed capacity o what Pentmner describad as a supervisory position. Linders
Cleaning moved out of state, and i December 2012, Petitioneér began her owi cleaning
company. She employs two other individuals. Patltmner testified that she sets appointoients,.
‘takes checks, accompanies her employees o cieamng jobs to ensure their pﬁrfomance talksto.
the customers, and ensures the happmess of the custgmers

Reg&ri:_g her ;m;tazmns in her right h:and, Petitioner testified on direct exainination that -
her thumb is of no usefiil censaqueﬂce She presen&y experences a dull ache sensation all of ihe
time, and if she bumps or strains it, it causes pain. Petitioner also expeniences cramping in her:
“entire right hand. She indicated that she has to usé ber right hand‘sometimes’, and she has learned
to mamptﬁaie her right hand to get.dressed or cook. Petitioner can pick up objects using her
ﬁngemps, and may steady a pan with the right hand, but she cannot pick it up and moveit with
her nght hand. Shé continues to garden with her wife using he: ‘ieﬁ han¢ Pehuoner ta,kas Nam;a

- iorpals ;uz:m, wtuc&z i p;eﬁ’sﬁﬁm by E}abbxt }:{a}fﬁa ' ‘ e ey

Oneross tt“'(ammaison Pétitioner: tasuﬁed that in hﬂr supervisory capacity for Linders
Cleaning, she would only [ift things using her right fingertips, Petitioner ac!mowiedged that she
can drive as long as she does not have to make any-sharp moves. Althcmgh she indicated that She
cannot carry things, such asa plate or oup of coffee, because her hand cramps. up, she testified
that she can“somehmaé’cany paper or a folder, and"ona gcc:sd day'carry a binder, Accmdmg 0
Petitioner; she cannot carvy a {ray,-a spatula, turn-a key, or vacuum with her ng,hi harid: She has
- po-problems with her Jeft hand, and her right arm is well, On redirect examination, Petitioner
mdwated that whea she visits. hear r:lf:amng sites, sha pifches in and hcips her staff carty in items.

Rﬁspondem admmed Restroom(s) Daily Cic:amﬂg Checkhst and Service Work
Verification Sheet forms as RX 4. The Restroom Daily Cleaning Checklists include Pﬁtjncmefs
signature as the cleamng service representative, and indicate twelve items that are checked off by
both the cleaning service and the General Managet. The Service Work. Verification Sheets.
represent the date, time, dnd vendor performing the cleaning service and the service performed,
as'well as the signature Qf the servicers and the gﬁnaral manager, RX 4,

Chad Wahi iesuﬁed for Respondent. He is f:mpt«ayed b}g Menards a5 A Gaaerai Manager,
Mr., Wah testified as to RX 4, documents that require a manager's signafure to verify that the-
restrooms at Menards were cleaned &s indicated. Mr. Wahl testified that he is familiar with. -
Linder's Cleaning Service, as they perfomxed cleaning services for Menards. He indicated that
seVeraI individuals have cleaned the barhroom, and he personally ohserved ?eimaner clamumg
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the bathrooms®quite frequmtly Although he could not give dates of service, he saw her'mop,
‘wipe down the restrooms, a,nd sweep. on séveral occasions, He could not attest 10 whether he
wa.s using one hand or two.

‘ Petitioner was called as 2 witness by Reispandent Petitioner testified that her signature
appeérs in RX 4, and that the' TA is her mgnaium as well, Whén asked if Petitioner cleaned at
Menards or simply signed the records in RX 4 in & supervisory capacity, Petitioner stated that
she*oecasionally would elean a mimror or wxpe off the counter, T'always bad someone with me
that would mop, that would do the sweeping. There was [sic] always twa of us, Isigned ina
supervisory role” Petitioner indicated that Menards managers rarely saw what she did, and she
would often have to track one dc:Wn tosign the verification: '

Four su:veﬂlanca videos with dates of’ September 13 through Seplember 20, 2011,
Qctober 5 through October 7, 2011, April 23 throligh April 25, 2012, and July 16 tbrouwh July
17, 2012 were admitted into evxdance by Respondent.: ‘The videos refiect Petitioner using her
right hand to open a car door with'a key, open 2 bottle of totor oil, and 1iff, carry and push -
'ebgccts They also reflect Petitioner entedng individual boines and Menards to perform cleaning
services, On some occasions, she is accompanied by another individual'and on others, she cléans
by herseif. On the videos, Petitioner can be seen meppmﬂ utilizing both hands, and lifting and.

. gripping objects with her right hand, such as a vacuum, battles, garbage: bags, buckets, brushes,.
cleaning supplies, pieces of paper, and rolls'of paper. RX 7-10.

. Steven White, Ryan Bordis; and Tﬁrry Narwxckl testlﬁed asto the surveillance videos on
- bebmif ;fT" :

werg a_ssxgned to survey Petitioner on-various dates, Mz, White, Mr. Bordis and Mr, Norwicld
testified that their respective cameras Weré in good working condition during the surveillance of
Petitioner, that the videos depict whiat each individual saw through their camera lens; and that the
video tapes were not edited. Mr. Norwicki testified that he had a traimes with him diring his

- surveillapee activities, and bath he'and the trainee show the same video from different. angles,
which he reviewed. He indicated that although the video he took and. that of the wainee are:
meshed together to constitute the videos that are admitted into evidence, He is unfamiliar with
the process of meshing the two videos together, as he does not garform that activity himse]f,

~ Ashley McNamee, a news anchor for 2-local NBC afﬁhaie testified for Petitioner i ua
rebutial to the surveillance video. She stated thaf the surveillance videos were edited as
evidenced by jump cuts, referring 1o the dzs;:taced timiing sequences in the videos. On cross
‘examination, Ms, McNamee stated that 4 3ump et cnuld be due to the camera person’ stﬂppmg
and starting the CAmEra: .

Petitioner was recalled as a witness on her own behalf afier having viewed thg
“surveillance videos admitled as RX 7-10. She testified that the videos were filmed after. June 10,
2011, the date in-which she began working for Linder's Cleaning, and after she was released to
 one-handed-duty. Petitioner as::knowiedged that she can lift the vacuum, but stated she can do so
“only by utilizing her knee and the fingertips of her right hand while: hﬂmg the heavy part with
fier left hand, * She also acknowledged her ability to nse a"mall mog'and to ulilize  key to open
a door with two fingers ef her right hand.

sulent-All gentlemen work-for Robison Group as private investigators, and sl -
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In regard to the disputed issue (C}, R&spondant disputed that Petitioner suffered an

| acczdem arising out of her empiayment

To obtaln compensation under the Ilinois Workers Compensation Act, a cimaﬂt st
show by a prepandamnce of the evidence that he has suffered a disabling injury arising out of
and in the course of his employment. 820 ILCS 305/2; Mezropoizran Warer Reclomation Qrsmet.

of Greater Chicago v. Minois Workers' Campemarmn Comm'n, 407 1L App.3d 1010,.1013 a®

Dist. 2011).. The“aising out of component refersto an origin or cause of the injury that must be.
in some risk connected with or incident to the employment, so as to creale a| causal connection
hetween the emplayment and the accidental injury, Jd, Courts have recegmzed thrée general
types of tisks t0 which an employee may be exposed: {1y risks distinetly associated with the
employment; (2) risks personal o the employee; and (3) neutral risks, which have. no particular
employment or personal’ characteristics. Jd.; Mlinois Instivute: of ?‘er:!moiogy v.. Industrial
Comm'n, 314 TL App. 3d 149, 162 (2000} Injuries resulting frbm & neutral risk ‘are”not
generally compensable and do not arise out of the employment, unless the empieyee was

-exposed to the risk 1o greater degree than the general public.. Memrapolitan Water Reclamation:

District of Greater Chicago, 407 Il App. 3d at 1014, *1t is the function of the Commission to

_ ;udge the credibility of witnesses, determine the weight to be given to their testimony, and to

draw reasonable inferences from that tesumany“ Nunn v, Indiistrial Comm’n, 157 1. App. 3d

470,478 (4“* Dist. 1987)

In the firesent case, the Arbitrator finds that the risks to which Petitioner was exposed on
May 30, 2008 were distinctly associated with her emiployment for Respondent, Petitioner
testified that on May 30, 2008, the restaurant was especially busy and she, as a MAnager, Was
aﬁamptmg to keep the dining room clean by bussing tables and then wiping them down. -She
was hurriedly wiping off a table with her right hand when she felt a pop around her thumb joint.
Although Petitioners job.duties were: not elicited during testimony, the Arbitrator reasonably.
infers that wiping down tables was: w;thm the' purview of Petidoners job dutiss that she sy
reasonably. be expected to perform as manager in order to keep the dining room clean 1o facilitate -
an expeditions flow of diners. The Arbitrator finds that ReSpGndEﬂtS daily operations, namely
serving its dining customers, of ity restaurant on the date of accident created an {ncreased risk of
injury, as it caused Petitioner to humed]y wipe down the tableat issie. Therefore; the Arbitrator

- finds that Petitioner has sustained an injury that amse out of'and in the course of her ampicymem

with R&sp@nds&i

In regard to disputed issue (E3, Respondent:disputed that timely notice of the accident was
given {o Respondent, and Petitioner alleged that notice was given to Brooke Tucker with the job
title of General Marager on May 30, 2008, Arb. X L. Petitionee testified at Arbitration that on -
her date of accident, Petitioner told Matt Boyer or Paul Shaffer. Petitioner testified she also told
Brooke Tucker, the General Manager, the following Monday, and Dan Roark, a district manager,
Based upon Petitioner’s nnrebitted tesnmony* the Arhitrator finids that E’eimener has proven that
notice of the accident was given within the time limits stated in the Act.

&
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in regard to disputed issue (F) it is well settled in Tliinois that empﬁcyers take their
"ernployees as they find them,” Sisbro v, Industrial Commission, 207 124 193, 205 {2003), An
‘employee will not'be. denied tecovery simply because of the presence of a pre-existing condition
so long as it can be shown that the employment was also a causative factor. Jd. Recovery will
‘depend on the smployea’s ability to show thata work-related accidental injury aggravated or
accelerated the preexising disease such that tba employee’s current condition of ill-being is-
-causaily connected to the ‘work-related injury: Id; at 204-205, Furthier, the Workers
Compensation-Act is a remedial stanie and should be liberally construed to effectuate its main
pu:pcase:»pmwdmg financial protection for injured workers. Jnferstate Scaffelding, Inc. v.
Hlinois Workers' Compensation Comm 'n, 236 111.2d 132, 149.(2010); Beelman Trm’:kmg W,
lilinois Workers' Compensation Comm’'n, 233 11.2d 364 ('?0{19)(&16 Workers' Compcnsatmn Act
is a remedial statte intended to provide financial protection for injured workers and itis to be
liberally construed to accomphsh that objective).

- The Arbitrator notes that no causation opinion appear in the records of Dr. Traina or Dr.
Wiliiams, both of whom surgically treated Petitioner’s thumb. The solitary mention of work-
relatedness from either physician appears in the Short Termi Dssabthty Claim Form of June 2008,
in 'whick Dr. Traina checked the box"N&@ in response to the question; Ts condition work telated?
RX 3. The Arbitrator declines to find this response dispositive of the issue of causation, given
the lack {Jf exp‘lanahon or basm for same.

T support of their respective causation positions; Petitioner tendered the up}.,mons of Dr,
‘Rhode, and Respondent praffered those of Dr. Wysocki. The Arbitrator finds the opmmns of D,
Wysoceki fo be more credible than that of Dr. Rhode, and accerdmg]y ¢ives the opinfons of Dr.

Wysoeki more weight. Dr. W}sock: reviewed substantially more treatment records and studies
than did Dr, Rhode.. Dr. Rhode testified that in formulating his opinions, he reviewed the MRI of
July 24, 2008, a verbal history from Petitiofier, radiographs obtained in his office, and a Section
12 examination report from Dr. Wysocki, PX 19, He did not have the recards of Dr. HoFfman,

' Dr. Traing, Dr.. Willlams, Deborah Hayes, or any edditional studies.: Dr. Wysoki, however, had
reviewed all of the medical records as did Dy, Rhode, but also had reviewed the tecords of b
Hoffinan, Deborah Hayes, Dr. Williams, Dr. Rhode, operative notes [rom Movember 13,2009,
Febriary 25, 2009, March 4,200 and June 24, 2010, records from emergency depaﬁment visits
at Methodist Hospital on November 20 2009 and February 23, 2010, and miltiple imaging
studies, including radiographs, MR1 and bone scan dated June 11, 2008 through April 6, 2011,
RX 1. ' '

_ ‘Additionally, Dr. Rhode did pot render any actual; substantive treatment fo Petitioner.
Although Dr. Rhode saw Petitioner on nine separaie occasions, he acknowledged that he did not
render any. treatment to Petitioner, other than referring her to physieians more specialized than
him, because he stated that ke did not want to*do something that I felt was outsids the scope of
my pracncc, which | felt this was. " R¥ 19, As such, the medical monitoring and proffering of
opinions that Dr. Rhode performed and preffcred for Petitioner is not far afield from the services
performed of Dr, Wysocki, As such, the persuasiveness of Dr. Rhodes opinions as a treating
physmiaa is limited by the lack of treatment actually rendered to Petitioner.

1
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Szmllarly, the Arbitrator is not persuaded by the opuuuns of Dr; Rhode in light of his -
repeated testimony that“his is out of the scope of practice for what 1 do’ (PYQ 19, Pg. 11y and that
he did not“fesl comfortable treating this patient surgmallfbecause of samie. PX 19, Pg. 13.

Simply put, if Dr. Rhodg felt that Petitioner’s condition and requisite weatment were outside the

scope of his practice and expertise, and more suited {0 that of 2 hand specialist, Lﬁen ihe eplmons

of whand specialist, such as Dr. Wysocki, should property be given mors weight; P

Dr. Wysocm testified that the mamfﬁsi&tson of symptam fc:iie:}wmg her work accident
drave her to undergo surgery, but then later tesiified that the work i injury was nota dausative
factor in her nieed for surgical intervention. RX I, Pg. 46,49. Dr. Wysocki further opined that:
Petitioner's current diagnosis was right thumb pain, stiffness and dysfinction status post surgical
treatrnent of CMC arthritis, bui also stated that her*current thumb conditiod' was nof causally
telated to the work injury of May 30, 2008, RX 1. In applying the Act liberally, see fntérstate

Scaffolding, Ine., 236 [11.2d 21 149, the Arbitrator adopts the more liberal interpretation of Dr. -
Wysockfs testimoay and finds that as a result of the May 30, 2008 work accident, Petitioner
suffered an aggravation of ber pre-existing CMC joint arthritis, which caused her condition to
becoma symptematzc and nécessitaied her subseqz.enf surgical reatment..

Alﬂmugh the Ath:aim adopis the opinions of Dr Wysocki, the Arbitrator notes that it

is not necessary that Petitiones’s work accident alter the natural state of her thumb conditionto be

¢onsidéred a causative factor in ‘the development of her condition, but rather, the aceident need
only aggravate or accelerate Petitioner’s pre-existing, condition such that Petitiorier's eurent
condition of ill- heum ca be saxd ta be causallv cnmse,ctad to th:f: wmk mjury See stbra ?G’i

'Ji g u"i G‘i ¢ AR = =

In this case, Petitioner sought immediate treatment following her work accident,
repeatedly gave a.consistent history {o heér treating physician of a sudden onset of
symptomatology in her right thumb and hand f‘oilcwmg the work aceident, and continued to
suffer constant symptomatology in same fol lowing the work accident. Additionally, Petitioner
festified that she hiad not suffered any problems in her right hand. hefore the work accident, nor
had she been treated by a physician for any nght hand symptoms. Although Respondent points -

{o Dr. Rhode's treatment record of June 11,2008 as evidence of prior right hand complaints, that

record reveals Petitioner had a singular complaint of pain prior to May 30, 2008 that was less
severe than the pain resuitant from her work accident. PX 16. ‘The Arbimator finds that same (3
ingufficient to negate the considerable amount of evidence that supports a finding of causation.
Therefore, the Arbitrator finds that Petitioners current mndmon of dé-bema is causslly related o}
the work acmd&nt of ‘vfajy 30, 008!

With regard to disputed issue (7), Respondent disputed liahility for medicai ills based
upon accident, and specifically disputed the reasonableness and necessity of the medical bills for
Dr. Rhode and Comprehensive Emergency Solutions based upon an excehswa choice of
physicians and duplicity, respectively.

Pursuant io Section §(a), Petitioner is entitled to two cholces.ofdl medical, surgical and

hasyztai services provided by the physmzan, consultant, expert, institution or ather provider of
services recommended by said initial service pruwdzr or any subsequent provider of medical

11
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services in the chain of referrals frt}m said initial service provider? The Arbitrator ﬁnﬁs that
Debbie Hays referred Petitioner for freatrnent with Dr. Williams (PX 4), as reflected inthe’
records'of Dr. Willlams and pér Petitioner's testimony vegarding same, . The- Arbitrator finds that
Dr. Hoffman referred Petitioner for treatment with Dr. Traina (PX 1), as reflected in the records
of Dr. Hoffinan and per Petitioner's testimony regarding same. With regard to' Dr. Rhode, his

- records indicate that Dr. Hoffman referred Petitioner to him. PX.16, D hsfﬁnan’s records, -
however, do not reflect any referral from Dr. Hoffiman to Dr. Rhade. Petztioner testified that
Fenny [ﬁom her attorney's office] did tell' méts go see Dr. Rhode,

The Arbitrator finds that Petitioner’s first choice of physician was Dr, Hoffan, and. Dr.
Traina to be in the chain of referrals with Dr. Hoffrman. Debbie Hays was Petitioner's second
choiee of physmlaﬂ, with Dr. Williams in the chain of referrals with her. The Arbifrator notes
that no bills appear in PX 17 from Debbie Hayes, and none of her records were offered as an
exhibit into evidence. In the event that Petitioner is not tendering Ms. Hayes as.a provider in this
' case, Dr. Williams then becornes. Petitioner's second choice of physicians. Regardless,
Petitioner’s chaice of Dr. Rhade constitutes Petitioner's third choice of phys:mans Because
Petitioner has exceeded her choice of physwmm pursuant fo Section 8(a) with the treatment with

Dr. Rhode, Respﬂndcnt {s not liable for any medical bills associated with the services of D,
Rhode.

Respmdent also dented habﬂsty for medical bﬂls ﬁom Comprehensive Solutions with
- dates of service of Novembcf 20, 2009 and February 23; 2010, contending that the bills were
duplicative in that they were submitted and paid by the Iliigois Department of Healthcare and
Family Services; as reflected in PX 18. ‘A review of the Departments payment information and
the bills submitted in PX 17 reflect that the medical bills from Comprehensive Solutiops are for
CmETency services rendered to Petitioner for complaints to her right hand and thumb. The:
Arbifrator finds the services reflected in the medical bilis of Comprehensive Solutions to be

reasonable and agcessary in the care and treatment of Petitioner's condition.

Based upon the aforementioned findings and in lght of the Arbitrators conclusions with -
regard (o disputed issues (C) and (F), Respondent shall pay all reasonable and necessary medical
. services, with the exception of bills from Dr. Rhode; a8 provided in Sections §(a) and 8.2 of the.
Act, subjéct to the fee schedule. Respondant is not liable for medical hills incusred by Petitioner
for the services of Dr. Rhode.

In regards ta d:sputsd issue (K), the issues of whether a claimant is témporarily {otally
disabled and the length of time for which he is entitled to temporary disability benefits are,
questions of fact to be resolved by the Commission. Archer Daniels Midland Co. v. Industrial
Comm ', 138 I 24 107, 118-119 (1990). In Winois, it is'well-settled that an emplayee is
témporarily fotally incapacitated from the time an injury ingapacitates him from work untilsuch
time as he is far r&cevared or restored as thc permanem character x}f his m;uzy will per*ﬁnt !d’ at’

.anly that s‘na did not work but also thar she wag unabie to work. szy aj' Gmmre Cmf V.
Industriaf Comm'n, 279 1L, App. 3d 1087, 1090 (1996). “{W]herz an empioye& who is entitled 10
receive workers cmmpansanon henefits as a result of a work-related injury is later terminated for;
conduct unrelated o the injury; the employers thgaﬁnn to pay TTD workers compensation

2
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 benefits continues until die &mplay&es medical condition has stabilized and he has teached

maximum medical improvement! Jnierstare Scaffolding, Inc., 236 L.2d at 135-136 (¢ mgh

added).

Petitioner sought temporary- total dlsahlhf‘i benefils from May 30, 2008 through June 9

2008 while she was off work per Dr. Traina. PX 2.

Petitioner iestlﬁed that Dr. Hoffinan took her off work on May 30; 2008, However, the

* ohjective medical records of Dr. Hoffman do not mdjcata that he tock her off work or restricted

her work when she presented to him. Dr, Hoffman prescnbed medication and referred -

‘Petitioner to Dr, Traina for further treatment. PX 1, In the ahsence of more substantve

treatmient 10 indicate that Petitioner was unable to work and withoutany | notah@ns from Dr.
Hoffman regarding her work status, there is insufficien: evidence 16 indicate that Pauﬁoﬁer WAS
tegipararily totally dzsabied at that time,

Therecords of Dr. Traina indicate. Lhat e tmok Petitioner off work beginning on June | L,

' _20(58 and released her 1o one handed work an July 28, 2008, On August 27,2008, Dr. Traina.
again took Petitioner off work until October 13, 2068 -when she was released to one-handed

work. PX 2.

Pefitioner presented to Dr. Williams for treatment on Octc:ber 22, 2009, and Dr. Williams .

perfonmed surgery on Petitiofiers right thumb on November 13, 2009. PX 4, ‘Although Dr. |
= Wiltiazas wakes no mention of her work satus duripg histrootment of hm,a he teleased-herdo - e e o e

waork without restrietions on December 1, 2009, which reasonably. supposes a period of
ternporary disability, Dr. “Williams reléased her from his care on January 18,2010, PX 4. The .

_Arbnra:or reasonably infers Dr. Williams intended some work restriction on Pefitioners right’
- upper extremity unitil December 1, 2009 when he released her 1o full duty, and that her conditicn

stabilized as of Janvary 13 2010 when Dr. Williams released her from his eare,

Petitiorier réturned to Dr, Traina with continued cmmp!amis on Febmary 15, 2010
AJihough Dr. Traing's records do not reflect that he restricted or removed Petitionier from work at |

that time, the record evidences that Petitioner's condition declined or destabilized following Dr,

Williarm's release of her from his care, given that Petitioner testified her pain increased at that
time and that she subbequantly underwent three additional surgical procedures to treat her right
thumb condition. Specifically, Petitioner underwent a removal of carpometacarpal Impiam of the
right thumb with u:ngatmn and debridement and insertion of antibiotic cement spacer and
removal of retaining pins on Pebruary 25, 2010 PX 2. On March 4, 2010, Dr. Traina performed
a carpometacarpal reconstruction of the right wrist at the first metacarpal with a graft jacket
implant, 4t which time she was piaced ina thhamb spica cast. PX 13, Petitioner underwent &
third surgical pmcedura on June 24, 2010 to excise tissue protruding from her wound, PX 2.
Congidering the significant treatmeﬁ{ she received in conjimetion with Petitioner’s testimony that
Dr. Traigaintermittently restricted he:r to one-handed work, the Arbitrator finds that Petitiones's
condition had not stabilized nor was she at meximum medical mgmvemﬁm during this pensd of
time, which the Supreme Court instructs is the determinative inquiry in ascertammg temporary’
total disability gwen Petitioner's termination an September 30, 2008. Jnrersiate Scaffolding, Inc.,

i3

2011, -Arb, X T Petitioner's employment with Respundent was terminated on September 30, o
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236 1. 2d a1 149. Therefore, Peu‘unnar is entiled 10 t&m;mrmy tntai ::hsablhty beneﬁts du.nng
this tirne petiod;

After com':'iuding treatrnent with Dr: Traina, Dr. Rhode took Petiticner off work from

April 6, 2011 through April 18, 2012; at which time he placed permanent restrictions on her Df _
S nouse of teright app&r axty erm{jf FR Although the Arbitrator finds the opiiiions of D e R

Rhode ta be unpersuasive, there is ‘nothing in the record to indicate that Petitioner’s condition had

stabilized and reached maximum medical improvement during the time period of April 6, 2011

until Fune 9, 2011 to contradict Dr, Rhode's orders for Petitioner to remain off work. Dr,

Wysocki plawd Petitioner at maximum medical improvement oo October 19, 2011 at the time of

his exarhination, barring any further surgical intérvention, and testified that if she chose to

undergo further surgical treatment, it would alter her status. Dr. Wysocki also testified that the

pain she experienced following the work accident of May 30, 2008 drove tier to have the four

surgn:al procedures she underwent prior to being examined by bim, RX 1, Given Dr. Wysockis

‘opinions and the pénmanent resinictions he recommended for her, it is reasonabie ta znfer that Dir. .

Wysocki would not have placed Petitioner at maximum medical improvement during 1 the time

per‘;ad in w%:uch Dr. irama sm’gwxcally tx‘tatcd Peumnefs nght thmnb or bcrw&en Apni 6, 2011

benefits of $442.31 per’ weak far a total parm{i t)f i ) 3./'7 weeks rz:prcscntmg June ! 1, 2008 -
through January 18,2010, and February 15, 2010 tbmugh June 9, 2011. By ceasing temporary:
total dlsabxhty benefits on June 9, 2011, the Arbitrator is not concludlng that Petitioner had 5
oo Yeached maximum medical improvement on that date, bt rather, June 9, 2011 is thelastdatedn .
which Petitioner sought temporary total disability benefits. Arb: X 1. The parties stipulated that !
Respondent is due a credit of $1;674.00 for short termi-disability payments made to Petitioner,
and $17,409.60 for long term disability payrments made, for a tolal credit of §19, 083.60 to be
deducted from Petitivners: temporary total drsabﬂxty benefits

In regard to disputed issue (L), based ipon the foregoing and the record in its e:‘mrety, as

- a residt of her work accident of May 30, 70@8 Petitibner sustained an agwravatmn of her right
thumb carpometacarpal joint arthritis, which necessitated a right thumb CMC joint arthroplasty -
and three subsequent remedial pmcedums including a removal of the carpemetacarpal implant
of the right thumb with irigation, debridement, and remaoval of retaining pins, a carpometacarpal
reconstruction of the right wrist atthe first metacarpaﬁ with a graft jacket tmpiant, and a right
thumb irrigation and debridement to excise tissue. Following treatment, Petitioner began
wotking with festrictions for Linder's Cleaning Service on June 10, 2011, and thereafier became:
self-employed in December 2012 wcrkmg in a permanently restm:ted capacuy

At Arbitration, Petitioner testified to severe limitations and near ccimpleté loss of use of
her right hand and thumb, and she demonstrated an apparent inability ta grip or lift ubjects
However, Petitioner's testimony is undermined by the surveillance. videos admitted into evidence
depicting Petitioner performing laborious activities with ber right uppl-‘r extremity, mciudmg
oleaning the restrooms at Menards using her right hand justas often as her left, and carrying
heavy objects into.clients homes with bet nght hand, mciudmg a fiully stocked tleamng ‘bucket
and z vacuum, and other ohjects that require manual dexterity. The activities she is seen
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performing on the surveillance videos casts into doubt her testimen), ‘that shie is unable fo lifi,
basic objects with her right hand, such as g cup of coffes; paper, ot # falder, or perform mundane
activities. Although she testified that she*alway$’performed cleaning services with the.aid of
another individual who would mop and sweep, the surveillance videos revealed Petitioner.
ﬁi’tenﬁmes cleaning by herself and performing the activities she insinuated on direct examination
- she cotld #57 do Wwith her right hand. Ultimately, the survéiliance videos exhibit that Petitivteris R
physically capabia of perfonming more activities. with her right hand and thumb than what she
testified to and exhibited at A:bmtratt_on

‘Nonethieless, after observing Petitioner's nght upper extremity at Arbitration, the
-Arbitrator finds that Petitioner suffered significant atrophy and deformity in her nght thumb and
hand as a result of the treatment for her right thumb condition that would rezsonably inhibit the
functionality of her right band. Dr. Wysocki noted that Petitioner was primarily problematic in-

the radial side of the right hand and in the right thumb, ‘He stated that her right hand had
significant limitations with thumb movement, and recommended a work restriction of no hftmg?
‘pushing, pulling g;rcatf:r than five pounds for gross motor only; with no fine motor use, RX 1,
Although additional surgical procedures have been recommended to Petitioner to-lessen her
reported pain and improve the f’uﬁcnoﬁahty in her nght thumb and hand, Pr—:tmoner has elected to
forego those procedures.

In hg}zt of Petitioner's 1 mjury and i.hf; freatment it necessztated her permisnent restrictions
af the tight hand, Petitioner's continued complaints and limitations in her right thumb and hand,
and takmg into consideration the physical capabilities Petitioner exhibitéd oh the surveillance
viders, e Asbimstor-finds that Petitfoner sustained permanent partial disability tod-extentof— vt -
55% inss of uge of her right hand, pursuant to' Section 8(e). Therefore, Respondem shalf pay
Fetitioner $398.08 for 112.75 weeks, representing 55% loss of use of the right hand,
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WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSION DIVISION

V.

MARIE SALISBURY, widow of Charles ) Appeal from the Circuit Court
Salisbury, Deceased, ) of Henry County.
)
Appellant, )
)
) No. 13-MR-95
) .
TLLINOIS WORKERS® COMPENSATION )
COMMISSION, et al. )} Honorable |
. ) Terence M. Patton,
(Frank’s Flying Service, Inc., Appellee). ) Judge, Presiding.

JUSTICE HUDSON delivered the judgment of the court, with opinion.
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judgment and opinion.

OPINION

11 I. INTRODUCTION
12  Claimant, Marie Salisbury, widow of Charles Salisbury, appeals an order of the circuit
court of Henry County confirming a decision of the [linois Workers’® Compensation
Commission (Commission) denying her motion for a fump-sum payout of benefits awarded in

accordance with the Illinois Workers’ Compensation Act (Act} (820 ILCS 305/1 et seq. (West

2008)). Claimant also contends that respondent, Frank’s Flying Service, Inc., is not entitled to a
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credit against the award based on its overpayment of benefits prior to the arbitration hearing. For
the reasons that follow, we affirm.

13 | . BACKGROUND

T4  Claimant’s decedent died in a work-related accident on June 12, 2009, when the crop-
duster he was piloting crashed. He was in respondent’s employ at the time. Following the
accident, respondent began paying claimant $1,231.41 per week. An arbitration hearing was
held on May 8, 2012. Claimant was awarded “death benefits, commencing 6/13/09, of
$461.78/week to the surviving spouse, Marie Salisbury, on his or her own behalf and on behalf
of the children.” Based on this ruling, fcspondent’s initial payment of $1,231.41 per week
resulted in an overpayment of $769.83 per week. Based on this overpayment, respondent was
“oiven a credit of $00.00 for TTD, $00.00 for TPD, and $192,594.22 for other benefits.”

15 | Claimant filed a petition for a lump-sum payout. A hearing on that petition was heard
before‘a commissioner on November 1, 2613. Claimant testified at the hearing. She testified
that respondent began paying benefits shortly after her husband’s death on June 12, 2009. She
stated thatr she understood that she had the option of taking a $500,000 lump-sum payment or
payments for 25 years, and she wished to take the “present commuted value of the 25-year
payments.” So far, respondent had paid her about $187,000, which she had mostly saved. She
testified that she used some of it for living expenses. Claimant explained that she wanted a
lump-sum payout because she did “not want to chance the loss of benefits in the future.” She
would be “more comfortable” having “control of the those benefits” rather than having them be
contingent on “changes in the law or *** the benefits schedule.” Moreover, if she passed away
during the 25-yeaf period, her benefits would cease and her “children would be 'df_:pri_ved of the

benefits from this award.” On cross-examination, she agreed that $197,930.33 was “probably

-
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close” to the amount she had so far received. She stated that she was not claiming any financial
hardship as the basis of seeking a lump-sum payout. She has no minor children, On redirect-
examination, she testified that she was employed at an ethanol plant and her income was
sufﬁcient to meet her needs.

96  The Commission denied claimant’s petition. It first acknowledged the controlling law.
Lump-sum settlements are tﬁe exception rather than the rule. See Skaggs v. Industrial Comm’n,
371 11l. 535, 539 (1939). Such a settlement is appropriate only if it is in the best interests of both
parties, not simply the claimant. Bagwell v. ndustrial Comm’n, 94 T1. 2d 101, 105 (1983); see
also llinois Zinc Co. v. Industrial Comm’n, 366 Iil. 480, 482 (1937). The Commission then
noted that since the award to claimant was not a definite sum and could, in certain circumstances,
be terminated, it was clearly not in respondent’s best interests to commute the ongoing payments
to a lump sum. It then found that claimant “had not indicated a basis for finding that a lump sum
settle.ment would be in her own best interests.” She has been able to save some of the proceeds
of the payments, and her income is sufficient to meet her needs. Any reliance on a possible
change of benefits in the future, the Commission stated, was “speculative.” Moreover, claimant
would lose any future increases in beneﬁté. The circuit court of Henry County confirmed the
Commission’s decisibn, and this appeal followed.

17 L. ANALYSIS

98  On appeal, claimant raises two issues. First, she contends that the Commission lacked
the authority to allow respondent a credit against the ultimate award due to its initial
overpayment of benefits to claimant. Second, she contends that the Commission erred in
denying her request for a lump-sum payout. We disagree with both contentions.

79 A. The Credit
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910 Claimant first argues that the credit given respondent for its overpayment of benefits
prior to the arbitration hearing is void because the Commission has no authority to give a credit
against the subsequent award of death benefits. Resolution of this issue requires us to consider
whether the Commission has authority to recognize such a credit under the provisions of the Act,
so a question of law subject to de novo review is presented (see Emerald Performance Materials,
LLC v. Hlinois Pollution Control Board, 2016 1L App (3d) 150526, ¥ 25; see also Quthoard
Marine Corp. v. Industrial Comm’n, 309 11I. App. 3d 1026, 1029 (2000)). Claimant points out
that the Commission, a creature of statute, has only the powers granted it by the legislature.
Daniels v. Industrial Comm’n, 201 IIL. 2d 160, 165 (2002). Any action taken outside its statutory
authority is void. Jd. According to claimant, the granting of a credit for excessive sums
" voluntarily paid by an employer is not specifically contemplated by statute, so the Commission
has no authority to grant such a credit. Claimant concludes that the portion of the order granting
that credit is void. We disagree as to the manner in which claimant frames this issue.
11  Quite simply, what is happeniﬁg here is that the Commission is merely recognizing that
an employer has already made a partial payment that goes to satisfying its obligation. There is
no award in the sense that the Commission is not ordering the transfer of any obligations,
benefits, or funds from claimant to respondent. Claimant is not being deprived of sométhing she
otherwise would have received but-for the action of the Commission. Instead, respondent has
voluntarily elected to satisfy part of its obligation prior to a formal order being entered—
something which accrued to claimant’s benefit. In other words, the Commission did not award
respondent anything, it simply factored respondent’s payments into its final order.
€12 In World Color Press v. Industrial Comm’n, 125 1ll. App. 3d 469, 471-72 (1984), this

court held that in the absence of a statutory bar, an employer could receive a credit for the

-
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overpayment of benefits. Discussing World Color Press in Messamore v. Industﬁql Comm’n,
302 Ill. App. 3d 351, 358-59 (1999), we stated:

“World Color Press does not explicitly state the overpayment of TTD benefits is being

“set off against a permanent award, but instead speaks only in vague terms of credit

against ‘future compensation payments’ and fhe ‘total award.” However, we apply the

reasoning of World Color Press regardless of whetlher the credit is sought against a

permanent disability award or some other benefit paid after the TTD overpayment.”
Similarly, here, the reasoning of World Color Press is relevant though we are confronted with
the overpayment of a death benefit rather than TTD. ABsent a statutory prohibition, there is no
reason why the Commission cannot take into account respondent’s payments that occurred prior
to the arbitration hearing.
€13  Indeed, we note that section 7(¢) of the Act (section 7 covers the amount of compensation
in cases involving a fatality) states, in pertinent part, “The payments of compensation by the
employer in accordance with the order or award of the Commission discharges such employer
from all further obligation as to such compensation.” 820 ILCS 305/7(e) (West 2008)). It is
axiomatic that we may not read into a statute any exceptions or limitations not contained in its
plain language. Isaacs v. Industrial Comm’n, 138 1l App. 3d 392, 396 (1985). Nothing in the
plain language of this provision indicates that an employer should only be given credit for
payments made subsequent to a formal award. Clearly, the payments respondent made leading
up to the arbitration hearing were made in contemplation of an award.
€14 Moreover, deep 'pollicy concerns are at issue here. Encouraging employers to make
prompt and voluntary payments of benefits furthers the purp.osc of the Act. Messamore, 302 TH.

App. 3d at 359. It is obvious that “[dJenying credits for errors such as the one in this case would

_5.
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encourage administrative delays as employers attempt to resolve every ambiguity before paying
benefits.” Jd. The primary purpose of the Act is to “provide employees with prompt and deﬁnite
compensation.” {(Emphasis added.) Mattern v. Industrial Comm’n, 216 IlIl. App. 3d 653, 654
(1991). Thus, claimant’s position runs counter to the beneficent purposes of the Act.

€15 In short, claimant has identified no statutory provision prohibiting the Commission from
recognizing a credit in circumstances such as this. Allowing the Commission to do so is
consistent with the policies underlying the Act. Accordingly, we hold that that the Commission
did not err by taking into account respondent’s prior OVerpaylnént of benefits in fashioning an
award. |

116 B. The Lump-Sum Payout

917 Claimant also contests the Commission’s decision to deny her request for a lump-sum
payout. Section 9 of the Act (820 ILCS 305/9 (West 2008)) sets forth the circumstances under
which a lamp-sum payout is appropriate. We review the Commission’s decision to grant or deny
such a request using the manifest-weight standard of review. Bagwell, 94 1l 2d at 106.
Therefore, we will reverse only if an opposite conclusion to the Commission’s is clearly
apparent. Teska v. Industrial Comm’n, 266 1ll. App. 3d 740, 741-42 (1994).

918  Our supreme court has held that “[IJump-sum awards are the exception and not the rule.”
Bagwell, 94 11. 2d at 106. A lump-sum payout will be awarded only if it is in the best interests
of both paﬁies. Id. at 105. As the proponent of the motion, the burden was on claimant to show
that a lump-sum payout was warranted. Skaggs, 371 111 at 540.

919 The Commission found that claimant failed to carry that burden. Essentially, the
Commission based its decision on a lack of evidence concerning either parties’ best interests.

The evidence available showed that claimant was éuffering no economic hardship and had saved
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most of respondent’s periodic payments. Claimant sets forth three reasons she believes indicated
that a lump-sum payout would be appropriate in this case. First, she states that “[rfeplacement of
[ilncome lost to the family unit by absence of decedent’s income” justifies é payout. However,
she does not explain why periodic payments do not ameliorate this concern. As noted, the
evidence in the record shows no economic hardship. Second, she sets forth as another reason,
“Replacement of the expectancy of an inheritance from the deceased person from lifetime efforts
that would accrue to the family,” Given that claimant is able to save most of the periodic
payments she receives, we do ﬁot see this as compelling support for a lump-sum payout.
Moreover, this factor would be present in \}irtually every case such as this, so it does not serve to
distinguish this case from others and explain why this case should be an exception to the rule that
lump-sum payouts are not favored. See Bagwell, 94 T11. 2d at 106. Third, claimant states that the
“[a]vailability of immediate financial resources to the family from invested funds if ready funds
were needed” warrants a lump-sum payout. However, the evidence shows no such need, and,
again, this consideration does not distinguish this case from other similar cases.

120 Furthermore, 'claimdnt does not even attempt to establish that terminating periodic
payments in favor of a lump-sum payout would not be in respondent’s best interests. Instead,
she argues, “It is difficult to imagine any set of facts in any case involving periodic payments
that could terminate by future unknown events to be in the best interest of both parties.” Later,
she reiterates that “it seems impossible to envision or conjure a fact situation in a death case,
where the best interests of both surviving spouse and family surviving [sic] and the employer can
be served at the same time.” (Emphasis in original.) Perhapé so—however, that simply is
consistent with the supreme court’s admonition that fump-sum payouts are the exception rather

than the rule. Bagwell, 94 111. 2d at 106. Section 9 clearly states that both parties interests are to
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be considered: “If, upon proper notice to the interested partiés and a proper showing made before
such Commission or any member thereof, it appears to the best interest of the parties that such
compensation be so paid, the Commission may order the commutation of the compensation to an
equivalent lump sum.” 820 ILCS 305/9 (West 2008). Ironically, claimant charges that the
Commission has assumed the role of a “super-legislature” by “making 'its own determination of
the wisdom of iump sum settlements” when, in fact, it is claimant who asks us to ignore a portion
of the Section 9 and disregard respondent’s best interests.

Y21 In sum, claimant has shown no particular need or compelling reason on her or her
family’s behalf for a lump-sum payout. Similarly, nothing indicates a lump-sum payout is in
respondent’s best interests. Under such circumstances, we cannot say that an opposite
conclusion to the Commission’s is clearly apparent and that a lump-sum payout clearly would be
in the parties’ best interests. As such, the Commission’s decision on this issue is not against the
manifest weight of the evidence. Claimant raises a number of additional points regarding the
proper valuation of the lump-sum payout; however, givén claimant’s failure to establish that the
payout would be in the parties’ best interests, we need not address those arguments.

122 IV. CONCLUSION

123 In light of the foregoing, the order of the circuit court of Henry County confirming the
decision of the Commission is affirmed. |

124 Affirmed.




2017 IL App (Lst) 160005WC
Workers' Compensation
Commission Division

Optinion Filed: January 6, 2017

No. 1-16-0005WC

IN THE

APPELLATE COURT OF ILLINOIS

FIRST DISTRICT

ANTHONY MURFEF, ) Appeal from the

) Circuit Court of

Appellant, ) Cook County

)
V. ) No. 15 L 50353

)
THE ILLINOIS WORKERS' COMPENSATION )
COMMISSION et al. ) Honorable

) Carl Anthony Walker,
(City of Chicago, Appellee). j Judge, Presiding. -

JUSTICE HOFFMAN delivered the judgment of the court, with opinion.

Presiding Justice Holdridge and Justices Hudson, Harris, and Moore concurred in the

judgment and opinion.

OPINION

91 The claimant, Anthony Murff, appeals from an order of the circuit court of Cook County
which confirmed a decision of the Iflinois Workers' Compensation Commission (Commission),
denying his petition pursuant to section 19(h) of the Workers Compensation Act (Act) (820 ILCS
305/19(h) (West 2014)) by reason of his failure to present evidence demonstrating a change in

his physical or mental condition. For the reasons which follow, we affirm the judgment of the

circuit court,




No. 1-16-0005WC

12  The following factual recitation is taken from the evidence presented at the arbitration
hearing conducted on December 27, 2013, and at a section 19(h) (820 ILCS 305/19¢h) (West
2014)) hearing conducted by the Commission on December 22, 2014.

13 The claimant was employed by the City of Chicago (City) as a laborer and worked in its
streets and sanitation department. On January 23, 2009, the claimant was at work, pulling a
heavy garbage container through the snow, when he felt a pop in his left shoulder. Following his
work accident, the claimant sought treatment from Dr. Bush-Joseph and Dr. Phillips who
diagnosed him with a C5-C8 disc herniation "with resultant cervical radiculopathy" and a partial-
thickness rotator cuff tear of the left shoulder with possible radiculopathy. The claimant
underwent a course of medical treatment, including physical therapy, steroid injections, and

cervical spine surgery performed on August 10, 2009. The claimant, however, continued to

experience left-sided neck pain and stiffness, left shoulder pain, and numbuiess and tingling in the -~ - oo -

left hand. Ultimately, on May 14, 2010, Dr. Bush-Joseph released the claimant to light-duty
work with a restriction of no lifting greater than 20 pounds. Dr. Bleier of MercyWorks
Occupational Health, the City's designated medical facility, also determined that restrictions of
no lifting more than 25 pounds and limited use of the left arm were appropriate. According to a
work status note dated June 3, 2010, Dr. Bleier wrote that the City was going to provide the
claimant with a rodent control job as a temporary accommodation.

94 On June 8, 2010, the claimant returned to work as a sanitation laborer in the City's rodent
control department. His job duties included "baiting" yards and alleys, which required him to
carry a 10-pound bucket of poison in his right hand and a scooper in his left hand. He testified

that his job title and pay remained the same as when he worked as a garbage man.
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15 On August 7, 2011, the claimant was examined by Dr. Chmell, an orthopedic surgeon, at
his attorney's request. In his report, Dr. Chmell opined that the claimant's January 23, 2009,
work accident resulted in his C5-C6 disc herniation and left’shoulder rotator cuff tendinopathy
and that the medical treatment he received for these injuries was reasonable and necessary.
Following his examination, Dr. Chmell concluded that the claimant had reached maximum
medical improvement, would always require restrictions, and would never be able to resume
working as a garbage collector.

16 At the original arbitration hearing, the claimant testified that he has good and bad days.
He explained that he continues to experience pain in his shoulder, stiffness in his neck, and
numbness and tingling in his hands. The claimant also testified that any overhead activities are

"extremely hard" and he has difficulty getting dressed and applying deodorant to his left side.

e used 1o be anavid hunter and fisherman, but is no lenger able to "sport fish" with a-lure. He

also struggles with lifting his grandchildren, gripping pens and pencils, and driving for long
periods of time. Despite these limitations, the claimant stated that he has leamned to live with his
condition and is able to function.

€7  TFollowing the arbitration hearing, the arbitrator issued a written decision on January 22,
2014, finding that the claimant suffered an injury to his cervical spine and left shoulder as a
result of the work accident of January 23, 2009, and that the injury arose out of and in the course
of his employment with the City. The arbitrator awarded the claimant temporary total disability
(TTD) benefits from January 27, 2009, through June 8, 2010, and permanent partial disability
(PPD) benefits in the amount of $664.72 per week for 250 weeks because the cervical spine and
left shoulder injuries resulted in a 50% loss of use of a person as a whole. Neither party filed for

a review of the arbitrator's decision before the Commission. Thus, pursuant to section 19(b) of

~3-
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the Act, the arbitrator's decision became the conclusive decision of the Commission, 820 ILCS
305/19(b) (West 2014). -
Y8 - After the hearing, the claimant continued- working for the City as a sanitation laborer in
rodent control. On June 11, 2014, the claimant's supervisor, George Escavez, told him to report
to 39th Street and South Iron Street, which is the City's refuse collection for garbage station. The
claimant went to that location the next day and was informed by Gloria, the superintendent, that
he was assigned to work as a garbage man.. When the claimant told Gloria about his work
restrictions, she called and spoke with Escavez in rodent control, and told the claimant that she
did not know why they sent him to the sanitation station. Gloria instructed the claimant fo return
1o the office for rodent control, which he did. There, Escavez éxplained to the claimant that he
was supposed to be released to work as a garbage man and, if he could not perform the work, to
- swipe outand go home or call the-union,--= - =« = e e

19  On June 20, 2014, the claimant filed a petition pursuant to section 19¢h) of the Act (820
ILCS 305/19(h) (West 2014)), and section 8(a) of the Act (820 ILCS 305/8(a) (West 2014)),
alleging a material increase in his disability and seeking an award of additional benefits,
including maintenance and vocational rehabilitation based upon a reduction in his earning power:
110  On July 16, 2014, the claimant requested reasonable accommodations, but was told that
reasonable accommodations could not be made. The claimant was also informed that, because
he had permanent restrictions, the City would probably "never bring him back because they are
-not doing that anymote."

111 At the section 19(h) heariﬁg held before the Commission on December 22, 2014, the
claimant testified that, after he was assigned to work as a garbage man, he contacted his union

but learned that it could not help him. The claimant stated that an effort was made to put him

4.
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back onto workers' compensation, but his request was denied. Instead, he was told he could go
on ordinary disability, which he did.

112 The claimant furthertestified that he received no medical treatment for his left shoulder
following the December 27, 2013, arbitration hearing. Te also explained that there is nothing
else the doctors can do for his neck, that his condition remains relatively the same, and that his
work restrictions have not changed from when his case was tried at arbitration. He admitted that
he has not returned to Dr. Phillips since July of 2010, and has not undergone any additional
surgcry or physical therapy. fhe claimant also testified that he is not curfcntly working and has
not applied for employment with any other employers.

113 On April 27, 2015, the Commission denied the claimant's section 19(h) petition. The

Commission found that the term "disability" as used in section 19(h) refers only to physical and

‘mental disability; ot -econemic disability.. Since the-claimant failed to present any evidence = - -

demonstrating a material change in his physical or mental condition, the Commission found no
basis to reopen or modify the benefits the claimant was previously awarded. The Commission
also determined that the doctrine of res judicata barred the claimant from seeking maintenance
and vocational rehabilitation benefits because he failed to raise the issue at the arbitration
hearing. Alternatively, even if the maintenance and vocational rehabilitation benefits were
available, the Commission found that the claimant failed to present sufficient evidence
establishing his entitlement to those benefits.

914 The claimant sought a judicial review of the Commission's decision in the circuit court of
Cook County. On December 17, 2015, the circuit court confirmed the Commission’s decision,

and this appeal followed.
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115 We first address the claimant's argument that the Commission erred in finding that the
term "disability" in section 19(h) of the Act refers only to physical and mental disability, not
economie disability. N T st

116 Initially, we néte that the resolution of this issue requires this court to interpret section
19(h) of the Act, which presents a question of law that we review de novo. R.D. Masonry, Inc. v.
Industrial Comm'n, 215 TII. 2d 397, 402 (2005). In construing the Act, our iarimary goal is to
ascertain and. give effect to the intent of the legislature. Beelman Trucking v. lllinois Workers'
Compensation Comm'n, 233 1. 2d 364, 370 (2009). The best indication of legislative intent is
the statutory language, given its plain and ordinary meaning. fd. "We must construe the statute
so that each word, clause, and sentence is given a reasonable meaning and not rendered

superfluous, avoiding an interpretation that would render any portion of the statute meaningless

- evoid.," Cassens Transpori-Cov.Industrial Comm'n, 218 11k 2d 519,524 (2606).- In addition -~ - - vmm oo

to the sfatujtory langnage, courts also interpret the Act liberally to effectuate its purpose:
providing financial protection to injured workers. Beelman Trucking, 233 111. 2d at 371. In light
of these principles, we turn to the statutory provisions at issue.
917  Section 19(h} provides, in relevant part, as follows:
"[Als to accidents occurring subsequent to July 1, 1955, which are covered by any
agreement or award under this Act providing for compensation in mstallments
made as la result of 'sﬁch accident, such agreement or award may at any time
within 30 months, or 60 months in the case of an award underr Section 8(d)1, after
such agreement or award be reviewed by the Commission at the request of either

the employer or the employee on the ground that the disability of the employee
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has subsequently recurred, increased, diminished, or ended.” 820 ILCS 305/19(h)

(West 2014).
18 The parties dispute-the meaning of "disability” as used-in section 19(h). The City
contends that the term "disability” refers only to physical and mental disability, while the
claimant maintains that it als;) encompasses economic disability. The Commission rejected the
claimant's ilrfterpretation, relying on Petrie v. Industrial Comm'n, 160 11l. App. 3d 165 (1987).
119 In Petrie, 160 lll. App. 3d at 168, the claimant sustained injuries to his right index and
middle fingers. At arbitration, the claimant requested an award for impaired earning capacity
under section 8(d)(1), but was awarded an amount for percentage of foss of man as a whole
under section 8(d)(2) of the Act. Thereafter, the claimant filed a petition for review under

section 19(h) seeking additional compensation for impairment of earning capacity. At the

- hearinig, tie vlalmani testified that it took him three to four times-longer to accomplish-the same == = - -

job and that his gross earnings had diminished. The Commission denied the claimant's section
19(h) petition, finding that there had been no medical evidence of change in his physical
condition or evidence of change in circumstances since the time of arbitration. Id.
920  On appeal, the claimant in Petrie argued that he was "entitled to a more accurate award
calculation for his physical disability, based on [an] increase in economic disability." fd. at 170.
In rejecting this argument, this court noted that a review of the Act showed that "when the
legislature used the term 'disability’ in section 19¢h) it was referring to physical and mental
disability and not economic disability." /d at 171. We explained:
"This intent is evident by ref;:rence to the following sections: section 1(b}(3)
refers to an employee's 'cause of action by reason of any injury, disablement or

death ***'; section 8(d)(1) states that an injui'cd employee who 'becomes partially

-7 -
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incapacitated from pursuing his usual and customary line of employment ***
shall *** receive compensation for the duration of his disability ***'; section
8(d)(2) refers to injuries which ‘disable-[the employee] from pursuing cher
suitable occupations', and section 12 provides that an injured employee must
submit to a physical examination on request of the employer for the purpose of
determining the nature, extent, and duration of the injury and for the purpose of
determining the amount of compensation due 'for disability.! [Citations.] On the
other hand, when the legislature intendéd to refer to something other than physical
and mental disability, it used different or additional language: sections 6(c)(1)
- and 8(!1;1) refer to 'legal disability'; and section 8(d)}(2) refers to 'impairment of
earning capacity.' [Citation.]" Id. at 171-72.
- Aevordingly, -we held that an increase in sconomic disability alone is-not -a -proper-basis for -
modification of an award pursuant to section 19(h) of the Act; rather, the claimant must present
evidence establishing that his physical or mental condition has changed. Id.
121 Based upon the holding in Peirie, we conclude that the Commission did not etr in finding
that the term "disability” as used in section 19(h) of the Act, refer.s to physical and mental
disabiliﬁes, not economic disabilities. Seé also United Airlines v. Workers' Comp. Comm'n, 407
1. App. 3d 467, 471 (2011) (noting that a change in economic circumstances is not a proper
basis for modification of an award pursuant to section 19(h)); Cassens Transport Co. v.
Industrial Comm'n, 354 1. App. 3d 807, 810 (2005) (the term "disability” in section &(d)(1)
refers to physical and mental disability).
922 Having found that the term "disability” in section 19¢h) refers to physical and mental

disability, we next consider whether the claimant's disability has "recurred, increased, diminished

-8-
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or ended" since the time of the original award. Gay v. Industrial Comm'n, 178 1ll. App. 3d 129,
132 (1989). "To warrant a change in benefits, the change in a [cléimant's] disability must be
- material." Id. In reviewing=a section 19(h) petition, the evidence presented in the original
proceeding must be cénsidered to determine if the claimant's position has changed materially
since the time of the original decision. Jd. Whether there has been a material change in a
claimant's disability is an issue of fact, and the Commission's determination will not be
overturned unless it is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Id. Fora finding of fact
to be contrary to the weight of the evidence, an opposite conclusion must be clearly apparent.
Caterpillar, Inc. v. Industrial Comm'n, 228 111, App. 3d 288, 291 (1992).

123 Here, we cannot find that an opposite conclusion from the Commission's is clearly

apparent from the record. In its decision, the Commission pointed out that the claimant testified

- that his physical disability-has been the same since the original-arbitration-hearing, that-he has,

not sought any medical treatment since that time, and that he is under the same work restrictions.

We also note that the claimant did not provide any evidence that there was a mental component

to his claim or that his mental condition had changed whatsoever. The claimant's sole argument

is that the City's refusal to offer him work within his restrictions has resulted in economic
juries. However, as we explained above, economic injuries do not fall within the ambit of the
term "disability” as used in section 19(h). Because there is evidence in the record to support the
Commission’s finding that the claimant failed to prove that his physical or mental condition
substantially and materially changed after the original arbitration hearing, we find that an
opposite conclusion is not clearly apparent.

24  We next address the claimant's contention that the Commission erred in failing to award

him maintenance and vocational rehabilitation benefits under section 8(a) of the Act (820 ILCS

-9
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- 303/8(a) (We_st 2014)). In his brief before this court, the claimant acknowledges that he cannot

find any cases where maintenance and vocational rehabilitation benefits were available after a

final award, ~He-argues, however, that these benefits, like medical expenses, should reniain-—— -

available even after the entry of a final award.

925 The question of whether section 8(a) allows a claimant to seek maintenance and
vocational rehabilitation benefits after a final award is a matter of statutory construction, which
is a question of faw. Issues of law are considered de novo on review without deference to the
Commission's determinaﬁon. Elliott v. Industrial Comm'n, 303 1ll. App. 3d 185, 187 (1999).
Therefore, we review de novo whether section 8(a) allows a claimant to seek maintenance and
vocational rehabilitation benefits after a final award.

926  Our supreme court has stated that the Commission is an administrative agency, lacking

general -1 comumen- law: powers: - Cassens, 218 411-2d at 525. As a consequence; its pOWELS arg= = ¢~ rmans 0

limited to those granted by the legislature and any action taken by the Commission must be
specifically authorized by statute. Id. "An act that is unauthorized is beyond the scope of the
agency's jurisdiction." fd.

127 As stated, the claimant argues that section 8(a) of the Act gives the Commission the
authority to consider and address his request for maintenance and vocational rehabilitation
benefits. Section 8(a) states, in relevant part, that an employer "shall *** pay for treatment,

instruction and training necessary for the physical, mental and vocational rehabilitation of the

employee, including all maintenance costs and expenses incidental thereto.” 820 ILCS 305/8(a)

(West 2014). However, we find that, while section 8(a) provides general authorization for the
Commission to award maintenance and vocational rehabilitation benefits, it does not authorize

the Commission to award these benefits after a final decision has been entered. That is, contrary

-10 -
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to the claimant's assertions, section 8(a) contains no specific language authorizing the claimant to

file a petition seeking a modification of a final award, nor does it permit the Commission to

+—--gddress- the issue of maintenance -and vocational rehabilitation at any time-ang-in-any manner

presented by the parties. Rather, the Commission's actions must be specifically and expressly
provided for by the Act.

128 Section 19 of the Act (820 ILCS 305/19 (West 2014)) provides specific procedures for
determining "[aJny disputed questions of law or fact." Under that section, an arbitrator's decision
becomes the conclusive decision of the Commission "[u]nless a petition for review is filed by
either party within 30 days after the receipt” of the arbiirator's decision. 820 ILCS 305/19(b)
(West 2014). "[Tlhe Commission may modify a conclusive decision only where the Act

specifically authorizes it to do so." Cassens, 218 111. 2d at 525.

-4 29- An Cussens;- 218-11.-2d-at-525, our supreme court discussed- the litnited circumstances. == - o

under which the Act authorizes the Commission to modify or reopen a final award. In particular,
the court noted that section 19(f) allows modifications to correct clerical errors, section 19(h)
permits the Commission to reopen an installment award for a limited time, and section 8(f)
aflows the reassessment of any award for total and permanent disability. 7d. at 526-27 (quoting
826 ILCS 305/19(£), 19(h), 8(f) (West 2002)). In finding that another section of the Act did not
authorize the Commission to reopen a final award, the court noted as follows with respect to the
aforementioned sections of the Act: |
"Each of these provisions includes language that is tailored to authorize a review
proceeding. Section 19(f) specifically gives the arbitrator and Commission the
power to recall an award. Section 19(h) allows either party to petition for review

of an installment award within 30 months of its issuance. Section 8(f) indicates

-11 -
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that employers may cease payments when a totally and permanently disabled
employee returns to the workforce, giving the employee authorization to petition
~ the Commission for a review of the award:-~The plain language of each section
alerts employers and employees to when review may be had and how to obtain it."

1d. at 527.
930 Here, the arbitrator issued her decision on January 22, 2014. Since neither party filed a
petition for review of that decision, it became the conclusive decision of the Commission on
February 22, 2014. In this case, none of the circumstances set forth in Cassens under which a
conclusive decision of the Commission may be modified or reopened exists. Contrary to the
claimant's assertions, section 8(a) does not contain any specific language authorizing a party to
file a petition for review of a final award, as section 19(h) does. It does not authorize the
~Commission to-recall -an award; as section 19(H dees: - Nor does- it-authorize-a-claimant -to
petition for review, as section 8(f) does. It would be inappropriate for us to read one of these
procedures into section 8(a) when the legislature has included none of them in that section.
Reading the Act as a whole, and following the reasoning in Cassens, we hold that section §(a)
does not authorize the Commission to address the issues of maintenance and vocational
rehabilitation at any time after‘ it has issued its final decision. Were we to adopt the claimant's
position that section 8(a) allows the Commission to award maintenance and vocational
rehabilitation benefits at ahy time, we would essentially render meaningless the requirements in
section 19(h) that the claimant's disability "recurred, increased, diminished or ended" since the
time of the original award. See Cassens, 228 Ill. 2d at 524 (when interpreting a statute, a court

must avoid an interpretation that would render any portion of the statute meaningless or void).
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Thus, the Commission does not have jurisdiction under section 8(a) to modify or reopen the
claimant's final award.

931 - Inso holding, we note that we-agree-with-the claimant's assertion that maintenance and
vocational rehabilitation benefits may be available under section 19(h). As this court stated in
Curtis v. Hlinois Worker’s Compensation Comm'n, 2013 IL App (1st) 120976 WC, ﬂ 15, "when
section 19(h) is read as a whole, it is'clear that the legislature did not intend to limit the scope of
section 19(h) to only permanency benefits. Rather, the statute was meant to cover TTD benefits
as well." As a consequence, in order for the claimant to obtain maintenance and vocational
rehabilitation benefits after a final award, he must satisfy the preliminary requirementé of section
1%¢h) by showing a substantial and material change in his disability. However, as we already

discussed, the claimant failed to make this showing.

=432 Finally, the claimant urges this court to interpret-the Act as broadly as possible, given that

it is a remedial statute intended to provide financial protection for injured workers. See Flynn v,
Industrial Comm'n, 211 T1L. 2d 546, 556 (2004). According to the claimant, to deny maintenance
and vocational rehabilitation benefits: following a period of reduced earning capacity would
frustrate the purpose of the Act. However, as noted above, adopting the claimant's position
would require us to read section 19(h) out of the Act. While the result we reach may appear
harsh to the claimant, we believe that it is a concern better addressed to the legislature.

933 In sum, because the claimant failed to shoW a material change in his physical or mental
condition since the arbitrator's fanuary 22, 2014, decision, the Commission properly denied his
. request for additional benefits under section 19¢h) of the Act. We, therefore, affirm the judgment
of thg circuit court which confirmed the Commission's decision.

34 Affirmed.
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